JMIR Aging

Journal Impact Factor (JIF) (2023): 5.0 Volume 2 (2019), Issue 2 ISSN 2561-7605 Editor in Chief: Yun Jiang, PhD, MS, RN, FAMIA; Jinjiao Wang, PhD, RN, MPhil

Contents

Original Papers

XSL•F⊖ RenderX

Attrition in an Online Loneliness Intervention for Adults Aged 50 Years and Older: Survival Analysis (e13638)	
Tamara Bouwman, Theo van Tilburg, Marja Aartsen.	. 3
Perceptions of the Diabetes Online Community's Credibility, Social Capital, and Help and Harm: Cross-Sectional Comparison Between Baby Boomers and Younger Adults (e10857)	
Michelle Litchman, Linda Edelman.	13
Exploring Older Adults' Beliefs About the Use of Intelligent Assistants for Consumer Health Information Management: A Participatory Design Study (e15381)	
Aqueasha Martin-Hammond, Sravani Vemireddy, Kartik Rao	42
Exploring the Perceived Usefulness and Ease of Use of a Personalized Web-Based Resource (Care Companion) to Support Informal Caring: Qualitative Descriptive Study (e13875)	
Amadea Turk, Emma Fairclough, Gillian Grason Smith, Benjamin Lond, Veronica Nanton, Jeremy Dale.	56
Promoting Identification and Use of Aid Resources by Caregivers of Seniors: Co-Design of an Electronic Health Tool (e12314)	
Dominique Giroux, Mélanie Tremblay, Karine Latulippe, Véronique Provencher, Valérie Poulin, Anik Giguere, Véronique Dubé, Andrée Sévigny, Manon Guay, Sophie Ethier, Maude Carignan	72
An Intergenerational Information and Communications Technology Learning Project to Improve Digital Skills: User Satisfaction Evaluation (e13939)	
Francesc López Seguí, Marc de San Pedro, Eva Aumatell Verges, Salvador Simó Algado, Francesc Garcia Cuyàs.	86
Understanding Comorbidities and Their Contribution to Predictors of Medical Resource Utilization for an Age- and Sex-Matched Patient Population Living With HIV: Cross-Sectional Study (e13865)	0.5
Michelle Odium, Sunmoo Yoon.	95
Social Support Patterns of Middle-Aged and Older Adults Within a Physical Activity App: Secondary Mixed Method Analysis (e12496)	
Zakkoyya Lewis, Maria Swartz, Eloisa Martinez, Elizabeth Lyons.	106

Review

Innovative Assisted Living Tools, Remote Monitoring Technologies, Artificial Intelligence-Driven Solutions,	
and Robotic Systems for Aging Societies: Systematic Review (e15429)	
A Sapci, H Sapci.	26

Attrition in an Online Loneliness Intervention for Adults Aged 50 Years and Older: Survival Analysis

Tamara Bouwman¹, MSc; Theo van Tilburg¹, PhD; Marja Aartsen², PhD

¹Department of Sociology, Faculty of Social Sciences, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands ²Norwegian Social Research, Oslo Metropolitan University, Oslo, Norway

Corresponding Author: Tamara Bouwman, MSc Department of Sociology Faculty of Social Sciences Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam De Boelelaan 1105 Amsterdam, 1081 HV Netherlands Phone: 31 205986786 Email: t.e.bouwman@vu.nl

Abstract

Background: Online interventions can be as effective as in-person interventions. However, attrition in online intervention is high and potentially biases the results. More importantly, high attrition rates might reduce the effectiveness of online interventions. Therefore, it is important to discover the extent to which factors affect adherence to online interventions. The setting for this study is the online Friendship Enrichment Program, a loneliness intervention for adults aged 50 years and older.

Objective: This study examined the contribution of severity of loneliness, coping preference, activating content, and engagement in attrition within an online intervention.

Methods: Data were collected from 352 participants in an online loneliness intervention for Dutch people aged 50 years and older. Attrition was defined as not completing all 10 intervention lessons. The number of completed lessons was assessed through the management system of the intervention. We tested 4 hypotheses on attrition by applying survival analysis (Cox regression).

Results: Of the 352 participants who subscribed to the intervention, 46 never started the introduction. The remaining 306 participants were divided into 2 categories: 73 participants who did not start the lessons of the intervention and 233 who started the lessons of the intervention. Results of the survival analysis (n=233) showed that active coping preference (hazard ratio [HR]=0.73), activating content (HR=0.71), and 2 indicators of engagement (HR=0.94 and HR=0.79) lowered attrition. Severity of loneliness was not related to attrition.

Conclusions: To reduce attrition, developers of online (loneliness) interventions may focus on stimulating active behavior within the intervention.

(JMIR Aging 2019;2(2):e13638) doi:10.2196/13638

KEYWORDS

online intervention; loneliness; attrition; coping; engagement; older adults

Introduction

During recent years, the number of online interventions has increased rapidly. Online interventions offer possibilities for reaching more participants [1], are more cost-effective, and are less prone to stigma than in-person interventions [2]. Another advantage is that participants' preferred pace, as opposed to the fixed structure of in-person group interventions.

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e13638/
```

RenderX

Furthermore, online interventions can be as beneficial as in-person interventions [3,4]. They are often self-guided, that is, there is no contact between the participant and a coach or therapist [5]. Eysenbach [6] points out that online interventions are characterized by high attrition, which is also stressed in later studies [7]. During intervention trials, participants drop out quite easily, without further consequences. The understanding of factors associated with attrition is limited. In this study, we examined factors that may be associated with attrition in an

online self-guided loneliness intervention for older adults. Loneliness is nowadays considered as 1 of the main social problems in society [8]. Fighting loneliness contributes to the improvement of individual well-being and lowers the risk of poor health and early mortality.

It is important to gain more insight into online intervention attrition for 2 reasons. First, dropout attrition, which refers to participants dropping out of the study but not leaving the intervention, affects the study's effectiveness [6]. If dropout attrition is selective, study results are biased. Moreover, dropout attrition affects the statistical power of the study. Second, participants who discontinue the intervention during the course of the intervention (nonusage attrition [6]) do not benefit from the intervention optimally. Although Eysenbach's paper [6] was published several years ago, his ideas regarding attrition are still topical today [7,9]. One way to improve the effectiveness of the intervention is to reduce nonusage attrition. This study aimed to provide more insight into factors affecting nonusage attrition in online self-guided interventions.

We examined several factors that might be related to nonusage attrition. Although research on attrition in online interventions is still limited, we have expectations with respect to nonusage attrition. First, participants who are severely lonely may be most likely to complete the intervention. The review of studies on the severity of the target problem as a factor in intervention dropout by Melville et al [10] reveals that participants with less severe problems are more likely to drop out, as they may be less motivated to invest time and effort into working on the problem. We, therefore, hypothesized that lonelier participants are more likely to complete the intervention (hypothesis 1).

Coping preference may be another factor affecting attrition. We distinguish between active and regulative coping [11]. People who have a preference for active coping want to tackle the loneliness problem by changing the undesirable situation, for example, by engaging in social activities. This suggests that people who tend to use active coping more often keep trying and persevere in completing the intervention (hypothesis 2a). In contrast, people with a preference for regulative coping do not attempt to deal with the problem itself. Instead, they try to minimize the emotional consequences of the problem by, for example, distracting oneself from the undesired situation. We, therefore, expect that participants with a preference for regulative coping are more likely to drop out (hypothesis 2b).

The intervention content itself can stimulate more active responses to address the problem at hand [12]. Assignments involving activity directed at a desired goal, when completed successfully, may offer rewards (such as satisfaction) that encourage participants to stay in the intervention longer. Stimulating active coping through the intervention's content increases the likelihood of completing the intervention (hypothesis 3).

In online interventions, there is often little or no supervision on usage, and it is not always clear to which extent participants use the intervention as intended [6]. In addition, the intervention used in this study has no supervision. In other types of interventions, for example, drug trials, participants are supervised closely because quitting can have (health)

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e13638/
```

XSL•FO

consequences related to the medication that is being tested. Attrition is likely a consequence of lack of user engagement [7,13,14]. An early sign of this lack of engagement is that a participant hesitates to follow through after signing up or is slow in fulfilling tasks in the intervention [6]. A sign of sufficient engagement would be the enthusiasm with which participants start the intervention, for example, in terms of compliance with the intervention. We, thus, expect that participants showing high engagement at the start of the intervention are more likely to complete the intervention than participants with low initial engagement (hypothesis 4).

Other user-related characteristics that are associated with attrition in online interventions have been identified. Melville et al [10] suggest that having a partner reduces the likelihood of attrition, which may indicate that support, for example, provided by the partner, reduces the dropout rate [15]. However, an association between having a partner and dropout was not found in a meta-analysis [5]. Self-efficacy may also be related to attrition in online interventions, but the effects are ambiguous. A study by Glasgow et al [14] demonstrates that participants with (topic-specific) high self-efficacy are less likely to be engaged with the intervention on an ongoing basis and have a higher likelihood of not participating in the follow-up observation. In contrast, Wangberg et al [16] show that higher self-efficacy is related to more intense usage of the intervention. These contradictory findings necessitate further study of the effect of self-efficacy on attrition. Proficiency with information and communication technologies (ICTs) may also be related to attrition. Mathew et al show that participants with good internet skills are more likely to use an online physical activity intervention [17]. Finally, some studies show lower dropout rate among females, participants in older age categories, and participants with a high educational level [5,16].

The setting for this study is the online Friendship Enrichment Program (oFEP), a loneliness intervention for adults aged 50 years and older [18]. To the best of our knowledge, no other studies specifically examined attrition in online loneliness interventions. Therefore, this study aimed to discover the extent to which the abovementioned factors affect adherence to an online loneliness intervention.

Methods

Design of the Intervention and Study

The oFEP is an intervention for people aged 50 years and older. It is a Web-based adaptation of a successful in-person intervention [19]. The oFEP is an 11-week intervention consisting of an introductory lesson followed by 2 blocks of 5 lessons. The intervention was designed with the intention that participants complete 1 lesson each week. Participants could delay the start of a lesson if that was more convenient for them (eg, because of a vacation or hospitalization). One of the assumptions behind the intervention was that, to fully benefit from the intervention, it is best to complete all the lessons. The website of the intervention is in Dutch and designed in such a way that the website and the lessons can function on various types of devices. A previous study on the oFEP [18] showed that the program alleviates the loneliness of its participants to

some extent. The study by Bouwman et al gives a more detailed description of the program [18].

We collected data at 4 time points: before the start of the intervention (T_1) , after the first block of the intervention (T_2) , at the end of the intervention (T_3) , and 1 year after the intervention (T_4) . The questionnaires at T_1 and T_4 were identical, and the questionnaires at T_2 and T_3 were shortened versions of the same questionnaire. Besides loneliness, other concepts, such as social self-efficacy, self-esteem, and participation, were measured. Participation in the intervention automatically meant participants before signing up for the intervention. Starting to answer a questionnaire was a requirement to gain access to the next lesson. However, item nonresponse did not have consequences for participation. For this study, we used the baseline questionnaire and activity logs of intervention.

We identified 3 phases during which participants could drop out of the intervention. The first was directly after signing up for the intervention and before providing any information. Participants who dropped out in this phase never started the intervention and did not fill out any questionnaire (n=46). The second phase was before one participates in lessons. These participants filled out the baseline questionnaire and completed the intervention's introduction (n=73). The third phase was during the actual participants who completed between 1 and 10 lessons of the intervention.

Participants

Recruitment was done online through a banner on a website for adults aged 50 years or older to enable meeting and shared activities and through articles in 8 (regional) newspapers. Older age (being 50 years or older) was the only inclusion criterion for participation. The intervention was not advertised as a loneliness intervention but as an intervention to *benefit more from friendship*. Participation in the intervention was free of charge, and no reward was offered for participation in the study. All communication with the participants was automated, and only if a problem occurred, participants could contact the researcher.

Measurements

Attrition

We assessed the number of lessons participants completed through the management system of the intervention. Completion of the intervention is operationalized as completing the introductory lesson and all 10 substantive lessons. We considered a participant to have dropped out when the number of lessons followed was lower than 10.

Loneliness

RenderX

Loneliness was measured with the De Jong Gierveld Loneliness scale [20]. The 11-item scale consists of a 6-item scale for emotional loneliness and a 5-item scale for social loneliness. The scale includes statements such as "There is always someone I can talk to about my day-to-day problems" for social loneliness

http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e13638/

and "I miss having a really close friend" for emotional loneliness. Answer categories were "Yes!," "Yes," "More or less," "No," and "No!" Loevinger coefficient for scale homogeneity was H=0.53, and ρ =0.91 for reliability.

Ways of Coping

Ways of coping was measured following the method used by Schoenmakers et al [21]. Participants responded to statements related to active and regulative coping with loneliness. Participants were asked whether or not they thought the stated action was suitable for someone who experienced loneliness. Moreover, 3 statements represented active coping ("Attend a course to learn to make and keep friends," "Go to places or club meetings in order to meet people," and "Become a volunteer"), and 3 statements represented regulative coping ("Keep in mind that other people are lonely as well, or even more lonely," "He/she should appreciate the existing contacts with relatives and friends more," and "Family and friends should point out that he/she must not complain and be realistic").

Intervention Content—Inclusion of Active Elements

The intervention consisted of 2 blocks of 5 lessons of which content differed in activating the participant, but not in topic. The introductory lesson was the same for all participants and introduced some key concepts of the intervention (such as friendship) and let participants reflect on the current state of their network. Subsequently, there was an active and a reflective block. The active block was designed to stimulate participants' behavior. Participants were given information on the topics and stimulated to actually work on different aspects of friendship mainly through assignments. Participants were invited to renew contact with old friends and initiate small talk with people in the neighborhood. The lessons aimed to educate participants on several aspects regarding social relationships, in order to equip participants with skills to use in different situations. The reflective intervention part consisted of more passive content, which included different stories about friendship. The reflective block stimulated reflection on the 5 topics through existing texts and videos on friendship, for example, a newspaper item on having a holiday by yourself and a comedian talking about cross-sex friendship. Participants were randomized in 2 groups: 1 group started with the active intervention block, followed by the reflective intervention block; the other group followed the blocks of the intervention in a reversed sequence.

Engagement—Tempo

The first variable for engagement was the tempo at the start of the intervention, which was the time elapsed between the introductory lesson and the first lesson. Information was obtained through the management system of the intervention.

Engagement—Number of Diaries

The second variable used to measure engagement was the number of diaries the participants filled out. Each day, regardless of whether or not participants used the intervention that day, participants received an invitation to fill out a daily diary. The number of diaries participants filled out between the introductory lesson and the first lesson ranged from 0 to 14.

Other Factors

Self-Efficacy

Self-efficacy was measured with a topic-specific measure of self-efficacy. The Social Self-Efficacy Scale refers to the individual's belief in his or her ability to engage in social contacts [22]. An example of 1 of the 4 items used is as follows: "It is difficult for me to make new friends." Scores range from 4 to 20; reliability α =.70.

Information and Communication Technology Proficiency

ICT proficiency was assessed with 2 items, with 1 item asking: "Do you have to ask for help from others when using your computer or mobile phone?" Answer categories were "No," "Yes, fewer than a couple of times a year," "Yes, a couple of times a year," "Yes, a couple of times a month," "Yes, a couple of times per week," and "Yes, daily." A higher score (range 1-6) indicated that more frequent help was needed. In the second item, we asked participants how many types of devices they owned. Categories were desktop, laptop, tablet, smartphone, and smart TV.

Procedure

We described the differences between 3 categories of participants at baseline: participants who signed up for the intervention and started the lessons, participants who signed up but only completed the baseline questionnaire and the intervention's introductory lesson but no further lessons, and a third category of participants who signed up, completed the baseline questionnaire, but never started any of the intervention elements. We tested the hypotheses on nonusage attrition by applying survival analysis (Cox regression in IBM SPSS Statistics 25 for Windows) among participants who started the lessons (N=233). The total number of lessons (1-10) was used as time variable. The hazard ratio (HR) and the 95% CI are presented. Tolerance of predictors ranged between .76 and .95.

Hypothesis 1 was tested by adding loneliness at baseline to the survival model. We added variables for the active (hypothesis 2a) and regulative (hypothesis 2b) coping preference to the multivariate model. Confirmatory 2-factor analysis was performed in Mplus [23] for the *ways of coping* measure, using the robust weighted least square estimator [24]. Hypothesis 3

was tested by adding the variable representing the activation by intervention content to the model (active-reflective sequence and reflective-active sequence). Finally, hypothesis 4 was tested by adding the 2 engagement variables to the model: tempo and number of diaries. Due to the relatively small sample size, all hypotheses were tested in bivariate models first, followed by 1 multivariate model. To better understand the meaning of the actual size of the estimated coefficients, we calculated the median survival time in weeks for the 10th and the 90th percentile scores of relevant independent variables. Calculations were made in a multivariate model with the survival procedure in IBM SPSS Statistics 25 for Windows. Continuous variables were categorized according to the percentile scores.

Results

Between April and July 2013, a total of 383 persons signed up for the intervention, of which 6 never provided any data. The baseline questionnaire was filled out by 352 participants, and 313 participants were randomized into 1 of the 2 sequences (Figure 1 provides a flowchart of participation). Most of the participants were female (77.6%; 273/352). Less than half of the participants (42.1%; 148/352) had a partner. The median educational level was 7 on a scale ranging from 1 (primary education) to 9 (university).

Of the 352 participants who filled out the baseline questionnaire, 46 participants only provided information at baseline but did not start the intervention, and 306 started the intervention, of which 162 were in the active-reflective and 144 in the reversed sequence. Among the 306 participants who started the intervention, 73 participants did not take part in any of the substantive lessons, but only completed the introductory lesson, leaving 233 participants who followed the substantive lessons. The 233 participants followed on average 6.2 lessons (SD 3.6). Figure 2 shows the percentage of dropouts per program week. The vertical dotted line in Figure 2 indicates the average program weeks the participants completed before dropping out. All 10 lessons were completed by 82 participants (35%; 82/233); 11 of those 82 were study dropouts because they did not fill out the follow-up questionnaire at the end of the intervention. They did, however, remain in the analysis because baseline data and data on time in the intervention were used. The remaining 151 participants (64.8%; 151/233) were nonusage dropouts.



Figure 1. Flowchart of participation in the intervention.



Figure 2. Attrition per program week (n=233). The dotted line represents the median survival time in program weeks.



The 2-factor structure of the 6-item questionnaire developed by Schoenmakers et al [21] was confirmed for our data by means of a confirmatory factor analysis (root mean square error of approximation=.00, comparative fit index=1.00, Tucker-Lewis index=1.01; χ^2_8 =7.7, *P*=.47). The mean social self-efficacy score at baseline was 11.4 (SD 3.0). The mean number of diaries participants filled out between the introductory lesson and the first lesson was 3.67 (SD 2.41). For tempo, a score of 0 indicated that the participant was on track and took 7 days between the 2 lessons. A negative score indicated that the participant took longer than scheduled. The score was calculated by dividing the number of days between the 2 lessons by 7 (indicating 1 week) and was reverse coded (mean -.90 [SD 2.53]; range -19.43 to 0; n=233). Positive scores were not possible because the first lesson became available 7 days after completion of the introductory lesson. With regard to ICT help, a higher score represented more frequent help was needed (mean 2.37 [SD 1.09]). On average, participants owned 2.1 types of devices (SD 1.1).

We compared participants in the 3 phases of nonusage dropout, that is, 46 nonstarters, 73 starters who took the introductory lesson only, and 233 starters with substantive lessons followed (Table 1). The first 2 categories had no follow-up time and thus had no value for tempo. No difference was observed in baseline characteristics for the 3 categories of participation.

RenderX

Table 1. Descriptive statistics for 3 types of participants at baseli	ine.
---	------

Variables	Participants who only provided baseline in- formation (n=46)	Participants who only took the introduction (n=73)	Participants who started substantive lessons (n=233)	F test (df)	Chi-square (<i>df</i>)	P value
Baseline loneliness (0-11), mean (SD)	7.9 (3.5)	7.5 (3.6)	8.1 (3.0)	1.1 (2, 349)	a	.33
Active coping (0-3), mean (SD)	2.7 (0.6)	2.7 (0.6)	2.7 (0.6)	0.1 (2, 326)	_	.92
Regulative coping (0-3), mean (SD)	1.8 (1.0)	1.6 (0.8)	1.7 (0.9)	0.5 (2, 326)	_	.59
Active-reflective sequence (vs reversed), n (%)	_	33 (45)	129 (55)	_	_	—
Tempo in the first intervention week (-19.4 to 0), mean (SD)	_	_	-0.9 (2.5)	_	_	_
Number of diaries in the first inter- vention week (0-14), mean (SD)	_	_	3.7 (2.4)	_	_	—
Age (50-88 years), mean (SD)	61.7 (6.0)	63.0 (8.1)	61.7 (7.1)	1.0 (2, 349)	_	.38
Female (vs male), n (%)	31 (67)	59 (81)	183 (79)	_	3.3 (2 ^b)	.19
Educational level (1-9), mean (SD)	6.7 (1.8)	6.3 (2.1)	6.5 (2.1)	0.4 (2, 349)	_	.70
Partner (vs no partner), n (%)	20 (43)	37 (51)	91 (39)	_	3.1 (2 ^b)	.21
Social self-efficacy (4-20), mean (SD)	11.8 (3.4)	11.8 (2.7)	11.2 (3.0)	1.7 (2, 349)	_	.19
ICT ^c proficiency: help needed (1- 6), mean (SD)	2.4 (1.1)	2.5 (1.0)	2.3 (1.1)	0.9 (2, 349)	—	.40
Number of types of ICT devices (1- 5), mean (SD)	1.9 (1.0)	2.2 (1.2)	2.0 (1.1)	1.4 (2, 349)	_	.24

^aNot applicable.

^bn=352.

^cICT: information and communication technology.

Results from survival analysis among 233 participants who started the lessons are presented in Table 2. In contrast to hypothesis 1, both the bivariate and the multivariate models showed that the baseline level of loneliness did not affect the probability of dropping out.

With respect to hypothesis 2, neither a preference for active nor for regulative coping had an effect on dropout probability in the bivariate analysis. In the multivariate model, however, hypothesis 2a was supported: active coping led to a lower probability of dropping out of the intervention (HR=.73). For participants with high preference for active coping (90th percentile) the median survival time, that is, time that they stay in the intervention, was 8.0 weeks. Participants with low preference for active coping (10^{th} percentile) stayed in the intervention for 5.6 weeks.

Hypothesis 3 on active intervention content was supported in the multivariate model but not in the bivariate model. Participants starting with the active intervention content had a lower probability of dropping out (HR=.71; multivariate model) than other participants. For participants who started with the active intervention content, the median survival time was 7.8 weeks, and participants who started with the reflective content had a median survival time of 5.9 weeks.

To test hypothesis 4 on engagement, we included *tempo* and the number of diaries filled out in the first week of the intervention. The correlation coefficient was .36 (P < .001). The hypothesis was supported. Thus, the probability of dropping out was lower when tempo was higher when the participant sticks to the intended pace of the intervention. Participants with high tempo had a median survival time of 9.0 weeks, whereas participants with low tempo had a median survival time of 2.6 weeks. The probability of dropping out was also lower when 1 or more diaries were filled out. Participants who filled out 6 or more diaries (90th percentile) had a median survival time of 9.0 program weeks, and participants who did not fill out diaries (10th percentile) had a median survival time of 2.0 weeks.

Of the other factors, only the number of types of ICT devices affected nonusage attrition in the bivariate analyses. This effect did not show up in the multivariate model. Participants owning more types of ICT devices had a higher probability of dropping out. In the multivariate model, more highly educated participants had a lower probability of dropping out. Participants with a high educational level had a median survival time of 6.1 weeks, and those with a low level had a median survival time of 6.8 weeks.

Table 2. Cox regression of nonusage attrition (n=233).

Variables	Bivariate		Multivariate	
	HR ^a (95% CI)	P value	HR (95% CI)	P value
Baseline loneliness (0-11)	1.00 (0.95-1.06)	.97	1.00 (0.94-1.07)	.91
Active coping (0-3)	0.81 (0.64-1.03)	.09	0.73 (0.57-0.93)	.01
Regulative coping (0-3)	1.04 (0.84-1.24)	.70	1.01 (0.83-1.22)	.94
Active-reflective sequence (vs reversed)	0.81 (0.59-1.11)	.19	0.71 (0.50-1.00)	.049
Tempo in first intervention week (-19.4 to 0)	0.89 (0.85-0.93)	<.001	0.94 (0.89-1.00)	.049
Number of diaries in first intervention week (0-14)	0.79 (0.73-0.85)	<.001	0.79 (0.72-0.86)	<.001
Age (50-86 years)	0.99 (0.96-1.01)	.26	0.99 (0.97-1.02)	.43
Female (vs male)	0.80 (0.55-1.15)	.23	1.14 (0.75-1.72)	.55
Education (1-9)	0.96 (0.89-1.04)	.32	0.92 (0.84-0.96)	.04
Partner (vs no partner)	1.19 (0.86-1.65)	.29	0.95 (0.66-1.36)	.77
Social self-efficacy (4-20)	1.01 (0.96-1.06)	.77	0.99 (0.93-1.06)	.84
ICT ^b proficiency: help needed (1-6)	0.93 (0.80-1.07)	.29	0.96 (0.82-1.12)	.59
Number of types of ICT devices (1-5)	1.16 (1.00-1.34)	.048	1.14 (0.97-1.35)	.12

^aHR: hazard ratio.

^bICT: information and communication technology.

Discussion

This study aimed to gain insight into the factors affecting attrition in an online loneliness intervention. The participants in the oFEP suffered from loneliness varying in intensity so that they form an appropriate sample to study the extent to which severity of the problem affects attrition. There was no support for hypothesis 1 that participants with more severe loneliness remain in the intervention longer than mildly lonely participants. Coping style affected attrition. People with a preference for active coping, who thus are more motivated to tackle the loneliness problem, stayed in the intervention longer (hypothesis 2a; and hypothesis 2b did not find support). Receiving content focused on active coping first (as opposed to reflective content; hypothesis 3) also increased adherence. The effect of engagement with the intervention (hypothesis 4) turned out to be the most important of the factors studied. Participants who were more engaged with the intervention, meaning they participated in the lessons at the intended pace and filled out diaries, were less likely to drop out of the intervention. Finally, we also explored the association between several other, mainly personal, characteristics and attrition. More educated participants tended to stay in the intervention longer. This could be understood from the format of the lessons. Higher education may enable participants to read and comprehend written text better, and hence these participants adhere more to the intervention.

These findings imply that, when trying to increase adherence to an online intervention, it is not necessary to select participants based on the severity of their problem. It seems to be beneficial to pay attention to coping preference and stimulate more active coping. For future interventions, it may be useful to try to persuade people to engage in more active coping, even when this is not their preferred coping style. This approach complies with the notion that it takes a lot of effort to tackle problems such as loneliness and with the finding that loneliness interventions are often not successful [25]. Moreover, the success of efforts to combat loneliness is not always immediately apparent [26]. Future interventions may attempt to stimulate participants even more to engage in active coping, for example, with testimonials that focus on the benefits of engaging in active coping, or by pointing out that the extra effort that active coping requires may pay off. Lucas et al [27] suggested that it is possible to break through regulative coping preferences and passive social behavior. Priming lonely individuals to engage in more positive behavior can reduce their focus on cautious social behavior. Our finding that engagement affects attrition provides especially valuable insight for future interventions. It allows intervention developers to intervene with additional resources as soon as participants seem to lower their engagement. For example, in the oFEP, we can send an extra message as a reminder to participants who do not participate in the second lesson within 10 days. Furthermore, the importance of following the lessons of the intervention at the intended pace of 1 per week can be stressed throughout the intervention. A word of caution here is that there might be between-person differences in which principles work best to increase engagement [28]. What works for or is preferred by 1 participant, might not be preferred by another. It seems that some level of personalization of the intervention is required, but further research on this topic is needed. Instead of increasing engagement of participants, an intervention developer can also use participants' engagement as a selection criterion, for example, to direct the limited resources to only those participants who are most likely to complete the intervention. Selection can, in that case, be done by means of a brief preintervention.

There are 2 design issues in this study that need discussion. The questionnaires were included in the intervention and not presented as separate study. Completion of certain parts of the program triggered the release of the questionnaires, and only after completion of the questionnaire, the participants could continue with the intervention. By making these design choices, we lost the possibility to distinguish nonusage attrition from dropout attrition. Including the questionnaires in the intervention may have increased participants burden and could thus potentially affect the results. A limitation is that we were not able to assess how the loneliness of participants who dropped out from the intervention developed over time. It can be that they had already benefited from the lessons and were able to reduce their loneliness, similar to participants who completed the intervention. If this is the case, the intervention was successful and participant's nonusage attrition is a conceivable choice. However, continued participation might contribute to a further strengthening of the person and his situation. Furthermore, this study only looked at baseline characteristics as factors influencing attrition. Unfortunately, not all factors of interest were observed at least weekly, preventing the inclusion of time-varying characteristics into the analysis. The severity

of the problem and the engagement with the intervention may change in the course of the intervention. With respect to the measurement of the variable *tempo*, we limited it to the first week and did not extend it to the whole intervention. The latter is problematic for participants who dropped out of the intervention before completion of the intervention. Furthermore, we reasoned that tempo in the first week of the intervention indicated the initial commitment of the participant to the intervention. Finally, by conducting and reviewing only 1 intervention, we did not test the importance of design characteristics. The review of Murray et al [9] shows that a sound theoretical foundation [29], tailoring [16], and the use of prompts [30] result in an intervention design with improved participants' adherence to the intervention.

In conclusion, we observed that active coping prevents attrition. Eysenbach [6] argues that high attrition is a weakness of all self-guided online interventions. However, our study suggests that improvement is possible. Future online loneliness interventions might try to lower attrition by stimulating active behavior, for example, by offering a variety of exercises and an active approach toward participants with a slow pace in conducting intervention activities.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Dr Nan Stevens for codeveloping the oFEP and for her valuable comments on this paper.

Authors' Contributions

TB, TT, and MA designed the study. TB was responsible for collecting the data. TB, TT, and MA participated in analyzing the data. TB drafted the manuscript. All authors critically revised the manuscript for important and intellectual content.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Bennett GG, Glasgow RE. The delivery of public health interventions via the internet: actualizing their potential. Annu Rev Public Health 2009;30:273-292. [doi: 10.1146/annurev.publhealth.031308.100235] [Medline: 19296777]
- Griffiths F, Lindenmeyer A, Powell J, Lowe P, Thorogood M. Why are health care interventions delivered over the internet? A systematic review of the published literature. J Med Internet Res 2006 Jun 23;8(2):e10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8.2.e10] [Medline: 16867965]
- Cuijpers P, Donker T, van Straten A, Li J, Andersson G. Is guided self-help as effective as face-to-face psychotherapy for depression and anxiety disorders? A systematic review and meta-analysis of comparative outcome studies. Psychol Med 2010;40(12):1943-1957. [doi: 10.1017/S0033291710000772] [Medline: 20406528]
- Spek V, Cuijpers P, Nyklícek I, Riper H, Keyzer J, Pop V. Internet-based cognitive behaviour therapy for symptoms of depression and anxiety: a meta-analysis. Psychol Med 2007 Mar;37(3):319-328. [doi: <u>10.1017/S0033291706008944</u>] [Medline: <u>17112400</u>]
- Karyotaki E, Kleiboer A, Smit F, Turner DT, Pastor AM, Andersson G, et al. Predictors of treatment dropout in self-guided web-based interventions for depression: an 'individual patient data' meta-analysis. Psychol Med 2015 Oct;45(13):2717-2726. [doi: <u>10.1017/S0033291715000665</u>] [Medline: <u>25881626</u>]
- Eysenbach G. The law of attrition. J Med Internet Res 2005 Mar 31;7(1):e11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7.1.e11] [Medline: 15829473]
- Ryan C, Bergin M, Wells JS. Theoretical perspectives of adherence to web-based interventions: a scoping review. Int J Behav Med 2018 Feb;25(1):17-29. [doi: 10.1007/s12529-017-9678-8] [Medline: 28730402]
- 8. de Jong Gierveld J, van Tilburg TG, Dykstra PA. New ways of theorizing and conducting research in the field of loneliness and social isolation. In: Vangelisti AL, Perlman D, editors. The Cambridge Handbook of Personal Relationships, Second Edition. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2018:391-404.

- Murray E, White IR, Varagunam M, Godfrey C, Khadjesari Z, McCambridge J. Attrition revisited: adherence and retention in a web-based alcohol trial. J Med Internet Res 2013 Aug 30;15(8):e162 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2336] [Medline: 23996958]
- Melville KM, Casey LM, Kavanagh DJ. Dropout from internet-based treatment for psychological disorders. Br J Clin Psychol 2010 Nov;49(Pt 4):455-471. [doi: 10.1348/014466509X472138] [Medline: 19799804]
- 11. Lazarus RS, Folkman S. Stress, Appraisal, And Coping. New York: Springer Publishing Company; 1984.
- 12. Bonwell CC, Eison JA. Active Learning: Creating Excitement In The Classroom (J-B ASHE Higher Education Report Series (AEHE)). Washington: Jossey-Bass; 1991.
- Couper MP, Alexander GL, Zhang N, Little RJ, Maddy N, Nowak MA, et al. Engagement and retention: measuring breadth and depth of participant use of an online intervention. J Med Internet Res 2010 Nov 18;12(4):e52 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1430] [Medline: 21087922]
- Glasgow RE, Nelson CC, Kearney KA, Reid R, Ritzwoller DP, Strecher VJ, et al. Reach, engagement, and retention in an internet-based weight loss program in a multi-site randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2007 May 9;9(2):e11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9.2.e11] [Medline: 17513282]
- Lange A, Rietdijk D, Hudcovicova M, van de Ven JP, Schrieken B, Emmelkamp PM. Interapy: a controlled randomized trial of the standardized treatment of posttraumatic stress through the internet. J Consult Clin Psychol 2003 Oct;71(5):901-909. [doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.71.5.901] [Medline: 14516238]
- 16. Wangberg SC, Bergmo TS, Johnsen J. Adherence in internet-based interventions. Patient Prefer Adherence 2008 Feb 2;2:57-65 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 19920945]
- 17. Mathew M, Morrow JR, Frierson GM, Bain TM. Assessing digital literacy in web-based physical activity surveillance: the WIN study. Am J Health Promot 2011;26(2):90-95. [doi: <u>10.4278/ajhp.091001-QUAN-320</u>] [Medline: <u>22040389</u>]
- Bouwman TE, Aartsen MJ, van Tilburg TG, Stevens NL. Does stimulating various coping strategies alleviate loneliness? Results from an online friendship enrichment program. J Soc Pers Relat 2017 Sep;34(6):793-811 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0265407516659158] [Medline: 28867863]
- 19. Stevens NL. Combating loneliness: a friendship enrichment programme for older women. Ageing Soc 2001 Jul 9;21(2):183-202. [doi: 10.1017/S0144686X01008108]
- 20. de Jong Gierveld J, van Tilburg TG. Manual of the Loneliness Scale. Amsterdam: Department of Social Research Methodology, Vrije Universiteit; 1999.
- 21. Schoenmakers EC, van Tilburg TG, Fokkema CM. Coping with loneliness: what do older adults suggest? Aging Ment Health 2012;16(3):353-360. [doi: 10.1080/13607863.2011.630373] [Medline: 22129447]
- 22. Sherer M, Maddux JE, Mercandante B, Prentice-Dunn S, Jacobs B, Rogers RW. The self-efficacy scale: construction and validation. Psychol Rep 1982;51(2):663-671. [doi: <u>10.2466/pr0.1982.51.2.663</u>]
- 23. Muthén LK, Muthén BO. Muthén & Muthén. Los Angeles: Múthen & Múthen; 2015. Mplus User's Guide Seventh Edition URL: <u>https://www.statmodel.com/download/usersguide/Mplus%20user%20guide%20Ver_7_r3_web.pdf</u>
- 24. Li CH. Confirmatory factor analysis with ordinal data: comparing robust maximum likelihood and diagonally weighted least squares. Behav Res Methods 2016 Sep;48(3):936-949. [doi: 10.3758/s13428-015-0619-7] [Medline: 26174714]
- 25. Gardiner C, Geldenhuys G, Gott M. Interventions to reduce social isolation and loneliness among older people: an integrative review. Health Soc Care Community 2018;26(2):147-157. [doi: 10.1111/hsc.12367] [Medline: 27413007]
- 26. Alfonsson S, Olsson E, Hursti T. Motivation and treatment credibility predicts dropout, treatment adherence, and clinical outcomes in an internet-based cognitive behavioral relaxation program: a randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2016 Mar 8;18(3):e52 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5352] [Medline: 26957354]
- Lucas GM, Knowles ML, Gardner WL, Molden DC, Jefferis VE. Increasing social engagement among lonely individuals: the role of acceptance cues and promotion motivations. Pers Soc Psychol Bull 2010 Oct;36(10):1346-1359. [doi: 10.1177/0146167210382662] [Medline: 20817823]
- Perski O, Blandford A, West R, Michie S. Conceptualising engagement with digital behaviour change interventions: a systematic review using principles from critical interpretive synthesis. Transl Behav Med 2017;7(2):254-267 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13142-016-0453-1] [Medline: 27966189]
- Webb TL, Joseph J, Yardley L, Michie S. Using the internet to promote health behavior change: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the impact of theoretical basis, use of behavior change techniques, and mode of delivery on efficacy. J Med Internet Res 2010 Feb 17;12(1):e4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1376] [Medline: 20164043]
- 30. Fry JP, Neff RA. Periodic prompts and reminders in health promotion and health behavior interventions: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2009 May 14;11(2):e16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1138] [Medline: 19632970]

Abbreviations

HR: hazard ratio ICT: information and communication technology oFEP: online Friendship Enrichment Program



```
http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e13638/
```

Edited by J Wang; submitted 08.02.19; peer-reviewed by C Young, T Risling, A Lara; comments to author 25.03.19; revised version received 10.05.19; accepted 08.06.19; published 24.07.19. <u>Please cite as:</u> Bouwman T, van Tilburg T, Aartsen M Attrition in an Online Loneliness Intervention for Adults Aged 50 Years and Older: Survival Analysis JMIR Aging 2019;2(2):e13638 URL: http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e13638/ doi:10.2196/13638 PMID:31518268

©Tamara Bouwman, Theo van Tilburg, Marja Aartsen. Originally published in JMIR Aging (http://aging.jmir.org), 24.07.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Perceptions of the Diabetes Online Community's Credibility, Social Capital, and Help and Harm: Cross-Sectional Comparison Between Baby Boomers and Younger Adults

Michelle L Litchman¹, PhD, FNP-BC, FAANP; Linda S Edelman¹, PhD, RN

University of Utah, College of Nursing, Salt Lake City, UT, United States

Corresponding Author: Michelle L Litchman, PhD, FNP-BC, FAANP University of Utah College of Nursing 10 S 2000 E Salt Lake City, UT, 84112 United States Phone: 1 8015859612 Email: michelle.litchman@nurs.utah.edu

Abstract

Background: The use of online health communities such as the diabetes online community (DOC) is growing. Individuals who engage in the DOC are able to interact with peers who have the same medical condition. It is not known if older adults are perceiving the DOC differently compared with younger adults.

Objective: The purpose of this study was to explore and understand how the DOC is perceived in terms of social capital, source credibility, and help and harm. The findings from this study will shed light on how users of different age groups (baby boomers and younger adult counterparts) perceive DOC use.

Methods: This study represents a subset of participants from a larger study of DOC users. Baby boomers and younger adults with diabetes were recruited from the DOC to participate in a cross-sectional survey. Demographics, electronic health use (reasons to join the DOC, DOC intensity, DOC engagement, internet social capital, and help or harm from the DOC), source credibility, health-related quality of life, and diabetes self-care data were collected. We examined the differences between baby boomer and younger adult responses.

Results: The participants included baby boomers (N=76) and younger adult counterparts (N=102). Participants scored their diabetes health care team (mean 33.5 [SD 8]) significantly higher than the DOC (mean 32 [SD 6.4]) with regard to competence (P<.05) and trustworthiness (diabetes health care team mean 36.3 [SD 7.1]; DOC mean 33.6 [SD 6.2]; P<.001). High bonding and bridging social capital correlated with high DOC intensity (r=.629; P<.001 and r=.676; P<.001, respectively) and high DOC engagement (r=.474; P<.01 and r=.507; P≤.01, respectively). The greater majority (69.8%) reported the DOC as being helpful, and 1.8% reported that the DOC had caused minor harm. Baby boomers perceived DOC credibility, social capital, help, and harm similarly to their younger adult counterparts.

Conclusions: Baby boomers are using and perceiving the DOC similarly to younger adults. DOC users find the DOC to be credible; however, they scored their health care team higher with regard to competence and trustworthiness. The DOC is beneficial with low risk and may augment current diabetes care.

(JMIR Aging 2019;2(2):e10857) doi:10.2196/10857

KEYWORDS

diabetes mellitus; online social networking; social capital; trust; social media; older adult



Introduction

Background

Diabetes is a complex chronic condition that requires ongoing attention to day-to-day activities to achieve adequate glucose management. Individuals with diabetes are expected to spend more than 2 hours per day carrying out recommended self-care [1]. The time and intensity required for self-care, the complexities of diabetes, and the often unavoidable health fluctuations associated with their condition can be physically and emotionally taxing. Therefore, adequate informational and emotional support is imperative for patients to effectively manage their diabetes [2-4].

There has been a paradigm shift in which the patient's role has elevated from a passive recipient to an active consumer of health care [5]. As active consumers, patients are seeking more information to assist them in making decisions about their health. This is particularly true for individuals with chronic conditions who need information that will allow them to be successful in long-term disease management. Access to the internet has provided consumers with a myriad of easily accessible health information resources to support health care decisions, including social networks such as diabetes online communities (DOCs).

DOCs are grassroots digital locations in which individuals affected by diabetes interact, educate, and offer support to peers [6,7]. DOC use is associated with self-care, quality of life, and better glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA_{1c}) [7]. Older adults, specifically, have found DOCs to be useful in improving knowledge about self-care and receiving emotional support [6,8].

The prevalence of, and proportion of, older adults with diabetes is simultaneously increasing. Baby boomers (born from 1946 to 1964), responsible for the vast growth of older adults, have a higher incidence of chronic conditions such as diabetes [9,10]. With the oldest baby boomer turning 65 years of age in 2011, the number of older adults with diabetes is rapidly increasing. Online health information seeking, such as DOC use, has been viewed as helpful in providing secondary prevention [11]. Baby boomers are the first generation to age using the internet and social media. Importantly, the adoption of online health communities is on the rise for older adults [12,13]. Therefore, it is important to determine if baby boomers perceive the credibility of online communities differently than their younger counterparts as this may inform online community use as they age.

One way that individuals establish credibility of online health information is through the guidance of peers as suggested in the Apomediation theory. The Apomediation theory proposes that individuals can bypass the traditional hierarchical medical system and, through a filtering process, collaborate with experienced peers who guide them toward credible and relevant information [14]. As it relates to diabetes, individuals may be more reliant on their health care providers upon initial diagnosis. However, over time, autonomy, knowledge, and self-efficacy are gained, allowing for interaction with experienced peers.

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e10857/
```

Source credibility is one of the domains identified in the Apomediation theory [14,15] and will be measured in this study.

Source Credibility

Health information is not credible without trust in the message and source. Source credibility, defined as a characteristic that helps readers determine if information is believable, is associated with perceptions of competence, trustworthiness, and goodwill/caring [16]. Research suggests that online health community users are more likely to perceive community information as credible if it is based on firsthand knowledge of living with a health issue [17]. Furthermore, source credibility has been associated with emotional support in online health communities [18]. Although source credibility in peers may develop through the exchange of personal information and shared experiences, source credibility may be more difficult to ascertain in online environments because of reliance on text without the support of nonverbal cues and facial expressions [18,19].

Social Capital

Participating in online health communities improves social capital [20]. Social capital, a term coined by Putnam [21], comprises the social connections, networks, and trust that allow individuals to work together as a community. There are 2 types of social capital. Bonding social capital includes close family and friends and is exclusive. Bonding social capital promotes group cohesion and social support. Bridging social capital is inclusive and is made up of heterogeneous networks of connections with weak ties. Bridging social capital allows for diffusion of information and diverse perspectives [22]. A number of studies have found an association between social capital, health and mortality [23-27]. Among those with chronic conditions, including diabetes, having a large network of social connections is associated with better self-management, physical and mental well-being, and coping [28]. Lack of social capital has been identified as a barrier in diabetes self-management [3]. Little is known about source credibility or social capital as it relates to peer health in the online context.

The Diabetes Online Community Providing Help or Harm

It is unclear if individuals perceive DOC use as being helpful or harmful. The Pew Internet and Life Project found that 30% of US adults report that they or someone they know had been helped by following the advice or health information found online and only 3% reported being harmed [29]. In contrast, there is a potential for harm, such as inaccurate health information being reported and followed, public displays of unhealthy behaviors, and psychological impact from accessing offensive or biased content [30]. Therefore, it is important to evaluate how DOC users perceive information shared on the DOC as it relates to being helpful or harmful.

Despite the growing reach of the DOC, there is limited research focused on social capital, source credibility, and whether or not the DOC is helpful or harmful. The overarching objective of this study was to explore how the DOC is perceived as it relates to social capital, source credibility, and harm by way of age groups. Specifically, we aimed to understand the differences

XSL•FO RenderX

between younger adults (born between 1965 and 1996) and baby boomers (born between 1946 and 1964). The findings from this study will illuminate the possible benefits and disadvantages to DOC use.

Methods

Sample and Setting

The study sample was from a larger study of DOC users (N=183). Participants were eligible for the parent study if they were aged 18 years or older, had a diagnosis of diabetes (type 1, type 2, or latent autoimmune diabetes of adulthood), and could read English. Anyone identifying as a minor, caregiver for someone with diabetes, or having gestational diabetes was not included. Participants were recruited by posting information about the study with a link to the survey. Key opinion leaders shared the survey to support snowball sampling. The full sample included 183 adult DOC users. The participants completed a 129-item online survey using Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap) software (Nashville, TN). A subsection of baby boomers completed an interview. The study procedures were approved by the University of Utah Institutional Review Board and the respective DOC administrators (TuDiabetes and Diabetic Connect). Previous research from the parent study has been published elsewhere [6,7].

This study focused on 176 DOC users categorized as baby boomers or younger adult counterparts. Participants born in 1945 or earlier were not included in this study (N=5).

Measures

This paper will examine online survey results from the parent study survey including demographics specific to baby boomers compared with younger adult counterparts, electronic health use (reasons to join the DOC, DOC intensity, DOC engagement, internet social capital, and perceived help or harm from the DOC), source credibility, HRQOL (health related quality of life), and diabetes self-care. Details for each measure are noted below.

Demographics

Social and demographic data included 11 items focused on gender, marital status, education level, employment, annual household income, age, ethnicity, race, country and state, living setting, and insurance status.

Health History

Self-reported health history data included 8 items focused on diabetes type, length of diabetes duration in years, current diabetes treatments, most recent HbA_{1c} level, type of medical practice and provider used for diabetes care, frequency of diabetes provider visits, and diabetes-related complications.

Electronic Health Use

Twenty-two items were collected on how participants navigate the DOC and if the participants' health care provider supported their DOC use.

Reasons to Join the Diabetes Online Community

Participants were asked to identify reasons why someone with diabetes should join the DOC. Thirteen items were developed based on an anecdotal dLife (Diabetes Life) article [31].

Diabetes Online Community Intensity

The DOC Intensity Scale is an 8-item tool adapted from the Facebook Intensity Scale [32] to measure how often and for how long individuals engaged in the DOC and to determine emotional connectedness and integration into daily activities. Scores range from 0 to 5 with higher scores indicating more DOC intensity. The Cronbach coefficient for DOC intensity was .85.

Diabetes Online Community Engagement

The DOC Engagement Scale is a 5-item tool developed by the authors and informed by qualitative analysis [33] to measure engagement or interaction with other DOC users. Specifically, this tool was used to measure whether or not participants shared clinical information, requested or provided clinical guidance or feedback, or received or provided emotional support. Scores range from 0 to 5 with higher scores indicating more DOC engagement. The Cronbach coefficient for DOC engagement was .73.

Internet Social Capital Scale

The Internet Social Capital Scale is designed to measure bonding (10 items) and bridging (10 items) social capital in both online and offline populations using a 5-point Likert scale [34] such as DOC use. The Likert response scale ranges from strongly agree to strongly disagree. The terms offline and online, which can be used interchangeably based on the study population, were replaced with DOC in this study. There were 3 questions from the Internet Social Capital Scale bonding subscale that did not pertain to the study population. The question "If I needed an emergency loan of \$500, I know someone online that I can turn to" was changed to "If I needed an emergency loan of diabetes supplies, I know someone on the DOC I can turn to." The questions "The people I interact with on the DOC would put their reputation on the line for me" and "The people I interact with on the DOC would be good job references for me" were omitted from the survey. Permission was obtained from Williams [34] to use and adapt the Internet Social Capital Scale for this study. The adapted 7-item bonding social capital scale and 10-item bridging social capital scale each have possible scores of 0 to 5; higher scores indicate higher levels of social capital. In this study, the Internet Social Capital Scale will measure DOC bonding and bridging social capital.

Help and Harm

Overall, 2 questions were asked related to perceived help and harm, asking participants if they, or anyone they knew, had been helped or harmed by following advice or health information found on the DOC. Responses included major help, moderate help, minor help, no help, or do not know. Responses were then dichotomized into yes and no responses with regard to any help or harm, or no help or harm.



The SF12-v2 (short form 12-item version 2) is a 12-item tool used to measure physical and mental health status. A 4-week recall was used in this study. Norm-based scoring (mean 50 [SD 10]) was used for this analysis [35]. The Cronbach coefficient for the SF-12v2 was .88 (physical=.77 and mental=.86).

Diabetes Self-Care

The Self-Care Inventory Revised (SCI-R) is a 15-item tool to measure diabetes self-care behaviors and can accommodate natural variation in treatment plans for patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes. The scores range from 0 to 100 [36]. The Cronbach coefficient for the SCI-R was .68.

Source Credibility

The revised source credibility scale [16] was used to measure how participants viewed the credibility of the diabetes health care team and the DOC. The scale includes 18 items measuring trustworthiness, factors-competence, 3 and goodwill/caring—using a 7-point semantic differential scale. The Cronbach alpha scores range from .85 to .92 when looking at the dimensions separately and .94 when scored as a single measure. This scale was used twice in this study; first, to measure how participants rated the source credibility of their diabetes health care team. The diabetes health care team included anyone who cared for the patient's diabetes. Second, it was also used to measure how participants rated the source credibility of the DOC. Possible scores ranged from 0 to 42.

Analysis

A participant code was assigned to all survey responses, and all data were maintained in REDCap [37]. Data were screened, and multiple entries were cleaned accordingly. Missing data were imputed with the appropriately scaled item means in the calculation of total scores for the validated scales in accordance with standard scoring methods. All other missing data were excluded pairwise. There were less than 10% of missing data for each analysis.

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS 21 (New York City, New York) [38]. Analyses were conducted to determine the relationships between and interactions among demographic variables, source credibility, social capital, help, and harm. These analyses included correlations, independent and 1-sample t tests, and analyses of variance (followed by LSD (least significant difference)-adjusted post hoc tests, where appropriate). For inference, the alpha was set at .05.

Results

Participant Characteristics

A total of 178 participants met the criteria for this study: 43% were baby boomers and 57% were younger adults. Overall, the participants were more likely to be female, white, living in the United States, educated with a college degree, and insured and have type 1 diabetes. Baby boomers were more likely to be living in the United States and more likely to have type 2 diabetes or latent autoimmune diabetes of adulthood (LADA) compared with younger adult counterparts. There were no significant differences between baby boomers and younger adult counterparts regarding gender, education level, income, or presence of insurance (see Table 1).

Diabetes Online Community Source Credibility

The mean DOC competence score was 31.9 (SD 6.5), the mean DOC caring/goodwill score was 31.9 (SD 7.2), and the mean DOC trustworthiness score was 33.6 (SD 6.3). Each factor score had a possible range of 0 to 42. The Cronbach coefficients for the DOC source credibility scale were DOC competency, alpha=.89; DOC caring/goodwill, alpha=.89; and DOC trustworthiness, alpha=.91.

DOC source credibility (competency, caring/goodwill, and trustworthiness) positively correlated with diabetes self-care, DOC intensity, DOC engagement, and bonding and bridging social capital as detailed in Table 2. DOC competence scores were higher (P < .05) for individuals who had told their health care providers about their DOC use and felt supported to continue doing so (mean 34.3 [SD 6.1]) than those who were not sure if their health care providers supported their DOC use because they had not told their health care providers about it (mean 31 [SD 6.6]). Similarly, all participants reported higher DOC caring/goodwill scores if they had told their health care providers about their DOC use and their health care providers supported it (mean 34.7 [SD 5.4]; P<.01) or were not sure if their providers supported their DOC use even after they had reported it (mean 34.2 [SD 7.4]; P<.05) when compared with those who had not told their health care providers about their DOC use at all (mean 30.8 [SD 7.4]). DOC source credibility factor scores were not related to age, gender, diabetes type, diabetes duration, diabetes treatment, diabetes-related complications, HbA_{1c}, or health-related quality of life. There were no significant differences for DOC source credibility factors (competence, caring/goodwill, or trustworthiness) between baby boomers and younger adult counterparts.



Table 1. Demographics of study participants, N=178.

Litchman & Edelman

Variable	Baby boomers ^a	Younger adult counterparts ^b	Total	P value
Age (years), mean (SD); range	c	_	43.8 (13.2); 18-67	
Gender, n (%)				.18 ^d
Female	51 (67.1)	77 (75.4)	128 (71.9)	_
Male	24 (31.6)	23 (22.5)	47 (26.4)	_
Race, n (%)				.65 ^d
American Indian or Alaskan Native	0 (0)	2 (2.0)	2 (1.1)	_
Asian	1 (1.3)	2 (2.0)	3 (1.7)	_
African American	1 (1.3)	1 (1.0)	2 (1.1)	_
White	73 (97.3)	96 (93.1)	169 (94.9)	_
Country, n (%)				.025 ^d
United States	69 (90.7)	78 (76.5)	147 (82.6)	_
Not United States	7 (9.2)	23 (22.5)	30 (16.9)	_
Education, n (%)				.69 ^d
Some high school	0 (0)	2 (2.0)	2 (1.1)	_
High school graduate	5 (6.6)	5 (4.9)	10 (5.6)	—
Some college	14 (18.4)	13 (12.7)	27 (15.2)	_
Associate's degree	9 (11.8)	11 (10.8)	20 (11.2)	_
Bachelor's degree	25 (32.9)	39 (38.2)	64 (36)	_
Gradate or professional degree	23 (30.3)	31 (30.4)	54 (30.3)	
Insurance, n (%)				.062 ^e
Insured	73 (96.1)	84 (82.4)	157 (82.6)	_
Uninsured	2 (2.6)	9 (8.8)	11 (16.9)	—
Diabetes type, n (%)				.007 ^d
Type 1	45 (59.2)	82 (80.4)	127 (71.3)	—
Type 2	18 (23.7)	13 (12.7)	31 (17.4)	—
Latent autoimmune diabetes of adulthood	13 (17.1)	7 (6.9)	20 (11.2)	_

 $a_{n=76}$ (42.7%).

 $^{b}n=102 (57.3\%).$

^cNot applicable.

^dChi-square test.

^eFisher exact test.



Litchman & Edelman

Table 2.	Correlations	for	diabetes	online	community	source	credibility, N=1	78.
----------	--------------	-----	----------	--------	-----------	--------	------------------	-----

Variable	Diabetes online community (DOC)					
	Competence	Caring/goodwill	Trustworthiness			
Diabetes self-care	.144	.158 ^a	.169 ^a			
DOC intensity	.364 ^c	.465 ^c	.322 ^c			
DOC engagement	.196 ^b	.285 ^c	.215 ^b			
Bonding social capital	.368 ^c	.504 ^c	.412 ^c			
Bridging social capital	.369 ^c	.484 ^c	.380 ^c			
Physical HRQOL ^d	002	.040	.060			
Mental HRQOL	021	.014	.034			

 $^{^{}a}P < .05.$

^b*P*<.01.

^c*P*<.001.

^dHRQOL=health related quality of life.

Diabetes Health Care Team Source Credibility

The 3 factors of source credibility were also measured to determine the credibility of information coming from the participants' diabetes health care provider team. The mean score for diabetes health care provider team competence was 29.8 (SD 5.5), caring/goodwill was 32.8 (SD 9.1), and trustworthiness was 36.1 (SD 7.4). The Cronbach alpha values for the diabetes health care team were as follows: competence, alpha=.90; caring/goodwill, alpha=.95; and trustworthiness, alpha=.93.

The relationships were identified between DOC and diabetes health care team source credibility scores (see Table 3). DOC competence and trustworthiness positively correlated with diabetes health care team trustworthiness. There were no relationships between DOC caring/goodwill and diabetes health care team competence or caring/goodwill.

Baby boomers (mean 34.61 [SD 9.0]; P<.05) found their diabetes health care provider team as having more caring/goodwill than younger adult counterparts (mean 31.46 [SD 9.0]). There were otherwise no significant differences between groups with regard to diabetes health care provider competence or trustworthiness factors.

There were differences in how all participants scored source credibility when comparing the DOC and their health care provider team. Participants scored their diabetes health care team (mean 33.5 [SD 8]) significantly higher than the DOC (mean 32 [SD 6.4]) with regard to competence (P<.05) and trustworthiness (diabetes health care team mean 36.3 [SD 7.1]; DOC mean 33.6 [SD 6.2]; P<.001). There was no statistically significant difference in how participants scored DOC and diabetes health care team caring/goodwill.

There were similarities and differences in how DOC and diabetes health care team source credibility were associated with diabetes self-care, DOC intensity, DOC engagement, bonding and bridging social capital, and health-related quality of life (see Table 4). DOC and diabetes health care team source credibility were similar in that all source credibility factors correlated with diabetes self-care. Conversely, although DOC source credibility was associated with DOC intensity, DOC engagement, and bonding and bridging social capital, diabetes health care team source credibility of life.

Table 3.	Pearson product correlations	between diabetes online	community and diabete	es health care team source	credibility, N=178.
----------	------------------------------	-------------------------	-----------------------	----------------------------	---------------------

Variable	Diabetes online community					
	Competence	Caring/goodwill	Trustworthiness			
Diabetes health care team competence	.098	.115	.148			
Diabetes health care team caring/goodwill	.152 ^a	.119	.140			
Diabetes health care team trustworthiness	.257 ^b	.137	.270 ^c			

^aP<.05.

^bP<.01.

^c*P*<.001.

Litchman & Edelman

Table 4. Pearson product correlations for diabetes health care team source credibility, N=178.

Variable	Diabetes health care team					
	Competence	Caring/goodwill	Trustworthiness			
Diabetes self-care	.188 ^a	.176 ^a	.195 ^a			
Diabetes online community (DOC) intensity	.038	.008	.054			
DOC engagement	.117	.128	.148			
Bonding social capital	.000	012	.002			
Bridging social capital	.124	.114	.129			
Physical HRQOL ^b	.214 ^c	.234 ^c	.195 ^a			
Mental HRQOL	.268 ^d	.340 ^d	.247 ^d			

 $^{a}P < .05.$

^bHRQOL=health related quality of life.

^cP<.01.

^d*P*<.001.

Social Capital

The Internet Social Capital Scale bonding mean score was 3.08 (SD 0.64) and bridging mean score was 3.68 (SD 0.68). The Cronbach coefficient for the Internet Social Capital Scale was .89 (bonding=.69 and bridging=.92). High bonding and bridging social capital correlated with high DOC intensity (r=.629; P<.001 and r=.676; P<.001, respectively) and high DOC engagement (r=.474; P<.01 and r=.507; P<.01, respectively; see Table 5). Furthermore, high bonding (P<.001) and bridging (P<.001) social capital was identified in those who reported *yes*

to all 13 reasons to join a DOC (see Table 6). Bonding (P<.001) and bridging (P<.001) social capital scores were higher in those who had told their health care provider about their DOC use and felt supported (bonding mean 3.5 [SD 0.63]; bridging mean 4.2 [SD 0.51]) or were not sure (bonding mean 3.26 [SD 0.57]; bridging mean 3.93 [SD 0.48]) than those who had never told their health care providers about their DOC use at all (bonding mean 2.94 [SD 0.59]; bridging mean 3.48 [SD 0.68]). There was a negative correlation between bonding social capital and age (r=-.200; P<.01).

Table 5. Correlation matrix for health indicators, N=178.

Indicator	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Diabetes online community (DOC) intensity	1.00	a		_	_	_	
DOC engagement	.572 ^b	1.00	—	—	_	_	_
Physical HRQOL ^c	043	.102	1.00	_	_	_	_
Mental HRQOL	076	.074	.651 ^b	1.00	_	_	_
Bonding social capital	.629 ^b	.474 ^b	.022	.028	1.00	_	_
Bridging social capital	.676 ^b	.507 ^b	010	014	.679 ^b	1.00	_
Diabetes self-care	.236 ^d	.170 ^e	.097	.301 ^d	.127	.234 ^d	1.00

^aNot applicable.

^bSignificance at the <.001 level.

^cHRQOL=health related quality of life.

^dSignificance at the <.01 level.

^eSignificance at the <.05 level.



Litchman & Edelman

Diabetes online community (DOC) benefit	Bonding social capital		Bridging social capital	
	Mean (SD)	P value	Mean (SD)	P value
Feel understood				
Yes	3.2 (0.61)	<.001	3.9 (0.53)	<.001
No	2.6 (0.53)	<.001	2.9 (0.64)	<.001
Feel less alone				
Yes	3.2 (0.62)	<.001	3.9 (0.55)	<.001
No	2.7 (0.48)	<.001	3.1 (0.71)	<.001
Feel more empowered				
Yes	3.3 (0.62)	<.001	3.9 (0.53)	<.001
No	2.6 (0.50)	<.001	3.0 (0.62)	<.001
Feel support through rough times				
Yes	3.3 (0.58)	<.001	4.0 (0.45)	<.001
No	2.7 (0.58)	<.001	3.3 (0.71)	<.001
Learn new diabetes management strategies				
Yes	3.2 (0.63)	.001	3.8 (0.58)	<.001
No	2.7 (0.63)	.001	3.1 (0.77)	<.001
Learn research and treatment alternatives				
Yes	3.2 (0.63)	<.001	3.8 (0.60)	<.001
No	2.7 (0.56)	<.001	3.0 (0.76)	<.001
Get answers to diabetes questions				
Yes	3.2 (0.63)	<.001	3.8 (0.56)	<.001
No	2.7 (0.53)	<.001	3.1 (0.73)	<.001
Learn about potential side effects of drugs or devices				
Yes	3.2 (0.62)	<.001	3.9 (0.59)	<.001
No	2.8 (0.63)	<.001	3.4 (0.75)	<.001
Learn things that my health care provider did not know				
Yes	3.2 (0.63)	<.001	3.9 (0.60)	<.001
No	2.9 (0.61)	<.001	3.4 (0.72)	<.001
Learn strategies to improve insurance coverage for diabetes related	medications, supp	lies, or tools		
Yes	3.8 (0.63)	<.001	3.9 (0.62)	<.001
No	2.8 (0.55)	<.001	3.5 (0.67)	<.001
Discussed a topic learned from DOC with my health care provider				
Yes	3.3 (0.63)	<.001	3.9 (0.57)	<.001
No	2.9 (0.58)	<.001	3.5 (0.68)	<.001
Help others				
Yes	3.2 (0.61)	<.001	3.8 (0.54)	<.001
No	2.6 (0.57)	<.001	3.0 (0.87)	<.001

Help

XSL•FO RenderX

The greater majority of DOC participants (69.8%) reported that they or someone they knew were helped by following advice or health information on the DOC; although, 27.3% were not

https://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e10857/

sure. Those with type 1 diabetes (count 88, expected count 84.4) or LADA (count 16, expected count 14) were more likely to report help from the DOC when compared with those with type 2 diabetes (count 16, expected count 21.6; P<.05). There were differences in DOC source credibility scores for caring/goodwill

and levels of help from the DOC: $F_{2,166}$ =5.29; *P*<.01. Those who reported that the DOC provided any level of help (mean 33.1 [SD 6.2]) had higher DOC caring/goodwill scores than those who reported "don't know" (mean 29.3 [SD 8.8]). There were no significant differences in the perception of the DOC being helpful among baby boomers or younger adult counterparts.

Harm

There was a very small percentage (1.8%) of participants who reported that they or someone they knew had been harmed, with the degree being minor, by following the advice or health information found on the DOC. Nearly half (45%) of the DOC participants reported that they did not know if harm had taken place. Participants had higher DOC competence scores if they reported no harm (mean 33.1 [SD 6.2]) than those who reported "don't know" (mean 30.7 [SD 6.7]; $F_{2.166}$ =3.53; P<.05) and had higher DOC caring/goodwill scores if they reported no harm (mean 33.3 [SD 6]) than those who reported "don't know" (mean 30.7 [SD 8.2]; F_{2,165}=3.67; P<.05). Furthermore, participants had higher DOC trustworthiness scores if they reported no harm (mean 35 [SD 5.8]) than those who reported "don't know" (mean 32.4 [SD 6.6]; $F_{2,161}$ =4.3; P<.05). There were no significant differences in the report of being harmed by gender or diabetes type. In addition, there were no significant differences in perception of the DOC being harmful among baby boomers or younger adult counterparts.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This is the first study known by the authors to examine differences in how baby boomer and younger adult counterparts perceive the DOC in terms of social capital, source credibility, and help and harm. Below, we discuss the significant findings and the implications for clinical practice.

Despite considerable differences generationally, in this study, baby boomers and younger adult DOC users perceived the credibility of DOC information similarly. Baby boomers are the first generation to transition into older adulthood with internet skills. Positioned as digital natives, baby boomers had to learn computer, internet, and social media skills later in life, opposed to digital natives or younger adults, who grew up with these technologies. Studies have shown that baby boomers are more trusting of online health information compared with older adults [39], which may explain why there was no difference between age groups. Baby boomers will seek out the internet first with health-related questions [40], which may be one way for baby boomers to be able to find DOCs.

Although there have been documented benefits to DOC use [7,41,42], baby boomers, in particular, may experience other benefits not yet explored. Research indicates isolation and loneliness is an increasing concern in older adult populations [43,44]. One solution to mitigate feelings of seclusion in older adults with diabetes is DOC use. In a semantic analysis of 1 DOC, TuDiabetes, Lewis et al found that older adults with type 2 diabetes used DOCs for companionship and support [45]. A

XSL•FC RenderX content analysis of DOC users on Twitter found that participants anticipated that they would continue using the DOC into old age, maintaining lifelong connections with peers they interact with now [46]. Finally, a qualitative study of older adult DOC users suggests that the DOC provides a consistent source of support even when someone's physical location may change [41]. As older adult social networks get smaller because of death and relocation, the DOC may be one for maintaining social connections and avoiding isolation while supporting health.

DOC users find the information found on the DOC to be credible, overall. However, we found that DOC users found information from their health care providers to be more competent and trustworthy than the information found on the DOC. In contrast, research specific to 1 type of DOC focused on patient-driven diabetes innovation, with membership of mostly individuals with type 1 diabetes, found that peers were reported to be more trustworthy than health care providers [47]. Perhaps, this can be explained by the difference between a general DOC and a specialty DOC or the presence of various types of diabetes that we studied compared with type 1 only.

DOC source credibility was associated with high diabetes self-care and high social capital. DOC users were able to validate their experiences through homogenous DOC users, while gaining diverse information from heterogeneous DOC users to improve self-care. Obtaining these different perspectives on diabetes care provides DOC users with more depth of knowledge when making their own health care decisions [41] and supports patient activation [48]. Although we did not seek out information specific to the presence of misinformation, which can impact a DOC user's perception of source credibility, other research has found that misinformation in the DOC is uncommon and corrected by peers in the DOC or benign when it does occur [33,49-51].

Interestingly, DOC users who felt supported by their health care provider to use the DOC found the information on the DOC to be more credible and helpful. This suggests that health care providers play a role in how DOC users perceive DOC source credibility and should engage in the DOC, as recommended by Brady et al [52], to understand the resources available to people with diabetes. A 2017 American Association of Diabetes Educator National Practice survey found that 34.7% of diabetes educators are recommending DOC sources to their patients and nearly three-quarters (73.4%) are using the DOC themselves in some way [53]. Although there is evidence that diabetes educators seem to be embracing DOCs, it is unknown if other health care providers, including those who routinely care for individuals with diabetes, are actively or passively participating in DOCs.

DOC users have high bonding and bridging social capital scores. Those who felt more connected to the DOC reported greater benefits with regard to knowledge attainment, social support, and empowerment. Those with high bridging social capital also had high diabetes self-care scores. Perhaps, this can be explained by the information gained from individuals who may have different diabetes experiences and treatment regimens that provide sources of education. One study found that 76% of DOC users learned new diabetes management strategies from

their peers [7]. In another study, when compared with non-DOC users, DOC users engaged in more self-care activities related to healthy diet, exercise, checking glucose, and taking insulin [54]. This study also indicates that individuals are able to learn things that their health care providers did not know through social capital.

Social capital provides a sense of social connectedness. Putnam [22] found that social connectedness strongly predicts altruism. Altruism has been identified in other online communities [6,28,55,56]. Individuals who engage in the DOC may be providing emotional, informational, instrumental, or companionship support to other DOC users for several reasons. DOC users may want to prevent others from experiencing any hardships they may have encountered, as such, they provide information to support learning. Conceivably, altruism comes full circle in that the support an individual DOC user provides the community is reciprocated in ways that benefit the individual DOC user in some way. For example, a baby boomer DOC user transitioning into retirement may find meaning and purpose in supporting other DOC users, which has been associated with improved physical function [57].

Overall, the DOC was seen as helpful and study participants reported minor harm only in a few instances. The findings were similar to those of a national survey of the general population [29] and another specialty DOC study [47]. There were marked differences in participants who were not sure if they were helped or harmed by the DOC, which warrants further study. Although additional information about harm was not asked in this study, our findings, and findings of others [47] who explored help and harm in a similar way, suggest that DOC use is beneficial with low risk. It is important to note that online peer health may not be helpful for all individuals with diabetes [58]. A secondary factor that unites peers, such as gender, culture, age, or shared experience [59], which is available within the DOC, may be necessary for optimal outcomes.

In summary, individuals seek online health information to fill a gap in their health care needs. The DOC appears to fill a void in the current health care system with regard to day-to-day support [6,7,54,60] and is perceived as credible and helpful. Health care providers need to understand that although they are key sources for health information, they are among a large network of potential health information sources [61,62], which may include family, friends, and online peers with a similar condition. Access to social support, which has been identified within the DOC, can mediate better health outcomes [63] for baby boomers and younger adults.

Limitations

The sample was overwhelmingly white and living in the United States, which may not be representative of the entire DOCs studied. Furthermore, this study examined only those who could read English. Individuals engaged in non-English speaking DOC sites (ie, EstaTuDiabetes) may elicit different results. The DOC source credibility measured a collection of information from the participant's interaction with DOC users as a whole when in fact a DOC user may rely on information from select individuals who reported harm, it is unknown if that harm caused physical or mental harm or another form of harm. Finally, because of self-selection, generalizations should not be made.

Conclusions

This is the first study to identify how DOC users view source credibility specifically to the DOC and their diabetes health care providers, social capital, and help and harm from the DOC. Baby boomers and younger adults perceived the credibility of DOC information similarly and found DOC use to be beneficial with low risk. DOC users found their health care providers to be more competent and trustworthy compared with the DOC, suggesting that DOC users find their health care provider valuable, despite their DOC use. Furthermore, a randomized clinical trial with DOC-naïve participants is warranted to understand the impact of DOCs on health outcomes, including variations of help and harm.

Acknowledgments

This research was supported by a predoctoral funding from the Jonas Center for Nursing Excellence, John A. Hartford Center and the Noorda Family Foundation, University of Utah Hartford Center of Geriatric Nursing Excellence. In addition, this study was supported by a research grant from Sigma Theta Tau International, Nu Nu Chapter. The authors would like to acknowledge the other members of Litchman's dissertation committee: Ginny Pepper, Erin Rothwell, Scott Wright, Joy Pierce, and Gary Donaldson, and the key informants within the DOCs who made this study possible.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Russell LB, Suh D, Safford MA. Time requirements for diabetes self-management: too much for many? J Fam Pract 2005 Jan;54(1):52-56. [Medline: <u>15623407</u>]
- 2. Colleran K, Starr B, Burge MR. Putting diabetes to the test: analyzing glycemic control based on patients' diabetes knowledge. Diabetes Care 2003 Jul;26(7):2220-2221. [doi: 10.2337/diacare.26.7.2220] [Medline: 12832351]
- Henderson J, Wilson C, Roberts L, Munt R, Crotty M. Social barriers to Type 2 diabetes self-management: the role of capital. Nurs Inq 2014 Dec;21(4):336-345. [doi: 10.1111/nin.12073] [Medline: 24916370]

- 4. McPherson M, Smith SW, Powers A, Zuckerman IH. Association between diabetes patients' knowledge about medications and their blood glucose control. Res Social Adm Pharm 2008 Mar;4(1):37-45. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.sapharm.2007.01.002</u>] [Medline: <u>18342821</u>]
- 5. McMullan M. Patients using the internet to obtain health information: how this affects the patient-health professional relationship. Patient Educ Couns 2006 Oct;63(1-2):24-28. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2005.10.006] [Medline: 16406474]
- 6. Litchman M, Rothwell E, Edelman LS. The diabetes online community: older adults supporting self-care through peer health. Patient Educ Couns 2018 Dec;101(3):518-523. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2017.08.023] [Medline: 28947360]
- Litchman M, Edelman LS, Donaldson GW. Effect of diabetes online community engagement on health indicators: cross-sectional study. JMIR Diabetes 2018 Apr 24;3(2):e8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/diabetes.8603] [Medline: 30291079]
- 8. Hilliard M, Sparling KM, Hitchcock J, Oser TK, Hood KK. The emerging diabetes online community. Curr Diabetes Rev 2015;11(4):261-272 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25901500]
- Martin L, Freedman VA, Schoeni RF, Andreski PM. Health and functioning among baby boomers approaching 60. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2009 May;64(3):369-377 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1093/geronb/gbn040</u>] [Medline: <u>19299256</u>]
- King D, Matheson E, Chirina S, Shankar A, Broman-Fulks J. The status of baby boomers' health in the United States: the healthiest generation? JAMA Intern Med 2013 Mar 11;173(5):385-386. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.2006</u>] [Medline: <u>23381505</u>]
- 11. Renahy E, Parizot I, Chauvin P. Health information seeking on the internet: a double divide? Results from a representative survey in the Paris metropolitan area, France, 2005-2006. BMC Public Health 2008 Feb 21;8:69 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-8-69] [Medline: 18291024]
- 12. Leist A. Social media use of older adults: a mini-review. Gerontology 2013;59(4):378-384 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000346818] [Medline: 23594915]
- Magnezi R, Grosberg D, Novikov I, Ziv A, Shani M, Freedman LS. Characteristics of patients seeking health information online via social health networks versus general Internet sites: a comparative study. Inform Health Soc Care 2015 Mar;40(2):125-138. [doi: 10.3109/17538157.2013.879147] [Medline: 24475937]
- 14. Eysenbach G. Medicine 2.0: social networking, collaboration, participation, apomediation, and openness. J Med Internet Res 2008 Aug 25;10(3):e22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1030] [Medline: 18725354]
- 15. Eysenbach G. Credibility of health information and digital media: new perspectives and implications for youth. Digit Media Youth Credibil 2008 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1162/dmal.9780262562324.123]
- 16. McCroskey J, Teven JJ. Goodwill: a reexamination of the construct and its measurement. Commun Monogr 2009 Jun 2;66(1):90-103. [doi: 10.1080/03637759909376464]
- Wright K, Rains SA. Weak tie support preference and preferred coping styles as predictors of perceived credibility within health-related computer-mediated support groups. Health Commun 2014;29(3):281-287. [doi: 10.1080/10410236.2012.751084] [Medline: 23790220]
- Campbell K, Wright K. On line support groups: an investigation of relationships among source credibility, dimensions of relational communication, and perceptions of emotional support. Commun Res Reports 2002 Mar;19(2):183-193. [doi: 10.1080/08824090209384846]
- Wright K. Perceptions of on line support providers: an examination of perceived homophily, source credibility, communication and social support within on line support groups. Commun Q 2000 Jan;48(1):44-59. [doi: 10.1080/01463370009385579]
- 20. Maloney-Krichmar D, Preece J. A multilevel analysis of sociability, usability, and community dynamics in an online health community. ACM Trans Comput Hum Interact 2005 Jun 1;12(2):201-232 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1145/1067860.1067864]
- 21. Putnam R. Tuning in, tuning out: the strange disappearance of social capital in America. PS Polit Sci Polit 1995 Dec;28(4):664-683 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2307/420517]
- 22. Putnam R. Bowling Alone: The Collapse and Revival of American Community. New York: Simon and Schuster; 2000.
- Hamano T, Fujisawa Y, Yamasaki M, Ito K, Nabika T, Shiwaku K. Contributions of social context to blood pressure: findings from a multilevel analysis of social capital and systolic blood pressure. Am J Hypertens 2011 Jun;24(6):643-646. [doi: 10.1038/ajh.2011.37] [Medline: 21415843]
- 24. Kawachi I, Kennedy BP, Lochner K, Prothrow-Stith D. Social capital, income inequality, and mortality. Am J Public Health 1997 Sep;87(9):1491-1498. [Medline: <u>9314802</u>]
- 25. Kawachi I, Kennedy BP, Glass R. Social capital and self-rated health: a contextual analysis. Am J Public Health 1999 Aug;89(8):1187-1193. [Medline: 10432904]
- 26. Rose R. How much does social capital add to individual health? A survey study of Russians. Soc Sci Med 2000 Nov;51(9):1421-1435. [Medline: <u>11037227</u>]
- 27. Kamimura A, Tabler J, Nourian MM, Assasnik N, Wright L, Ashby J. Prevention and management of hypertension and diabetes using social capital and physical activity among socioeconomically disadvantaged populations. Fam Community Health 2017;40(3):205-211. [doi: 10.1097/FCH.00000000000156] [Medline: 28525440]

RenderX

- 28. Reeves D, Blickem C, Vassilev I, Brooks H, Kennedy A, Richardson G, et al. The contribution of social networks to the health and self-management of patients with long-term conditions: a longitudinal study. PLoS One 2014;9(6):e98340 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0098340] [Medline: 24887107]
- 29. Fox S. The Social Life of Health Information. Washington DC: Pew Research Center's Internet & American Life Project: Pew Research Center; 2011.
- 30. Lau A, Gabarron E, Fernandez-Luque L, Armayones M. Social media in health--what are the safety concerns for health consumers? Health Inf Manag 2012;41(2):30-35. [Medline: <u>23705132</u>]
- 31. Hernandez M. dLife. 2011. Ten reasons why you should join a diabetes social network URL: <u>http://www.dlife.com/dLife/do/ShowContent/daily_living/Viewpoints/Manny_Hernandez/join-a-diabetes-social-network.html</u> [accessed 2019-04-26] [WebCite Cache ID 77vXtQe57]
- 32. Ellison N, Steinfield BC, Lampe C. The Benefits of Facebook. J Comput Mediat Commun 2007;12(4):1143-1168. [doi: 10.1111/j.1083-6101.2007.00367.x]
- Greene J, Choudhry NK, Kilabuk E, Shrank WH. Online social networking by patients with diabetes: a qualitative evaluation of communication with Facebook. J Gen Intern Med 2011 Mar;26(3):287-292 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-010-1526-3] [Medline: 20945113]
- 34. Williams D. On and off the 'net: scales for social capital in an online era. J Comp Mediated Comm 2006 Jan;11(2):593-628. [doi: 10.1111/j.1083-6101.2006.00029.x]
- 35. Ware J. User's Manual for the SF-12v2 Health Survey. Lincoln, Rhode Island: QualityMetric Incorporated; 2007.
- 36. Weinger K, Butler HA, Welch GW, La Greca AM. Measuring diabetes self-care: a psychometric analysis of the Self-Care Inventory-Revised with adults. Diabetes Care 2005 Jun;28(6):1346-1352 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15920050]
- Harris P, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)--a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009 Apr;42(2):377-381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010] [Medline: 18929686]
- 38. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows. Armonk, NY: IBM Corporation; 2012.
- Zulman D, Kirch M, Zheng K, An LC. Trust in the internet as a health resource among older adults: analysis of data from a nationally representative survey. J Med Internet Res 2011 Feb 16;13(1):e19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1552] [Medline: 21324832]
- Haluza D, Naszay M, Stockinger A, Jungwirth D. Digital natives versus digital immigrants: influence of online health information seeking on the doctor-patient relationship. Health Commun 2017 Dec;32(11):1342-1349. [doi: 10.1080/10410236.2016.1220044] [Medline: 27710132]
- 41. Litchman ML, Rothwell E, Edelman LS. The diabetes online community: older adults supporting self-care through peer health. Patient Educ Couns 2018 Dec;101(3):518-523. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2017.08.023] [Medline: 28947360]
- 42. Litchman ML, Walker HR, Ng AH, Wawrzynski SE, Oser SM, Greenwood DA, et al. State of the science: a scoping review and gap analysis of diabetes online communities. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2019 Mar 10:1932296819831042. [doi: 10.1177/1932296819831042] [Medline: 30854884]
- 43. Dahlberg L, Agahi N, Lennartsson C. Lonelier than ever? Loneliness of older people over two decades. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 2018;75:96-103 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.archger.2017.11.004] [Medline: 29220739]
- 44. Gonyea J, Curley A, Melekis K, Levine N, Lee Y. Loneliness and depression among older adults in urban subsidized housing. J Aging Health 2018 Dec;30(3):458-474. [doi: 10.1177/0898264316682908] [Medline: 28553790]
- 45. Lewis J, Gee PM, Ho C, Miller LM. Understanding why older adults with type 2 diabetes join diabetes online communities: semantic network analyses. JMIR Aging 2018 Jun 28;1(1):e10649. [doi: 10.2196/10649]
- 46. Litchman ML, Snider C, Edelman LS, Wawrzynski SE, Gee PM. Diabetes online community user perceptions of successful aging with diabetes: analysis of a #DSMA Tweet chat. JMIR Aging 2018 Jun 22;1(1):e10176. [doi: 10.2196/10176]
- 47. White K, Gebremariam A, Lewis DM, Nordgren W, Wedding J, Pasek J, et al. Motivations for participation in an online social media community for diabetes. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2018 Dec;12(3):712-718 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1932296817749611] [Medline: 29310448]
- 48. Grosberg D, Grinvald H, Reuveni H, Magnezi R. Frequent surfing on social health networks is associated with increased knowledge and patient health activation. J Med Internet Res 2016 Dec 10;18(8):e212 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5832] [Medline: 27511272]
- 49. Oser TK, Oser SM, McGinley EL, Stuckey HL. A novel approach to identifying barriers and facilitators in raising a child with type 1 diabetes: qualitative analysis of caregiver blogs. JMIR Diabetes 2017 Oct 26;2(2):e27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/diabetes.8966] [Medline: 30291073]
- 50. Gilbert K, Dodson S, Gill M, McKenzie R. Online communities are valued by people with type 1 diabetes for peer support: how well do health professionals understand this? Diabetes Spectrum 2012 Aug 15;25(3):180-191. [doi: 10.2337/diaspect.25.3.180]
- Hoffman-Goetz L, Donelle L, Thomson MD. Clinical guidelines about diabetes and the accuracy of peer information in an unmoderated online health forum for retired persons. Inform Health Soc Care 2009 Mar;34(2):91-99. [doi: 10.1080/17538150902865136] [Medline: 19412842]



- Brady E, Segar J, Sanders C. "I Always Vet Things": Navigating Privacy and the Presentation of Self on Health Discussion Boards Among Individuals with Long-Term Conditions. J Med Internet Res 2016 Dec 13;18(10):e274 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6019] [Medline: 27737819]
- Rinker J, Dickinson JK, Litchman ML, Williams AS, Kolb LE, Cox C, et al. The 2017 Diabetes Educator and the Diabetes Self-Management Education National Practice Survey. Diabetes Educ 2018 Jun;44(3):260-268. [doi: 10.1177/0145721718765446] [Medline: 29589821]
- 54. Nelakurthi A, Pinto AM, Cook CB, Jones L, Boyle M, Ye J, et al. Should patients with diabetes be encouraged to integrate social media into their care plan? Future Sci OA 2018 Jul;4(7):FSO323 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4155/fsoa-2018-0021] [Medline: 30112191]
- 55. Oh S. The characteristics and motivations of health answerers for sharing information, knowledge, and experiences in online environments. J Am Soc Inf Sci 2011 Nov 01;63(3):543-557. [doi: 10.1002/asi.21676]
- 56. van Uden-Kraan CF, Drossaert CH, Taal E, Shaw BR, Seydel ER, van de Laar MA. Empowering processes and outcomes of participation in online support groups for patients with breast cancer, arthritis, or fibromyalgia. Qual Health Res 2008 Mar;18(3):405-417. [doi: 10.1177/1049732307313429] [Medline: 18235163]
- 57. Kim E, Kawachi I, Chen Y, Kubzansky LD. Association between purpose in life and objective measures of physical function in older adults. JAMA Psychiatry 2017 Dec 01;74(10):1039-1045 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.2145] [Medline: 28813554]
- 58. Smith S, Paul G, Kelly A, Whitford DL, O'Shea E, O'Dowd T. Peer support for patients with type 2 diabetes: cluster randomised controlled trial. Br Med J 2011 Feb 15;342:d715 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.d715] [Medline: 21324992]
- 59. Heisler M, Vijan V, Makki F, Piette JD. Diabetes control with reciprocal peer support versus nurse care management: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med 2010 Oct 19;153(8):507-515 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-153-8-201010190-00007] [Medline: 20956707]
- 60. O'Kane A, Park SY, Mentis H, Blandford A, Chen Y. Turning to peers: integrating understanding of the self, the condition, and others' experiences in making sense of complex chronic conditions. Comput Supported Coop Work 2016 Aug 17;25(6):477-501. [doi: 10.1007/s10606-016-9260-y]
- 61. Sillence E, Briggs P, Harris PR, Fishwick L. How do patients evaluate and make use of online health information? Soc Sci Med 2007 May;64(9):1853-1862. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.socscimed.2007.01.012</u>] [Medline: <u>17328998</u>]
- 62. Fox S. After Dr Google: peer-to-peer health care. Pediatrics 2013 Jun;131(Suppl 4):S224-S225. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2012-3786K] [Medline: 23729765]
- 63. Jiang S, Street RL. Pathway linking internet health information seeking to better health: a moderated mediation study. Health Commun 2017 Dec;32(8):1024-1031. [doi: 10.1080/10410236.2016.1196514] [Medline: 27464036]

Abbreviations

HbA_{1c}: glycosylated hemoglobin DOC: diabetes online community LADA: latent autoimmune diabetes of adulthood REDCap: Research Electronic Data Capture SCI-R: Self-Care Inventory Revised

Edited by J Wang; submitted 25.04.18; peer-reviewed by T Oser, S Myneni; comments to author 20.06.18; revised version received 01.02.19; accepted 04.04.19; published 26.09.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Litchman ML, Edelman LS Perceptions of the Diabetes Online Community's Credibility, Social Capital, and Help and Harm: Cross-Sectional Comparison Between Baby Boomers and Younger Adults JMIR Aging 2019;2(2):e10857 URL: https://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e10857/ doi:10.2196/10857 PMID:31573907

©Michelle L E. Litchman, Linda S Edelman. Originally published in JMIR Aging (http://aging.jmir.org), 26.09.2019 This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

https://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e10857/

Review

Innovative Assisted Living Tools, Remote Monitoring Technologies, Artificial Intelligence-Driven Solutions, and Robotic Systems for Aging Societies: Systematic Review

A Hasan Sapci^{1*}, MD; H Aylin Sapci^{*}, MD

¹Adelphi University, Garden City, NY, United States ^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

A Hasan Sapci, MD Adelphi University 1 South Avenue, Nexus Building Garden City, NY, 11530 United States Phone: 1 5168338156 Email: <u>sapci@adelphi.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: The increase in life expectancy and recent advancements in technology and medical science have changed the way we deliver health services to the aging societies. Evidence suggests that home telemonitoring can significantly decrease the number of readmissions, and continuous monitoring of older adults' daily activities and health-related issues might prevent medical emergencies.

Objective: The primary objective of this review was to identify advances in assistive technology devices for seniors and aging-in-place technology and to determine the level of evidence for research on remote patient monitoring, smart homes, telecare, and artificially intelligent monitoring systems.

Methods: A literature review was conducted using Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature Plus, MEDLINE, EMBASE, Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Xplore, ProQuest Central, Scopus, and Science Direct. Publications related to older people's care, independent living, and novel assistive technologies were included in the study.

Results: A total of 91 publications met the inclusion criteria. In total, four themes emerged from the data: technology acceptance and readiness, novel patient monitoring and smart home technologies, intelligent algorithm and software engineering, and robotics technologies. The results revealed that most studies had poor reference standards without an explicit critical appraisal.

Conclusions: The use of ubiquitous in-home monitoring and smart technologies for aged people's care will increase their independence and the health care services available to them as well as improve frail elderly people's health care outcomes. This review identified four different themes that require different conceptual approaches to solution development. Although the engineering teams were focused on prototype and algorithm development, the medical science teams were concentrated on outcome research. We also identified the need to develop custom technology solutions for different aging societies. The convergence of medicine and informatics could lead to the development of new interdisciplinary research models and new assistive products for the care of older adults.

(JMIR Aging 2019;2(2):e15429) doi:<u>10.2196/15429</u>

KEYWORDS

innovative assisted living tools for aging society; artificially intelligent home monitoring; older adults; robotic technologies; smart home

Introduction

RenderX

Life expectancy has increased worldwide, and countries have been experiencing the same challenges regardless of the

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e15429/
```

geographical location. According to the US Census Bureau, the population aged ≥ 65 years is expected to double over the next three decades and reach 83.7 million [1]. One of the most significant challenges of the aging population is that the incidence of chronic conditions such as dementia, Alzheimer

disease, congestive heart failure, and cancer and the need for medical attention have increased. However, rapid advances in technology have revolutionized medicine along with health care for the elderly.

Using a personal computer, remote patient monitoring device, smartphones, and mobile apps to improve the quality of the older persons' lives was not an option in the past. Each new technology enabled researchers and clinicians to develop new disease management protocols, especially for frail elderly people with chronic diseases and dementia. Recent randomized controlled trials and systematic reviews have documented that remote monitoring reduces specific 30-day hospital readmission and mortality rates [2,3]. Aging in place is defined as "remaining living in the community, with some level of independence, rather than in residential care" [4]. Although technology usage is limited among seniors aged ≥75 years, several prototype and experimental systems were developed, and various studies were conducted to support the elderly by clinicians, computer scientists, data scientists, and engineers; however, few studies explored the current trends in senior care technology research [5]. Therefore, the aim of this study was to explore the current research trends and level of evidence for remote patient monitoring, smart home, and artificially intelligent monitoring systems.

Methods

Study Design

The literature search was conducted in February 2019. Remote monitoring and intelligent health care technologies research conducted in both health care and technology disciplines as well as the following literature repositories were chosen for the search: Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature Plus, MEDLINE, EMBASE, Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Xplore, ProQuest Central, Scopus, and Science Direct.

A variety of synonymous terms were combined using Boolean logic, and a combination of three groups of keywords—(1) elderly, (2) home care, and (3) assistive technology—was selected as the keywords. To include all relevant publications, their thesaurus equivalent words and associated Medical Subject Headings terms—aging, aged, telemedicine, elderly people, nursing home, home health care, independent living, ambient assistive living, smart home technology, self-help devices, and artificial intelligence (AI) in older people's care—were also included in the search (Table 1). We analyzed each article by the level of evidence and study type, objectives, and highlights. A combination of quantitative and qualitative approaches was used in the data analysis.

Table 1. Keyworus and synonyms	Table 1.	Keywords	and	synonyms
--------------------------------	----------	----------	-----	----------

Keyword	Synonyms
Elderly	Aging (MeSH) ^a or Aged (MeSH) or Elderly People
Home care	Nursing Home (MeSH) or Home Health Care or Independent Living (MeSH)
Assistive technology	Ambient Assistive Living or Smart Home Technology or Telemedicine (MeSH) or Assistive Technology or Self-Help Devices (MeSH) or Artificial Intelligence (MeSH) in Eldercare

^aMeSH: Medical Subject Headings.

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed method peer-reviewed publications and published conference papers were included. Research articles and case reports related to assistive technology assessment for elderly care, set in homes, smart homes, experimental settings, nursing homes, and rehabilitation settings were selected.

The inclusion and exclusion criteria are listed in Textboxes 1 and 2, respectively.

Textbox 1. Inclusion criteria.

- Published after January 2000 in English language
- Peer-reviewed journal articles and published conference papers
- Studies that focused on the latest technological, artificial intelligence, and complex software algorithms solutions for elderly care and novel assistive technologies and independent living
- Studies set in homes, smart homes, experimental laboratory settings, nursing homes, or rehabilitation settings
- Publications related to older people's care, independent living, and novel assistive technologies

Textbox 2. Exclusion criteria.

- Published before January 2000 in languages other than English
- Literature reviews and systematic reviews
- Book chapters, dissertations, theses, magazine articles, reports, wire feeds, position papers, editorials, white papers, and working papers

Study Selection

A total of 1721 publications were found at the end of the initial search of the selected databases. Search strings and return values for each database are listed in Textbox 3 and Table 2, respectively. The list was filtered by removing duplicates, the

remaining abstracts were assessed, and the publications that did not meet the inclusion and exclusion criteria were excluded. At the end of this process, 91 eligible publications for inclusion were identified. Figure 1 displays the search diagram and the number of articles assessed at each stage of the review.

Textbox 3. Search string.

("Aging" OR "Aged" OR "Elderly People") AND ("Nursing Home" OR "Independent Living") AND ("Self-Help Devices" OR "Telemedicine" OR "Ambient Assistive Living" or "Service Robot")

Table 2. Search queries and return values.

Database name	Return value (n)
Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature Plus	93
MEDLINE	159
EMBASE	279
Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Xplore	31
ProQuest Central	747
Scopus	352
Science Direct	60



Figure 1. Search methodology. CINAHL: Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature; IEEE: Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers.



Results

Analysis of the 91 full articles revealed innovative technologies that were developed to monitor older people's activities using various sensors, telemedicine, assistive robots, and remote monitoring devices. Multimedia Appendix 1 lists the characteristics and highlights of the included studies [6-86].

Our review determined that the studies either focused on technology acceptance or examined the development of new patient monitoring and smart home technologies, real-time transmission of raw data, and AI algorithms. In the publications reviewed, most articles were qualitative, and only five studies were randomized controlled trials. First, we categorized the articles by types of study design. Most studies were quasi-experiment (n=43) and case reports (n=39). The others were case-control studies (n=3), cohort studies (n=1), and randomized controlled trials (n=5). The number and percentage of these articles are listed in Table 3.

Second, we evaluated the levels of evidence of each article. The Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine levels rates evidence based on the study design, rigor, and validity and judges the strength of evidence in a technically accurate and

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e15429/
```

RenderX

easily understandable manner. Therefore, this well-established and accepted standard was selected to determine the level of evidence [87]. The majority of the articles were listed as Level IV evidence that represents poor or nonindependent reference standards (49/91, 49%). Only 6% (6/91) of articles were listed as Level I evidence, which represents the studies with good reference standards. The classification of publications by levels of evidence is shown in Table 4.

Third, to determine the current status and future challenges of disruptive technologies to support independent living, the selected articles were analyzed with regard to study objectives. Figure 2 summarizes the focus of the articles evaluated. Of 91 articles, the majority were focused on older adults' acceptance and adoption of monitoring technology (n=17), smart home and telemedicine apps (n=16), robotic technologies (n=14), and usability evaluation (n=11). Many researchers evaluated novel remote monitoring technologies (n=9) and artificially intelligent assistive technologies (n=9). The remainder of the publications were about pattern recognition (n=6), wearable and mobile technologies (n=1).

Fourth, as there is no widely accepted classification system to evaluate elderly care research that focuses on technology solutions, we conducted a thematic analysis, removed overlapping articles, identified 42 publications, and analyzed each device and app. Braun and Clarke [88] thematic analysis method was used to determine the patterns. Finally, the studies that represent evolving topics were identified, and four themes emerged: technology acceptance and readiness, novel patient monitoring and smart home technologies, intelligent algorithm and software engineering, and robotics technologies (Multimedia Appendix 2) [6-29,56,57,65,73,103].

Table 3.Study types (N=91).

Category	Articles, n (%)
Case report	39 (42)
Case-control study	3 (3)
Cohort study	1 (1)
Quasi-experiment	43 (47)
Randomized controlled trial	5 (5)

Table 4. Levels of evidence (N=91).

Category	Articles, n (%)
I	5 (5)
II	6 (6)
IV	45 (49)
V	35 (38)

Figure 2. Study by research focus.



Technology Acceptance and Readiness

Overview

This theme encompasses studies related to technology adoption. Researchers investigated older adults' willingness to accept contactless monitoring technologies, specific electronic health system, and smart home–based technologies such as bed, motion, kitchen safety, and fall detection sensors [6-8].

In addition to technology adoption, some studies explored perceived usefulness of telehealth kiosk—telehealth care systems that measure bed and chair occupation and detect falls, privacy concerns of in-home monitoring systems, older people's attitudes toward assistive telemonitoring systems, acceptability of home monitoring technologies, and video-based monitoring technologies that capture data about daily activities [9-89]. Caregivers' acceptance of home telecare technologies was also investigated along with wearable and ambient technologies [14,15].

Figure 3. Technologies used for aging societies. RF: radio frequency.

Novel Patient Monitoring and Smart Home Technologies

This theme comprises sophisticated systems that consist of home service robot; home and body sensor network; mobile device; cloud servers and remote caregivers; supervised machine learning approach and context-based reasoning to perform a clinical assessment of dementia; proof-of-concept platforms that consists of a Zigbee network, sensors, a home client, and remote server; and novel protocols over SMS to monitor elderly and alert caregivers when a fall occurs [90-92].

Common denominators for smart home for health care, robotics, wearable and mobile systems, and telemedicine apps were determined by analyzing each device and app. Our study revealed that researchers who focused on smart homes preferred novel sensor systems and ultrasonic receivers and transmitters for their study, and those who focused on remote monitoring preferred custom wearable devices and telemedicine equipment (Figure 3).



In Europe, an international experimental Ambient Assisted Living project called Enhanced Complete Ambient Assisted Living Experiment successfully tested fall detection, activity classification, and energy expenditure algorithms to monitor patients' activity and reduce morbidity and mortality [17]. Another novel technology explored by researchers was virtual reality (VR), and new technologies about the display quality, presence, user input, fidelity, and usability of virtual experiences demonstrated effectiveness to assess functional behavior and emphasized the potential of VR technology to empower dementia patients [18]. Several experimental prototype devices were also developed to monitor elderly patients' progress and treatment. With regard to innovative low-cost Bluetooth-enabled technologies, some researchers developed a telediagnosis system for early detection of Alzheimer disease and captured the movement patterns [93]. A Web-based home monitoring system using wearable sensors was developed for patients with Parkinson disease [94].

A randomized controlled trial was designed to evaluate the Integrated Telehealth Education and Activation of Mood project's clinical outcomes and demonstrated that the integration

RenderX

of telemonitoring intervention improved geriatric home care patients' problem-solving skills and self-efficacy in managing their chronic illness [19]. In a different study, a sensor network system that comprised ultrasonic receivers, signal generators, radio frequency transmitters, ultrasonic 3D tags, and a computer successfully detected the accident-prone events in advance [95]. The increasing availability of the broadband internet, cellular communication technologies, internet of things apps that connect multiple devices and the decreasing cost of sensors have transformed various industries and markets. Our study demonstrates the potential of novel platforms that can improve assisted living and elderly care (Figure 4).

Figure 4. Technology solutions for elderly care.

Main Groups of Technology Solutions

Novel Technologies and Solutions for Assistive Living



Intelligent Algorithm Development and Software Engineering

This theme comprises data mining algorithms that collect data about the environment and intelligently predict possible problems to make health care decisions, context-aware middleware to sense and respond to the user's environment, pyroelectric sensors, and infrared optoelectronic components designed to detect electromagnetic radiation and analyze the reasoning process in order to detect elderly people's activity [21-96].

Some researchers developed predictive models and reported the optimal classifier of assistive technology adoption for people with dementia [22]. Another proof-of-concept navigation system based on augmented reality successfully generated a route to a

specific destination based on the user context including well-known places, social relationships, and point of interest (Figure 4) [23]. In information science, the term *ontology* encompasses entities, relations, functions, axioms, and instances. Ontology-based models combine data from multiple sources [97]. Researchers designed and successfully tested an ontology-based prototype knowledge system that can collect data from an RGB camera, 3D depth camera, and microphones [98].

Figure 5 summarizes the AI algorithms used for independent living apps. Most AI studies focused on instance-based algorithms, decision tree, Bayesian algorithm, clustering, association rule learning, artificial neural network, and deep learning algorithms.



Figure 5. Artificial intelligence algorithms for independent living.



Robotics Technologies

This theme encompasses various robotic technologies that affect elderly care. Although some studies investigated a range of advanced AI technologies [24,99], others examined simple versions to evaluate robot-assisted activities. The increasing number of individuals that require rehabilitation and assistance has driven innovators to develop new robotics systems that can be integrated with elderly care solutions. Telepresence, companion, home automation and service, rehabilitation and health monitoring, and reminder robots can assist individual living.

The researchers who assessed AI technology for domestic assistive services developed eight different scenarios to understand the usefulness of the domestic robot in everyday situations and partially validated their results with experiments involving 100 participants [100]. Other researchers who evaluated robotic technologies used commercially available robots with tactile, light, and posture sensors and focused on studies about socially interactive robots. Similarly, a team of researchers in Japan developed a partner robot to relieve the solidarity feeling of elderly through conversation, quizzes, tongue twisters, and arithmetic calculations, and the experimental results were found to be promising [25]. Telepresence robots are remote-controlled devices that a user can drive from a different location and communicate with a remote site using the integrated videoconferencing systems.

A team of researchers used a sensor network infrastructure that comprised pressure monitor, glucose, weight, and oxygen sensors integrated with a telepresence robot. The project received support from the European Commission and deployed in real homes across Europe [26]. Another multidisciplinary effort to develop a mobile robotic assistant was the Pearl project. Researchers from the University of Michigan, University of Pittsburgh, and Carnegie Mellon University developed an autonomous robot to provide cognitive orthotic functions and tested it in a residential retirement community successfully [27].

Interestingly, some studies did not find any difference between a therapeutic robocat and plush cats, and others emphasized technical challenges of intelligent modular service mobile robots that comprised tactile, infrared, and ultrasound sensors; Kinect and voice generation; and recognition systems [24,101] Robots may also not be the best solution for certain care-related activities. A remote-controlled Spykee robot was used to make home hazard assessments for fall preventions, and it did not find an agreement between the robot and in-person video assessment [28]. A recent study conducted in Europe evaluated a software framework's efficiency using a humanoid robot and

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e15429/
```

RenderX

validated each solution's efficiency using simulation and real case experiments [99].

This study revealed the multidisciplinary aspect of robotic technology and the development of autonomous mobile robots that can interact with elderly people and provide therapeutic benefits. The implementation of autonomous robots in elderly care requires collaboration among academic institutions, clinicians, and industry players and a focus on continuously improving the health care experience.

Discussion

Principal Findings

The purpose of this literature review was to determine the best available evidence about the development and implementation of technological solutions for elderly care, and in this paper, we report that the evolving technology trends can transform the aging population and ways that AI and pattern recognition might impact older individuals' care.

Specifically, we examined publications about intelligent remote monitoring, smart home health care, and robotic technologies to respond to the following research questions: (1) *what are the current trends in aging-in-place technology research?* and (2) *what is the level of evidence for remote patient monitoring, smart home, and artificially intelligent monitoring systems?*

To answer the first question, we determined the wide range of studies that focused on technology acceptance, novel patient monitoring and smart home technologies, intelligent algorithm development and software engineering, and robotics technologies. To answer the second question, the breakdown of the articles identified that most studies (85%) had poor reference standards without an explicit critical appraisal (Table 3), and the majority of the publications were qualitative.

This literature review demonstrated that most studies between 2000 and 2010 were designed to examine older adults' perceptions of technology. Intelligent assistive technologies have changed with an unpredictable pace, and consequently, there has been an increasing interest in exploring patient monitoring and home care technologies. The studies about technology acceptance led to more sophisticated studies that used wireless monitoring devices, sensors, intelligent algorithms, and experimental or quasi-experimental research methods. Thus, these studies can be considered as the first era of technology research for the aging society (Figure 4).

After 2010, we noticed an increase in the number of studies that explored prototype system development, implementation of new smart home technologies using sensors, development of assistive robots, and design of new AI and machine learning systems to support elderly care. The advancements in technology gave the researchers the ability to develop sophisticated AI algorithms, integrate advanced context acquisition methods, and analyze and automate high-level and complex tasks. This period can be considered as the second era of technology research for aging society, as many studies documented the potential use of robotic technologies, reported encouraging adoption rates, and recommended further experimental studies. Our analysis demonstrated that many of the studies used unique technological solutions for different elderly groups. For example, studies that support independent lifestyle were designed for older people living alone in their home, whereas studies about new technologies for dementia and patients with Alzheimer disease were designed for older people living in nursing homes.

Data generated from medical devices have been growing so fast that using manual techniques to analyze data is not an option anymore to monitor home care patients. A recently published study assessed the use of patient-generated data in clinical practice and emphasized its impact on health outcomes [102]. Over the last decade, there has been a significant increase in the number of studies that focused on AI and machine learning. Some studies investigated user perceptions, barriers, and novel system development using sensors and smart home devices, whereas others focused on the development of context-aware and adaptive technology development. This technology can be integrated into different environments; can collect specific information such as temperatures, geographic locations, and user preference; and can deliver the relevant data depending on a set of variables unique to the user. Our review also revealed that the focus of AI apps for elderly care and sophisticated algorithms could improve the accuracy and the progress of analytical techniques. Therefore, it is likely that when combined with AI apps, remote monitoring systems will work faster and make more accurate predictions.

Moreover, this study identified several studies about novel innovative systems to monitor older people's health. Many of these studies were proof-of-concept systems to demonstrate the feasibility of the proposed equipment or app. It is quite challenging to determine the benefits and long-term impact of each technology or prototype systems because some technologies might become widely adopted in time, whereas others cannot find enough support for implementation. Furthermore, designing studies to validate health care institutions', nursing homes', and individual patients' technology adoption rates for elderly care might be challenging. Thus, we recommend nationwide studies to monitor technology adoption trends. Although this is an ambitious objective for individual researchers, governments and academic research institutions can collaborate and conduct these studies.

Limitations

This study has some limitations. First, most study findings were not comparable because of the various research settings and types of technology used. Second, the majority of the studies were uncontrolled and had small user groups, and their level of evidence was between IV (45/91, 50%) and V (35/91, 39%). Owing to small sample sizes and methodological weaknesses in the studies, it was difficult to generalize their outcomes.

Conclusions

Medical and engineering sciences have different principles and use different approaches for assisted living, home care, and telecare innovations. It is probable that older people's care will rely more on technology-driven patient solutions and AI algorithms to determine early warning predictions and initiate the interventions at earlier stages. Hence, we also propose the

XSL•FO

development of custom technology solutions for different aging societies: (1) novel smart home apps and sensor-based systems for older people living alone, (2) home service robots and telemedicine apps for older people living with family members, (3) wearable and remote monitoring devices for older people living in retirement communities, and (4) technologies to assist older people with dementia living in nursing homes and assisted living facilities (Figure 6). Machine learning and AI might be embedded into any hardware device, and further study is needed to identify aging society's custom technological needs and determine AI research priorities. Taking into consideration different aging societies' custom needs will improve older people's independent living skills and elderly patients' health care outcomes.





Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Characteristics of included studies. [DOCX File , 35 KB - aging v2i2e15429 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Emerging technology solutions. [DOCX File, 18 KB - aging v2i2e15429 app2.docx]

References

RenderX

- 1. Ortman JM, Velkoff VA. Census. 2014. An Aging Nation: The Older Population in the United States URL: <u>https://www.census.gov/prod/2014pubs/p25-1140.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-07-01]
- Pekmezaris R, Tortez L, Williams M, Patel V, Makaryus A, Zeltser R, et al. Home telemonitoring in heart failure: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Health Aff (Millwood) 2018 Dec;37(12):1983-1989. [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2018.05087] [Medline: 30633680]
- Blum K, Gottlieb SS. The effect of a randomized trial of home telemonitoring on medical costs, 30-day readmissions, mortality, and health-related quality of life in a cohort of community-dwelling heart failure patients. J Card Fail 2014 Jul;20(7):513-521. [doi: 10.1016/j.cardfail.2014.04.016] [Medline: 24769270]

- 4. Davey J, Joux V, Nana G. The Hub: New Zealand Government. 2004. Accommodation Options for Older People in Aotearoa/New Zealand URL: <u>https://thehub.sia.govt.nz/assets/documents/</u>
- accommodation options for older people in aotearoa new zealand.pdf [accessed 2019-07-01]
 Anderson M, Perris A. Pew Research Center. 2017 May. Tech Adoption Climbs Among Older Adults URL: <u>https://www.pewinternet.org/2017/05/17/technology-use-among-seniors/</u> [accessed 2019-07-01]
- Claes V, Devriendt E, Tournoy J, Milisen K. Attitudes and perceptions of adults of 60 years and older towards in-home monitoring of the activities of daily living with contactless sensors: an explorative study. Int J Nurs Stud 2015 Jan;52(1):134-148. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2014.05.010] [Medline: 24951084]
- Botella C, Etchemendy E, Castilla D, Baños RM, García-Palacios A, Quero S, et al. An e-health system for the elderly (Butler Project): a pilot study on acceptance and satisfaction. Cyberpsychol Behav 2009 Jun;12(3):255-262. [doi: 10.1089/cpb.2008.0325] [Medline: 19445633]
- Courtney K, Demiris G, Rantz M, Skubic M. Needing smart home technologies: the perspectives of older adults in continuing care retirement communities. Inform Prim Care 2008;16(3):195-201 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.14236/jhi.v16i3.694] [Medline: 19094406]
- Demiris G, Thompson H, Boquet J, Le T, Chaudhuri S, Chung J. Older adults' acceptance of a community-based telehealth wellness system. Inform Health Soc Care 2013 Jan;38(1):27-36 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3109/17538157.2011.647938] [Medline: 22571733]
- 10. Frennert SA, Forsberg A, Östlund B. Elderly people's perceptions of a telehealthcare system: relative advantage, compatibility, complexity and observability. J Technol Human Serv 2013;31(3):218-237. [doi: <u>10.1080/15228835.2013.814557</u>]
- 11. Demiris G, Oliver DP, Dickey G, Skubic M, Rantz M. Findings from a participatory evaluation of a smart home application for older adults. Technol Health Care 2008;16(2):111-118. [doi: <u>10.3233/thc-2008-16205</u>] [Medline: <u>18487857</u>]
- 12. Mertens VA, Wille M, Theis S. Attitudes of Elderly People towards Assistive System: Influence of Amortization Barriers on the Adherence in Technically Assisted Rehabilitation Diffusion of Health Technologies. In: Proceedings of the 19th Triennial Congress of the International Ergonomics Association. 2015 Presented at: IEA'15; August 9-14, 2015; Melbourne, Australia URL: https://www.iea.cc/congress/2015/1592.pdf
- Mihailidis A, Cockburn A, Longley C, Boger J. The acceptability of home monitoring technology among community-dwelling older adults and baby boomers. Assist Technol 2008;20(1):1-12. [doi: <u>10.1080/10400435.2008.10131927</u>] [Medline: <u>18751575</u>]
- 14. Mehrabian S, Extra J, Wu YH, Pino M, Traykov L, Rigaud AS. The perceptions of cognitively impaired patients and their caregivers of a home telecare system. Med Devices (Auckl) 2015;8:21-29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/MDER.S70520] [Medline: 25552909]
- Merilahti J, Pärkkä J, Antila K, Paavilainen P, Mattila E, Malm E, et al. Compliance and technical feasibility of long-term health monitoring with wearable and ambient technologies. J Telemed Telecare 2009;15(6):302-309. [doi: 10.1258/jtt.2009.081106] [Medline: 19720768]
- Junnila S, Kailanto H, Merilahti J, Vainio A, Vehkaoja A, Zakrzewski M, et al. Wireless, multipurpose in-home health monitoring platform: two case trials. IEEE Trans Inform Technol Biomed 2010;14(2):447-455. [doi: 10.1109/titb.2009.2037615]
- Bourke AK, Prescher S, Koehler F. Embedded Fall and Activity Monitoring for a Wearable Ambient Assisted Living Solution for Older Adults. In: Proceedings of the 2012 Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society. 2012 Presented at: EMBS'12; August 28-September 1, 2012; San Diego, CA, USA p. 248-251. [doi: 10.1109/embc.2012.6345916]
- Flynn D, van Schaik P, Blackman T, Femcott C, Hobbs B, Calderon C. Developing a virtual reality-based methodology for people with dementia: a feasibility study. Cyberpsychol Behav 2003 Dec;6(6):591-611. [doi: <u>10.1089/109493103322725379</u>] [Medline: <u>14756925</u>]
- Gellis ZD, Kenaley BL, Have T. Integrated telehealth care for chronic illness and depression in geriatric home care patients: the Integrated Telehealth Education and Activation of Mood (I-TEAM) study. J Am Geriatr Soc 2014 May;62(5):889-895. [doi: <u>10.1111/jgs.12776</u>] [Medline: <u>24655228</u>]
- Kurniangish, Nugroho LE, Widyawan, Lazuardi L, Non-alinsavath K. Ontology-based Context Aware for Ubiquitous Home Care for Elderly People. In: Proceedings of the 2015 2nd International Conference on Information Technology, Computer, and Electrical Engineering. 2015 Presented at: ICITACEE'15; October 16-18, 2015; Semarang, Indonesia. [doi: 10.1109/icitacee.2015.7437849]
- Dongxia G, Wei L, Lei W. An Intelligent Reasoning Machine for the Home-based Care. In: Proceedings of the 2015 7th International Conference on Electronics, Computers and Artificial Intelligence. 2015 Presented at: ECAI'15; June 25-27, 2015; Bucharest, Romania. [doi: 10.1109/ecai.2015.7301153]
- 22. Zhang S, McClean SI, Nugent CD, Donnelly MP, Galway L, Scotney BW, et al. A predictive model for assistive technology adoption for people with dementia. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 2014 Jan;18(1):375-383. [doi: 10.1109/JBHI.2013.2267549] [Medline: 24403437]

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e15429/
```

RenderX
- 23. Hervás R, Bravo J, Fontecha J. An assistive navigation system based on augmented reality and context awareness for people with mild cognitive impairments. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 2014 Jan;18(1):368-374. [doi: 10.1109/JBHI.2013.2266480] [Medline: 24403436]
- 24. Chivarov N, Shivarov S, Yovchev K. Intelligent Modular Service Mobile Robot ROBCO 12 for Elderly and Disabled Persons Care. In: Proceedings of the 2014 23rd International Conference on Robotics in Alpe-Adria-Danube Region. 2014 Presented at: RAAD'14; September 3-5, 2014; Smolenice, Slovakia. [doi: 10.1109/raad.2014.7002238]
- 25. Kanoh M, Oida Y, Nomura Y, Araki A, Konagaya Y, Ihara K, et al. Examination of practicability of communication robot-assisted activity program for elderly people. J Robot Mechatron 2011;23(1):3-12. [doi: <u>10.20965/jrm.2011.p0003</u>]
- Palumbo F, Ullberg J, Stimec A, Furfari F, Karlsson L, Coradeschi S. Sensor network infrastructure for a home care monitoring system. Sensors (Basel) 2014 Feb 25;14(3):3833-3860 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/s140303833] [Medline: 24573309]
- 27. Pollack ME, Brown L, Colbry D. Pearl: A Mobile Robotic Assistant for the Elderly. In: Proceedings of the Workshop on Automation as Caregiver: the Role of Intelligent Technology in Elder Care. 2002 Presented at: AAAI'02; 2002; Alberta, Canada URL: http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.16.6947&rep=rep1&type=pdf
- Sadasivam RS, Luger TM, Coley HL, Taylor BB, Padir T, Ritchie CS, et al. Robot-assisted home hazard assessment for fall prevention: a feasibility study. J Telemed Telecare 2014 Jan;20(1):3-10. [doi: 10.1177/1357633X13517350] [Medline: 24352900]
- Wild K, Boise L, Lundell J, Foucek A. Unobtrusive in-home monitoring of cognitive and physical health: reactions and perceptions of older adults. J Appl Gerontol 2008;27(2):181-200 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0733464807311435] [Medline: 19165352]
- 30. Osamu T, Ryu T, Hayashida A. A Smart System for Home Monitoring of People With Cognitive Impairment. In: Proceedings of the 2014 IEEE Canada International Humanitarian Technology Conference. 2014 Presented at: IHTC'14; June 1-4, 2014; Montreal, QC, Canada. [doi: 10.1109/ihtc.2014.7147550]
- 31. Wang D, Subagdja B, Kang Y. Towards Intelligent Caring Agents for Aging-in-place: Issues and Challenges. In: Proceedings of the 2014 IEEE Symposium on Computational Intelligence for Human-like Intelligence. 2014 Presented at: CIHLI'14; December 9-12, 2014; Orlando, FL, USA. [doi: 10.1109/cihli.2014.7013393]
- di Lecce V, Giove A, Quarto A. Social Isolation Monitoring System via AI Approach. In: Proceedings of the 2015 IEEE Workshop on Environmental, Energy, and Structural Monitoring Systems. 2015 Presented at: EESMS'15; July 9-10, 2015; Trento, Italy. [doi: 10.1109/eesms.2015.7175887]
- Wilson JR. Robot Assistance in Medication Management Tasks. In: The Eleventh ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human Robot Interaction. 2016 Presented at: HRI'16; March 7-10, 2016; Christchurch, New Zealand p. 643-644. [doi: 10.1109/hri.2016.7451897]
- Amiribesheli M, Bouchachia A. Towards Dementia-Friendly Smart Homes. In: Proceedings of the 2016 IEEE 40th Annual Computer Software and Applications Conference. 2016 Presented at: COMPSAC'16; June 10-14, 2016; Atlanta, GA. [doi: 10.1109/compsac.2016.211]
- Kurnianingsih K, Nugroho L, Widyawan, Lazuardi L, Prabuwono AS. A Predictive Positioning System Using Supervised Learning for Home Care of Older People. In: Proceedings of the 2016 International Conference on Computational Intelligence and Cybernetics. 2016 Presented at: ICCIC'16; November 22-24, 2016; Makassar, Indonesia. [doi: 10.1109/cyberneticscom.2016.7892559]
- 36. Yassine A, Singh S, Alamri A. Mining human activity patterns from smart home big data for health care applications. IEEE Access 2017;5:13131-13141. [doi: 10.1109/access.2017.2719921]
- Yang C, Lu M, Tseng S. A Companion Robot for Daily Care of Elders Based on Homeostasis. In: Proceedings of the 2017 56th Annual Conference of the Society of Instrument and Control Engineers of Japan. 2017 Presented at: SICE'17; September 19-22, 2017; Kanazawa, Japan. [doi: 10.23919/sice.2017.8105748]
- Pirzada P, White N, Wilde A. Sensors in Smart Homes for Independent Living of the Elderly. In: Proceedings of the 5th International Multi-Topic ICT Conference. 2018 Presented at: IMTIC'18; April 25-27, 2018; Jamshoro, Pakistan. [doi: 10.1109/imtic.2018.8467234]
- 39. Suryadevara N, Gaddam A, Rayudu R, Mukhopadhyay S. Wireless sensors network based safe home to care elderly people: behaviour detection. Sens Actuators A Phys 2012;186:277-283. [doi: 10.1016/j.sna.2012.03.020]
- 40. Wilson G, Pereyda C, Raghunath N, de la Cruz G, Goel S, Nesaei S, et al. Robot-enabled support of daily activities in smart home environments. Cogn Syst Res 2019 May;54:258-272. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cogsys.2018.10.032</u>] [Medline: <u>31565029</u>]
- Tamura T, Yonemitsu S, Itoh A, Oikawa D, Kawakami A, Higashi Y, et al. Is an entertainment robot useful in the care of elderly people with severe dementia? J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2004 Jan;59(1):83-85. [doi: <u>10.1093/gerona/59.1.m83</u>] [Medline: <u>14718491</u>]
- 42. Suryadevara N, Mukhopadhyay S, Wang R, Rayudu R. Forecasting the behavior of an elderly using wireless sensors data in a smart home. Eng Appl Artif Intell 2013;26(10):2641-2652. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.engappai.2013.08.004</u>]
- 43. Vincent C, Reinharz D, Deaudelin I, Garceau M, Talbot LR. Public telesurveillance service for frail elderly living at home, outcomes and cost evolution: a quasi experimental design with two follow-ups. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2006 Jul 7;4:41 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-4-41] [Medline: 16827929]

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e15429/
```

- 44. Pecina JL, Hanson GJ, van Houten H, Takahashi PY. Impact of telemonitoring on older adults health-related quality of life: the Tele-ERA study. Qual Life Res 2013 Nov;22(9):2315-2321. [doi: 10.1007/s11136-013-0361-5] [Medline: 23408299]
- 45. Kearns WD, Fozard JL, Becker M, Jasiewicz JM, Craighead JD, Holtsclaw L, et al. Path tortuosity in everyday movements of elderly persons increases fall prediction beyond knowledge of fall history, medication use, and standardized gait and balance assessments. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2012 Sep;13(7):665.e7-665.e13. [doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2012.06.010] [Medline: 22884091]
- 46. Rifkin DE, Abdelmalek JA, Miracle CM, Low C, Barsotti R, Rios P, et al. Linking clinic and home: a randomized, controlled clinical effectiveness trial of real-time, wireless blood pressure monitoring for older patients with kidney disease and hypertension. Blood Press Monit 2013 Feb;18(1):8-15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/MBP.0b013e32835d126c] [Medline: 23275313]
- 47. Lorenz A, Oppermann R. Mobile health monitoring for the elderly: designing for diversity. Pervasive Mob Comput 2009;5(5):478-495. [doi: 10.1016/j.pmcj.2008.09.010]
- 48. Vermeulen J, Neyens J, Spreeuwenberg, van Rossum E, Sipers, Habets, de Witte. User-centered development and testing of a monitoring system that provides feedback regarding physical functioning to elderly people. Patient Prefer Adherence 2013;7:843-854 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/PPA.S45897] [Medline: 24039407]
- Khan AM, Lee Y, Lee S, Kim T. Accelerometer's position independent physical activity recognition system for long-term activity monitoring in the elderly. Med Biol Eng Comput 2010 Dec;48(12):1271-1279. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11517-010-0701-3</u>] [Medline: <u>21052854</u>]
- 50. Demiris G, Hensel BK, Skubic M, Rantz M. Senior residents' perceived need of and preferences for 'smart home' sensor technologies. Int J Technol Assess Health Care 2008;24(1):120-124. [doi: 10.1017/s0266462307080154]
- 51. Mahoney DF, Mahoney EL, Liss E. AT EASE: Automated Technology for Elder Assessment, Safety, and Environmental monitoring. Gerontechnology 2009. [doi: <u>10.4017/gt.2009.08.01.003.00</u>]
- 52. Essén A. The two facets of electronic care surveillance: an exploration of the views of older people who live with monitoring devices. Soc Sci Med 2008 Jul;67(1):128-136. [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.03.005] [Medline: 18396367]
- Rantz MJ, Scott SD, Miller SJ, Skubic M, Phillips L, Alexander G, et al. Evaluation of health alerts from an early illness warning system in independent living. Comput Inform Nurs 2013;31(6):274-280. [doi: <u>10.1097/nxn.0b013e318296298f</u>]
- 54. Hoof JV. Unattended autonomous surveillance in community-dwelling older adults: a field stud. Gerontechnology 2008:2008. [doi: <u>10.4017/gt.2008.07.02.058.00</u>]
- 55. Lai AM, Kaufman DR, Starren J, Shea S. Evaluation of a remote training approach for teaching seniors to use a telehealth system. Int J Med Inform 2009 Nov;78(11):732-744 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2009.06.005] [Medline: 19620023]
- 56. Wada K, Ikeda Y, Inoue K. Development and Preliminary Evaluation of a Caregiver's Manual for Robot Therapy Using the Therapeutic Seal Robot Paro. In: Proceedings of the 19th International Symposium in Robot and Human Interactive Communication. 2010 Presented at: RO-MAN'10; September 13-15, 2010; Viareggio, Itay. [doi: 10.1109/roman.2010.5598615]
- 57. Roger K, Guse L, Mordoch E, Osterreicher A. Social commitment robots and dementia. Can J Aging 2012 Mar;31(1):87-94. [doi: 10.1017/S0714980811000663] [Medline: 22336517]
- 58. Tapus A, Tapus C, Mataric M. The Role of Physical Embodiment of a Therapist Robot for Individuals With Cognitive Impairments. In: Proceedings of the 18th IEEE International Symposium on Robot and Human Interactive Communication. 2009 Presented at: RO-MAN'09; September 27-October 2, 2009; Toyama, Japan. [doi: 10.1109/roman.2009.5326211]
- 59. Steggel CD, Hooker K, Bowman S. The role of technology for healthy aging among Korean and Hispanic women in the United States: a pilot study. Gerontechnolog 2010;9(4):443-449. [doi: <u>10.4017/gt.2010.09.04.007.00</u>]
- 60. Matlabi H, Parker SG, McKee K. Experiences of extra care housing residents aged fifty-five and over with home-based technology. Soc Behav Personal 2012;40(2):293-300. [doi: 10.2224/sbp.2012.40.2.293]
- 61. Gibson G, Dickinson C, Brittain K, Robinson L. The everyday use of assistive technology by people with dementia and their family carers: a qualitative study. BMC Geriatr 2015 Jul 24;15:89 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12877-015-0091-3] [Medline: 26205957]
- 62. Niemeijer AR, Depla MF, Frederiks BJ, Hertogh CM. The experiences of people with dementia and intellectual disabilities with surveillance technologies in residential care. Nurs Ethics 2015 May;22(3):307-320. [doi: 10.1177/0969733014533237] [Medline: 24913545]
- 63. Miskelly F. A novel system of electronic tagging in patients with dementia and wandering. Age Ageing 2004 May;33(3):304-306. [doi: 10.1093/ageing/afh084] [Medline: 15082438]
- 64. Bewernitz MW, Mann WC, Dasler P, Belchior P. Feasibility of machine-based prompting to assist persons with dementia. Assist Technol 2009;21(4):196-207. [doi: <u>10.1080/10400430903246050</u>] [Medline: <u>20066886</u>]
- 65. Fontecha J, Hervás R, Bravo J, Navarro FJ. A mobile and ubiquitous approach for supporting frailty assessment in elderly people. J Med Internet Res 2013 Sep 4;15(9):e197 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2529] [Medline: 24004497]
- 66. Meiland FJ, Bouman AI, Sävenstedt S, Bentvelzen S, Davies RJ, Mulvenna MD, et al. Usability of a new electronic assistive device for community-dwelling persons with mild dementia. Aging Ment Health 2012;16(5):584-591. [doi: 10.1080/13607863.2011.651433] [Medline: 22360649]

- 67. Mihailidis A, Boger JN, Craig T, Hoey J. The COACH prompting system to assist older adults with dementia through handwashing: an efficacy study. BMC Geriatr 2008 Nov 7;8:28 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2318-8-28] [Medline: 18992135]
- 68. Matthews JT, Lingler JH, Campbell GB, Hunsaker AE, Hu L, Pires BR, et al. Usability of a wearable camera system for dementia family caregivers. J Healthcare Eng 2015;6(2):213-238. [doi: <u>10.1260/2040-2295.6.2.213</u>]
- 69. Robinson L, Brittain K, Lindsay S, Jackson D, Olivier P. Keeping In Touch Everyday (KITE) project: developing assistive technologies with people with dementia and their carers to promote independence. Int Psychogeriatr 2009;21(3):494. [doi: 10.1017/s1041610209008448]
- 70. Skubic M, Alexander G, Popescu M, Rantz M, Keller J. A smart home application to eldercare: current status and lessons learned. Technol Health Care 2009;17(3):183-201. [doi: 10.3233/thc-2009-0551]
- 71. Astell AJ, Ellis MP, Bernardi L, Alm N, Dye R, Gowans G, et al. Using a touch screen computer to support relationships between people with dementia and caregivers. Interact Comput 2010;22(4):267-275. [doi: 10.1016/j.intcom.2010.03.003]
- 72. Wu Y, Wrobel J, Cornuet M, Kerhervé H, Damnée S, Rigaud A. Acceptance of an assistive robot in older adults: a mixed-method study of human-robot interaction over a 1-month period in the Living Lab setting. Clin Interv Aging 2014;9:801-811 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/CIA.S56435] [Medline: 24855349]
- 73. Hewson DJ, Jaber R, Chkeir A, Hammoud A, Gupta D, Bassement J, et al. Development of a Monitoring System for Physical Frailty in Independent Elderly. In: Proceedings of the 2013 35th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society. 2013 Presented at: EMBC'13; July 3-7, 2013; Osaka, Japan. [doi: 10.1109/embc.2013.6610973]
- 74. Prescher S, Bourke A, Koehler F, Martins A, Ferreira HS, Sousa TB, et al. Ubiquitous Ambient Assisted Living Solution to Promote Safer Independent Living in Older Adults Suffering From Co-morbidity. In: Proceedings of the 2012 Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society. 2012 Presented at: EMBS'12; August 28-September 1, 2012; San Diego, CA, USA. [doi: 10.1109/embc.2012.6347145]
- 75. Pino M, Boulay M, Jouen F, Rigaud AS. 'Are we ready for robots that care for us?' Attitudes and opinions of older adults toward socially assistive robots. Front Aging Neurosci 2015;7:141 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2015.00141] [Medline: 26257646]
- 76. Rantz M, Skubic M, Abbott C, Galambos C, Popescu M, Keller J, et al. Automated in-home fall risk assessment and detection sensor system for elders. Gerontologist 2015 Jun;55(Suppl 1):S78-S87 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/geront/gnv044] [Medline: 26055784]
- 77. Torkamani M, McDonald L, Aguayo I, Kanios C, Katsanou M, Madeley L, ALADDIN Collaborative Group. A randomized controlled pilot study to evaluate a technology platform for the assisted living of people with dementia and their carers. J Alzheimers Dis 2014;41(2):515-523. [doi: 10.3233/JAD-132156] [Medline: 24643137]
- 78. Alexander GL, Wakefield BJ, Rantz M, Skubic M, Aud MA, Erdelez S, et al. Passive sensor technology interface to assess elder activity in independent living. Nurs Res 2011;60(5):318-325 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/NNR.0b013e318225f3e1] [Medline: 21873920]
- 79. Takahashi PY, Pecina JL, Upatising B, Chaudhry R, Shah ND, van Houten H, et al. A randomized controlled trial of telemonitoring in older adults with multiple health issues to prevent hospitalizations and emergency department visits. Arch Intern Med 2012 May 28;172(10):773-779 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/archinternmed.2012.256] [Medline: 22507696]
- 80. Reder S, Ambler G, Philipose M. Technology and Long-term Care (TLC): A pilot evaluation of remote monitoring of elders. Gerontechnology 2010;9(1):18-31. [doi: 10.4017/gt.2010.09.01.002.00]
- 81. Kleinberger T, Becker M, Ras E, Holzinger A, Müller P. Ambient intelligence in assisted living: enable elderly people to handle future interfaces. In: Universal Access in Human-Computer Interaction. Ambient Interaction. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer; 2007:103-112.
- 82. Jämsä T, Kangas M, Vikman I, Nyberg L, Korpelainen R. Fall detection in the older people: from laboratory to real-life. Proc Estonian Acad Sci 2014;63(3):341-345. [doi: <u>10.3176/proc.2014.3.08</u>]
- Leuty V, Boger J, Young L, Hoey J, Mihailidis A. Engaging older adults with dementia in creative occupations using artificially intelligent assistive technology. Assist Technol 2013 Apr 3;25(2):72-79. [doi: <u>10.1080/10400435.2012.715113</u>] [Medline: <u>23923689</u>]
- Lin CC, Lin PY, Lu PK, Hsieh GY, Lee WL, Lee RG. A healthcare integration system for disease assessment and safety monitoring of dementia patients. IEEE Trans Inf Technol Biomed 2008 Sep;12(5):579-586. [doi: <u>10.1109/TITB.2008.917914</u>] [Medline: <u>18779072</u>]
- Surie D, Laguionie O, Pederson T. Wireless Sensor Networking of Everyday Objects in a Smart Home Environment. In: Proceedings of the 2008 International Conference on Intelligent Sensors, Sensor Networks and Information Processing. 2008 Presented at: ISSNIP'08; December 15-18, 2008; Sydney, Australia. [doi: 10.1109/issnip.2008.4761985]
- LWW Journals. 2015. JBJS, Inc Journals Level of Evidence URL: <u>https://journals.lww.com/jbjsjournal/Pages/</u> Journals-Level-of-Evidence.aspx [accessed 2019-07-01]
- 87. The Centre for Evidence-based Medicine (CEBM). 2011. The Oxford 2011 Levels of Evidence URL: <u>https://www.cebm.net/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/CEBM-Levels-of-Evidence-2.1.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-07-01]

- Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- Demiris G, Oliver DP, Giger J, Skubic M, Rantz M. Older adults' privacy considerations for vision based recognition methods of eldercare applications. Technol Health Care 2009;17(1):41-48. [doi: <u>10.3233/THC-2009-0530</u>] [Medline: <u>19478404</u>]
- 90. Do HM, Pham M, Sheng W, Yang D, Liu M. RiSH: A robot-integrated smart home for elderly care. Robot Auton Syst 2018;101:74-92. [doi: 10.1016/j.robot.2017.12.008]
- 91. Elakkiya J, Gayathri KS. Progressive Assessment System for Dementia Care Through Smart Home. In: Proceedings of the 2017 International Conference on Algorithms, Methodology, Models and Applications in Emerging Technologies. 2017 Presented at: ICAMMAET'17; February 16-18, 2017; Chennai, India. [doi: 10.1109/icammaet.2017.8186713]
- 92. Ferreira F, Dias F, Braz J, Santos R, Nascimento R, Ferreira C, et al. Protege: a mobile health application for the elder-caregiver monitoring paradigm. Procedia Technol 2013;9:1361-1371. [doi: 10.1016/j.protcy.2013.12.153]
- 93. Cheng H, Zhuang W. Bluetooth-enabled in-home patient monitoring system: early detection of Alzheimer's disease. IEEE Wireless Commun 2010;17(1):74-79. [doi: 10.1109/mwc.2010.5416353]
- 94. Chen BR, Patel S, Buckley T, Rednic R, McClure DJ, Shih L, et al. A web-based system for home monitoring of patients with Parkinson's disease using wearable sensors. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng 2011 Mar;58(3):831-836. [doi: 10.1109/TBME.2010.2090044] [Medline: 21041152]
- 95. Hori T, Nishida Y, Aizawa H. Sensor Network for Supporting Elderly Care Home. In: Proceedings of 2004 IEEE Sensors. 2004 Presented at: SENSORS'04; October 24-27, 2004; Vienna, Austria. [doi: <u>10.1109/icsens.2004.1426230</u>]
- 96. Cook DJ. Health monitoring and assistance to support aging in place. J Univers Comput Sci 2006;12(1). [doi: 10.3217/jucs-012-01-0015]
- 97. Xiao HW, Da QZ, Tao G. Ontology Based Context Modeling and Reasoning using OWL. In: Proceedings of the Second IEEE Annual Conference on Pervasive Computing and Communications Workshops. 2004 Presented at: PERCOMW'04; March 14-17, 2004; Orlando, FL, USA. [doi: 10.1109/percomw.2004.1276898]
- Jeon H, Park S, Choi J, Lim Y. Ontology-based dementia care support system. Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc 2018 Jul;2018:3318-3321. [doi: 10.1109/EMBC.2018.8512965] [Medline: 30441099]
- 99. Ramoly N, Bouzeghoub A, Finance B. A framework for service robots in smart home: an efficient solution for domestic healthcare. IRBM 2018;39(6):413-420. [doi: 10.1016/j.irbm.2018.10.010]
- 100. Cesta A, Cortellessa G, Rasconi R. Monitoring elderly people with the robocare domestic environment: interaction synthesis and user evaluation. Comput Intell 2011;27:60-82. [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8640.2010.00372.x]
- 101. Libin A, Cohen-Mansfield J. Therapeutic robocat for nursing home residents with dementia: preliminary inquiry. Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen 2004;19(2):111-116. [doi: <u>10.1177/153331750401900209</u>] [Medline: <u>15106392</u>]
- 102. Demiris G, Iribarren SJ, Sward K, Lee S, Yang R. Patient generated health data use in clinical practice: a systematic review. Nurs Outlook 2019;67(4):311-330. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.outlook.2019.04.005</u>] [Medline: <u>31277895</u>]
- 103. Filan SL, Llewellyn-Jones RH. Animal-assisted therapy for dementia: a review of the literature. Int Psychogeriatr 2006 Dec;18(4):597-611. [doi: <u>10.1017/S1041610206003322</u>] [Medline: <u>16640796</u>]

Abbreviations

AI: artificial intelligence **VR:** virtual reality

Edited by J Wang; submitted 10.07.19; peer-reviewed by R Yang, Y Du; comments to author 06.09.19; revised version received 08.09.19; accepted 05.10.19; published 29.11.19.

Please cite as: Sapci AH, Sapci HA Innovative Assisted Living Tools, Remote Monitoring Technologies, Artificial Intelligence-Driven Solutions, and Robotic Systems for Aging Societies: Systematic Review JMIR Aging 2019;2(2):e15429 URL: http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e15429/ doi:10.2196/15429 PMID:31782740

©A Hasan Sapci, H Aylin Sapci. Originally published in JMIR Aging (http://aging.jmir.org), 29.11.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR

http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e15429/

Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Exploring Older Adults' Beliefs About the Use of Intelligent Assistants for Consumer Health Information Management: A Participatory Design Study

Aqueasha Martin-Hammond¹, PhD; Sravani Vemireddy², MS, PharmD; Kartik Rao¹, BE, MS

¹Department of Human-Centered Computing, School of Informatics and Computing, Indiana University-Purdue University Indianapolis, Indianapolis, IN, United States

²Department of Health Informatics, School of Informatics and Computing, Indiana University-Purdue University Indianapolis, Indianapolis, IN, United States

Corresponding Author:

Aqueasha Martin-Hammond, PhD Department of Human-Centered Computing School of Informatics and Computing Indiana University-Purdue University Indianapolis 535 West Michigan St Indianapolis, IN, 46202 United States Phone: 1 3172787686 Email: aqumarti@iupui.edu

Abstract

Background: Intelligent assistants (IAs), also known as intelligent agents, use artificial intelligence to help users achieve a goal or complete a task. IAs represent a potential solution for providing older adults with individualized assistance at home, for example, to reduce social isolation, serve as memory aids, or help with disease management. However, to design IAs for health that are beneficial and accepted by older adults, it is important to understand their beliefs about IAs, how they would like to interact with IAs for consumer health, and how they desire to integrate IAs into their homes.

Objective: We explore older adults' mental models and beliefs about IAs, the tasks they want IAs to support, and how they would like to interact with IAs for consumer health. For the purpose of this study, we focus on IAs in the context of consumer health information management and search.

Methods: We present findings from an exploratory, qualitative study that investigated older adults' perspectives of IAs that aid with consumer health information search and management tasks. Eighteen older adults participated in a multiphase, participatory design workshop in which we engaged them in discussion, brainstorming, and design activities that helped us identify their current challenges managing and finding health information at home. We also explored their beliefs and ideas for an IA to assist them with consumer health tasks. We used participatory design activities to identify areas in which they felt IAs might be useful, but also to uncover the reasoning behind the ideas they presented. Discussions were audio-recorded and later transcribed. We compiled design artifacts collected during the study to supplement researcher transcripts and notes. Thematic analysis was used to analyze data.

Results: We found that participants saw IAs as potentially useful for providing recommendations, facilitating collaboration between themselves and other caregivers, and for alerts of serious illness. However, they also desired familiar and natural interactions with IAs (eg, using voice) that could, if need be, provide fluid and unconstrained interactions, reason about their symptoms, and provide information or advice. Other participants discussed the need for flexible IAs that could be used by those with low technical resources or skills.

Conclusions: From our findings, we present a discussion of three key components of participants' mental models, including the people, behaviors, and interactions they described that were important for IAs for consumer health information management and seeking. We then discuss the role of access, transparency, caregivers, and autonomy in design for addressing participants' concerns about privacy and trust as well as its role in assisting others that may interact with an IA on the older adults' behalf.

International Registered Report Identifier (IRRID): RR2-10.1145/3240925.3240972

(JMIR Aging 2019;2(2):e15381) doi:10.2196/15381

KEYWORDS

intelligent assistants; artificial intelligence; chatbots; conversational agents; digital health; elderly; aging in place; participatory design; co-design; health information seeking

Introduction

Background

Advances in the field of artificial intelligence have led to growth in the number of consumer technologies that use intelligent assistants or intelligent agents (IAs) to help individuals with everyday tasks. The ubiquity of these technologies has led to a re-emerging interest in the use of IAs for aging and consumer health. IAs have the potential to provide older adults with new ways of managing their personal health and wellness decisions at home. Among the tasks that aging health care consumers often self-manage is the process of finding and making sense of health information to inform and provide self-awareness of their health and to support consumer health decisions.

Currently, many consumers rely on online health information to support health decisions and manage their health at home. A 2013 report of online health information seekers found that approximately 59% of respondents had searched online for health information for themselves or others [1]. In addition, access to online health information has been linked to improved health outcomes, especially among older adult populations [2]. Therefore, online health information is perceived as an essential resource to assist older adults with health care management and decisions [3]. Despite the potential benefits, many consumers still face challenges when searching for health information online [4-8]. Prior work has found that older adults face usability and accessibility challenges when searching for health information online and may find online health information overwhelming and have trouble understanding it [9-11].

Older Adults and Online Health Information Search

The use of online health information by older adults to aid in health decisions has been largely beneficial. A large part of consumer decision making is the ability of an individual to use information they have gathered (prior knowledge) to inform their current decisions [12]. Older adults use online health information for a variety of reasons, including to support health decisions, search for information provided during doctor's visits, and to manage disease [3,6,13]. A review of research regarding older adults' online health information-seeking practices found that access to online health information was effective for improving several health outcomes (eg, adherence and overall quality of life) [2,14]. However, despite the many benefits, many older adults find it difficult to search for health information online.

Cline and Haynes [5] found that, in general, consumers face a myriad of challenges when searching for health information on the internet. Among these challenges are being presented with too much information, the use of technical language, and usability [4-8]. Because the information presented is often broad and difficult to navigate, users can also become confused or anxious [5,8]. Similarly, in the past, many online health websites

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e15381/
```

XSL•FO

were plagued with usability and accessibility challenges that made them difficult for older adults to navigate [9,10]. In addition to technical challenges, older adults have also been found to face other more general challenges related to understanding health information (ie, lower health literacy levels) and negative attitudes toward technology that can make it difficult for them to effectively make use of online health information resources [11]. Therefore, gaps in knowledge still exist on how to best support older adults' consumer health information search practices and ways to help them find and understand the information they need to make informed consumer decisions about their health.

Supporting Consumer Health Information Search

The emergence of new approaches for personalizing information and experiences has led to an increase in the number of intelligent interfaces that can assist with health tasks. The use of tailoring has been widely used in the area of health communication to reduce task complexity and simplify decision making among different groups of users [15]. However, researchers are beginning to explore how personalization, a form of digital tailoring, can be used to help improve online health search and communication tasks [16-23].

Several researchers have studied personalized approaches to support consumer search and understanding of health information [20,22-24]. For example, Fink and colleagues [24] explored the use of a guided search for assisting older adults with Web searches. They found that participants who used the guided search felt their search process would improve in the future. Several researchers have also looked at frameworks and models to support adaptive health interfaces [20,22,23] and further work on adaptive interfaces in health [16,21]. These interfaces automatically or semiautomatically change content or information based on knowledge of the user [25].

Shakshuki et al [20] proposed a multiagent learning technique for supporting adaptive health interfaces. Suggs and McIntyre [21] found that the availability of online tailored health communication for patients is increasing; however, it is not well-known what aspects of tailored communication contribute most to decision making. Similarly, Eslami and colleagues [16] found that although users were open to adaptation, it was important to identify the needs and preferences of users in context. Therefore, computer-based tailoring strategies are one way to support positive health outcomes [6,21,22], while also supporting the specific needs of users in the context of the health task [16].

Computer-based intelligent approaches, such as the use of IAs, represent an opportunity to personalize information, content, or processes to assist older adults with managing and finding relevant consumer health information at home. However, despite growing interest in IAs for aging and consumer health, and the importance of user perception on acceptance and adoption of

emerging technologies, there are still significant gaps in literature regarding how older adults perceive IAs for consumer health, their perceptions of how IAs should behave and assist them, and how they would like to integrate IAs in their health care regimen at home. Gaining a better understanding of older adults' beliefs and mental models of IAs for consumer health information management and search could lead to the design of tools that better align with their needs and better adoption and long-term use of these tools with potentially better health outcomes. The goal of this study is to explore older adults' perceptions, challenges, and needs for assistance to identify design opportunities for intelligent interfaces to support them in this task.

Methods

Overview

To understand older adults' perspectives regarding IAs for health information management and search, we conducted a design workshop with 18 older adult participants to identify their mental models. In this workshop, our goal was to better understand how older adults perceive an IA that would assist them with health tasks in their homes, including the physical form of the product (eg, how it looks), the function, and their beliefs and concerns about how it could be integrated and used within their home environment [26]. Two researchers assisted with the workshop. The workshop occurred over one day in July 2017 in a local senior center in Indianapolis, IN, and included several phases that involved different activities. We scheduled breaks between each phase to allow participants time to regroup and researchers time to prepare and transition to the next phase.

Recruitment

We obtained institutional review board approval from Indiana University in Indianapolis, IN, before conducting the study. We recruited 18 participants from a local senior center. The only inclusion criteria were that participants be 60 years of age or older and have an interest in the purpose of the study. The senior center coordinator assisted with recruitment by sending our recruitment documents to their participant base, collecting names and contact information of interested participants, and helping to coordinate the workshop on-site. Written informed consent was collected on the day of the workshop. On arrival, each participant was provided with an informed consent document describing the purpose of the study, the study procedures, their right to leave the study at any point during the workshop, and contact information for the study principal investigator. In the session, participants were provided with time to read the informed consent or the option for the researcher to read the document to them. Participants were asked to sign the informed consent document if they were interested in proceeding. The workshop proceeded once all participants signed and returned their informed consent documents.

Participants

Participants' ages ranged from 61 to 93 years (mean 76, SD 8). Fifteen participants identified as female, and the remaining

identified as male. Most participants (n=9) reported earning a high school diploma or equivalent (ie, GED), four participants earned an associate's degree or equivalent, and five participants reported that they earned less than a high school education. All but one participant (n=17) was retired.

Most (n=8) participants self-rated their current health status as relatively healthy. Six participants rated their current health status as somewhere between healthy and not so healthy, and three participants rated their health status as not so healthy. One participant did not rate their current health status. Reasons participants listed for their rating of relatively healthy included participation in regular exercise and healthy eating, not having any ailments (ongoing chronic illnesses or health issues), minor ailments such as slightly elevated blood pressure due to stress and acid reflux, not taking much medicine for their age, and being a three-time cancer survivor (ie, being diagnosed with cancer three times and surviving each time). Reasons participants listed for a rating between healthy and not so healthy included trying to eat healthier, borderline diabetes, slightly elevated or chronically high blood pressure and cholesterol, arthritis, joint and back pain, and minor complaints. Participants that rated themselves as not so healthy noted their reasons as having a disease such as congestive heart failure, multiple chronic conditions (chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and diabetes), and having a myocardial infarction.

In addition to demographic questions, we asked participants questions about their technology use. Most participants (17/18, 94%) did not use technology regularly (defined as more than 5 days per week); however, 11 (61%) participants reported browsing the internet periodically (1-2 days per week) using a mobile phone, tablet, or computer. Two participants browsed the internet on a regular basis (more than 3 days per week). Most participants (14/18, 11%) used a basic cell phone (ie, without smartphone capabilities) regularly or more than 5 days per week. Two (11%) participants used a smartphone and two (11%) participants used a laptop regularly. Three (17%) participants used a desktop; three (17%) participants used a touch-based tablet such as an iPad regularly. Of those that tracked their health information, most used paper and pen, but two participants reported using a mobile app to track their health indicators and one participant each used a wearable fitness tracker (Fitbit), diabetic meter, and desktop software. Fewer participants used technology to manage or organize health information. Only two participants reported using a website or other technology to manage health information.

Participatory Design Workshop

The workshop was conducted in several phases with break periods interspersed between design activities to allow periods of rest for the participants and time for the researchers to organize data and prepare for subsequent phases (see Figure 1). On arrival, participants were greeted and provided with additional information about the study and a consent form. Once we obtained consent, we also asked participants to complete a demographic and computer use survey (phase 1).







Participants were then asked to critique WebMD on a mobile or Web-based interface (phase 2). We first introduced the app to the larger group, and participants were later asked to divide into groups to complete the critique activity. The purpose of the critique session was two-fold. First, the critique acted as an icebreaker for groups of participants to get to know one another. Second, we wanted to introduce the participants to the idea of considering the benefits and tradeoffs of a design to prepare for later design activities. Groups were given time to try the interface and discuss the benefits and challenges with their teammates. Participants were provided with a printed copy of a list of questions to consider, including their initial impressions of the interface, what they liked and disliked about the interface, and how they may or may not use it. One person in each group was also asked to take notes as their team reviewed the interface. At the end of the critique, each team presented their thoughts to the larger group of participants (phase 3).

Researchers then engaged participants in an affinity diagramming session (phase 4) to identify how they manage and search for health information, the challenges they face, and their use of technology to assist in the process. Affinity diagramming is a process in which individuals iteratively cluster opinions, experiences, or insights to keep design teams grounded in data [27]. One researcher facilitated the discussion while the second researcher took notes. Participants were asked questions about how they keep track of health information at home. Participants wrote responses on sticky notes and placed them in a common area. Afterward, one researcher led the group in a discussion of the responses as the other researcher continued to take notes.

After a short break, participants brainstormed ideas for an intelligent or "smart" interface that might assist them with finding and managing consumer health information (phase 5). To give some guidance on the definition of an IA, the facilitator provided a scenario that included a user interacting with a nontechnical form of assistance, such as asking a doctor to find

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e15381/
```

health information. The facilitator explained that a smart interface might perform similar tasks. The facilitator also explained that they could think of a technology that could assist them with questions they had about their health. However, because we wanted to understand participants' ideas of how an IA for health might look and work, the facilitator emphasized that their ideas could be any tool or product that they felt could assist them with achieving this goal.

For this part of the workshop, participants were divided into five groups of at least three team members and spent approximately 30 minutes brainstorming and discussing their ideas. Each group was again provided with a set of questions to help them think through the reasons behind their designs and to help us keep track of their reasoning. The questions focused on helping them think about what type of assistance they wanted, how they would use their technology, and the reasons for their decisions. One group member was asked to take notes to later report to the group.

Both facilitators walked around to listen in on discussions and to take notes. Toward the end of the design activity, each researcher visited briefly with each group to help them refine their ideas and prepare for presentation. After the design activity, each team presented their idea to the larger group for discussion along with their reasons for their decisions (phase 6). However, it is important to note that because the goal of the workshop was to understand participants' beliefs and not to explore novel designs, we did not participate in the idea generation as to not bias our results. Finally, participants were asked for any additional feedback on the study, thanked, and provided with a US \$20 gift card for their time (phase 7).

Data Analysis

Researchers took detailed handwritten notes of participant responses and their research observations. Immediately following the workshop, the two researchers who facilitated the workshop met to debrief and compare notes. The workshop

sessions were audio-recorded and later transcribed to supplement researchers' notes about participants' responses to questions in group discussions and sketches of the participants' design concepts (see Figure 2). All artifacts collected during the workshop, including large sticky notes of design concepts sketched during the workshop, images of the affinity diagramming results, and participants' written descriptions of

Figure 2. Brainstorming sketch from the design workshop for group 1.



Results

Themes emerging from the design workshop centered on older adults' perceptions of their expectations of how IAs could be designed and used for consumer health information search and management, concerns they had regarding using IAs for consumer health search activities, and concerns about potential barriers that would limit their ability to integrate IAs in their home.

Health Information Management Strategies and Challenges

The findings from the participatory design workshop's affinity diagramming session revealed that 7 of 18 participants did not have strategies in place to manage their health information. However, during the discussions, most participants agreed that there was value in keeping track of health information themselves and, therefore, a combination of their interest in improving their health and past challenges with attempting to use technology to manage their health motivated their participation in the workshop. The advantages they discussed included scheduling, facilitating discussion with their doctor, staying informed, and being able to better monitor their health and identify a serious illness.

Of the 11 participants who did manage their health information, most used a paper-based filing system or calendar (n=5) or relied on their doctor to provide information about their health (n=4). Participants discussed several types of health information they tracked, including medication information, appointments,

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e15381/
```

insurance information, and alternative treatments. Of those participants who searched for health information, most (n=6) used that information to consult with their doctor and also included at least one other person in their health care management routine. In addition to their doctor (n=6), participants discussed that they would also include immediate family members (eg, spouse or child) on issues related to their health (n=13).

their ideas, were compiled to supplement the transcripts and

notes. Data analysis involved open coding of data by three

researchers to identify common themes in the data to create a

list of codes [28]. Codes were iteratively refined and later

applied to qualitative data. High-level themes were developed

using axial coding. Data collected in the demographic survey

were analyzed using descriptive statistics.

Our participants saw value in keeping track of health information and being able to search for consumer health to support decisions and next steps. However, although most participant groups discussed that they had attempted at one point to find health information, not all participants currently actively managed their own health information or searched for health information at home.

Participants' Design Scenarios

Of the five groups of participants, four described ideas about IAs. One group (group 2) described their preference for talking with a health care provider or another caregiver in lieu of any other type of assistance. The design ideas presented by the groups were not completely novel as different aspects of the design have been addressed in other ways by technology. However, comparing the form, features, and functionality discussed and how participants described the assistance helped us to understand their perspectives of how they believed IAs for consumer health information management and search would look, behave, and be integrated into their lives. We did provide abstract guidance on what to design (IAs for assistance with

health searches at home), and the participants also critiqued a website earlier in the workshop. However, similar to Davidson and Jensen [29], we found that the critique did not influence creativity of ideas and each group developed somewhat unique designs. We provide a brief description of each subsequently.

Intelligent Voice Assistant for Health

Participants in group 1 posed the idea of an intelligent voice assistant (eg, smart speaker) that they could ask health questions, and it would respond with appropriate answers. They discussed that their idea was inspired by commercials they had seen for Echo and Google Home, and they felt that this would be a good way to interact with health information. However, different from existing devices, the system would store their health history and provide answers that were specifically relevant to them. The system would provide options for them to easily share information with caregivers and could automatically differentiate between minor and severe medical situations to detect emergencies.

Talk With a Health Professional or Caregiver

Participants in group 2 expressed that they preferred to talk with a health care professional instead of interacting with an IA for health. They felt that talking to a health care provider would be faster for finding answers to health questions because the provider would already know their medical history. Participants had not experienced challenges with quickly communicating with their doctor in the past. They noted that their opinion might change if their providers were "very busy."

Simple Interactions and Simple Information

Group 3 felt that the technology medium that communicated the information would not matter as long as it was easy to learn, use, and provided simple interactions. They described that the system might ask them questions (but not too many) about health conditions or symptoms and provide tailored search results. They also stressed that information communicated should above all be easy to understand and use simple language that is not overwhelming.

Q&A Health Website

Group 4 described a health website or "personal device" that could provide them with "simple" answers to the questions they asked. The inspiration for this design came from the participants' experiences attempting to use the internet to find information, and the challenges they encountered using different websites. The website would not include any advertisements and could provide answers that were tailored to them. The assistant would also provide suggestions on other topics, such as how to manage their chronic illness or alternative medications to try.

Automated Phone System

Group 5 described an automated phone system for finding answers to health questions. The inspiration for this design came from participants' beliefs that they felt not all older adults would have access to technology, such as an iPad, computer, or even the internet, but they felt that most would have a phone at home. They described that the automated system would store information about a user's health history and emergency contacts, which they would enter during account setup. The user could then call the system to receive personalized answers to their questions, connect with local providers, or find information about symptoms or medications. The system could also compare symptoms with their health history to infer about and diagnose serious illness or emergencies.

Types of Assistance Described

From the scenarios, five themes emerged related to the ways participants believed an IA might benefit or improve their day-to-day consumer health tasks at home. Because of past difficulties searching for health information at home, all the ideas proposed by the four groups were ideas for IAs that could make searching for health information easier (see Table 1).

Participants described how an IA might help them find relevant information faster by using knowledge of their health to provide tailored responses or narrow search results. For example, a member of group 3 expressed frustration with trying to find information relevant to their needs online:

[When searching for health information] Get to the point. I don't want to have to [search through] 50 answers just get to the point. I mean I tried to get on sites [health websites] and everything...you know people say go here or something like that and you get there [to the website] and it says well you have to do this and you have to do this and this and this. Hey, you know, I just want to go there and get to the point.

Both groups 3 and 4 discussed the complexities of searching for and understanding health information. Therefore, their groups suggested features that could narrow choices and remove irrelevant information to support a straightforward search process. Groups 1, 4, and 5 proposed interfaces that could help with the search process by using knowledge of their medical history to provide personalized versus generic information.

Two groups also described in their scenarios instances in which an IA could help them make sense of health information by simplifying medical or health jargon and descriptions of health text. Groups 3 and 4 described a desire for features to help simplify the process of making sense of health information:

Explain things in plain language...currently it's [health information] hard to understand [Group 3]

Therefore, participants proposed IA features that not only helped them find relevant information faster, but that could also assist them with understanding the information once presented. Similarly, groups 1, 4, and 5 suggested that IAs could provide them with advice and recommendations about illnesses, symptoms, and medications. For example, when describing their design scenario, group 5 explained that their automated phone system would allow a user to "call in to ask a question about a symptom or illness and get an answer." They described that the user would have a code that would allow them to store their information, and after entering the code they could "ask questions about some type of symptom they may have."

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e15381/
```

Table 1. Types of assistance that groups mentioned when describing their intelligent assistant concept.

Type of assistance	Group(s) ^a
Finding relevant consumer health information	1, 3, 4, and 5
Making sense of consumer health information	3 and 4
Providing advice/recommendations	1, 4, and 5
Facilitating collaborative decisions	1, 3, 4, and 5
Diagnosing serious or emergency illnesses	1 and 5

^aGroup 1: intelligent voice assistant for health; group 3: simple interactions and simple information; group 4: Q&A health website; group 5: automated phone system.

Although each group brainstormed their design scenarios independently of other groups and the researchers, the mention of "simple search," "simple language," and "simple direct answers" were pervasive as each group shared their design scenarios with the larger group. The participants' desire for simplicity was mainly due to their experiences and perception of the complexity of the online search process for health information. Therefore, most participant ideas centered on how IAs could support the search process by removing some of that burden from the user. However, groups were not fully trusting of IAs for certain search tasks as evidenced by their dialog on the importance of including functionality that allowed the system to facilitate collaborative decisions about their health with a doctor or family member. All groups mentioned features that allowed them to collaborate with doctors or family members involved in their caregiving and health care decision making:

We were thinking [initially] a personal device [the interface idea], but maybe it could share with the doctor or family that you would want to include in decision-making processes [Group 4]

The spokesperson for the group indicated that they originally felt that the interface should include some sort of option for storing information locally, so that the user could limit access to their medical information and preferences; however, they decided that it would be useful to share information with others that could provide input to the users' decisions. Groups 1, 3, and 5 agreed that there would be cases in which they would prefer or feel more comfortable talking with a health care professional. They indicated that their interface idea included features that would allow them to share information and include either a health care provider or family member in their decisions if they desired.

Finally, two groups discussed scenarios in which their assistant would help with the diagnosis of serious illness (eg, congestive heart failure) by learning about their health and reasoning from their queries:

[I would include] all my medical information, my medical history, like if I have congestive heart failure and if I am having pains or something, I could ask it something and it could tell me if I need to seek medical help or maybe it could get me something that I could use to ease it myself. [Group 1]

Proposed Technology Medium and Ways of Interacting

Each of the four groups that presented ideas for IAs introduced different mediums, including a voice assistant, website, and an automated telephone system; one group was apathetic about the medium but stressed that it should be simple, easy to learn, and easy to use. Most of the discussion about form centered around the need for IAs to be integrated into technology that is familiar or that provides for natural interactions that are easy to learn. Some participants also discussed the need for the technology to be easily accessible to those with and without technology resources at home. However, we also found that the groups described similar qualities when discussing their assistant and how it would work. The purpose of the workshop was to understand older adults' mental models of IAs for health; therefore, each group (except for group 2), proposed some level of intelligent interaction. Apart from intelligence, groups seemed to describe mediums with which they were either already familiar (website, telephone) or that could be easily learned through natural interaction (voice assistant, simple medium):

They have these books for everything. So, we put down "Health Info for Dummies"...It could be a website or whatever...Put it [the information] in simple language so that people will know what it is. Also, not 50 pages of blah blah blah...just simple, simple language, easy to use. [Group 3]

Participants also described fluid and unconstrained interactions with their assistant noting at times that they felt the assistant should reason about their symptoms, provide recommendations or information, and seamlessly move from one health topic to the next:

A machine like Alexa, [you] put in all the medical information that pertains to seniors like arthritis, headaches, broken hips, and all that stuff...we ask it a question and it answers it...You know, [you can say] I have a headache, I have this, I have that. Give them the symptoms just like you do on a tablet, and it will come up with the answer. [Group 1]

At the same time, groups also described the need for the assistant to be transparent about its limitations for providing safe advice and instead be able to switch from the role of assisting with care to facilitating care:

If it's not serious [the situation], the system could instead provide them with a list of doctors names and



numbers that they could contact in their area for help [Group 5]

Therefore, although participants described different mediums, they all seemed to value familiar and natural mediums that were easy to learn and use. In addition, groups seemed to value interactions that were transparent but also fluid and unconstrained.

Concerns for Home Integration

Participants discussed two major concerns about integrating IAs for health in their homes. First, groups expressed concerns about privacy and described ways their IA might secure user information:

If there was some way of being able to store your own information on your own device. You know like...if you have access to the internet then they have access to your answers too, so I don't like that, but if there were some way of cutting that out where you can access the Web without having to give it back all your information it would be nice to have your own personal thing. I don't know how that would work. [Participant, group 4]

All four groups raised similar concerns about privacy. Another group suggested using a code to limit access to personal health data using their automated phone system: "I'm just speaking for the people that don't have access to the internet, so the phone would be ideal for them, and they could put in a code or something if they didn't want people to get to that information" (Participant, group 5).

Participants raised a different set of concerns about internet access and availability at home and potentially being limited to certain mediums. Group 1, when brainstorming ideas for a solution, eventually settled on a voice assistant but considered their past challenges of finding a stable internet connection. They considered that other older adults may not have internet access at home and that they might have to negotiate for technology resources to be able to adopt the IA for health. The following conversation occurred between two participants in group 1:

PA: I don't think a lot of seniors have Wi-Fi.

PB: They don't because I come here [to the center] and then I can use it [the internet] here but I don't have it at home. But, my neighbor across the street...

PA: Yeah, sometimes you can pick up on.

PB: So, I went over there [the neighbor's house]...

PA: Like the folks next door?

PB: You have to get their Wi-Fi [password] ...

PA: Right.

PB: and I did go over and ask them could I, you know, did she have Wi-Fi and she said yes, now since she told me, I can use this [the Wi-Fi] at home. Another participant expressed that she also wished that there was not such a reliance on internet access when using different apps:

I just wish it [health apps] worked without the internet because I let mine [internet] go because my computer messed up and I was like oh well, I'm just not going to get another one [computer]. I [now] ask the kids something and they always Google it or do whatever they do to try and find out [for me]. They will try and find out from different people the symptoms or what they do to cure it, but that's not actually what it is. [Group 5]

Participants' choice of medium and concerns for adoption also seemed to take into account whether or not they felt the system could be seamlessly adopted into their existing home environment without consequence.

Discussion

We provide a summary of our findings of participants' beliefs and mental models regarding the use of IAs for health information search and management at home.

Modeling Interactions Between Older Adults and Intelligent Assistants for Health Information Management

Overall, our participants desired an IA that could reduce the time and effort it takes for them or others involved in their health care regimen (ie, caregivers, doctors) to find, manage, and share consumer health information relevant to their needs. Several groups discussed ideas related to the use of tailoring or personalization to improve search, navigation, or response. In general, the participants who suggested a technological solution wanted IAs that addressed some of the challenges they encountered with health information management and search that they felt were not currently being addressed or could be better addressed with an intelligent interface. From our findings, we contribute a model describing the categories of behaviors, people, and types of interactions participants expected from an IA for health as well as how participants expect these interactions to take place (see Figure 3).

In the model, the first layer relates to ease of access and learning. Before considering other factors, the ability to access the features provided by an IA for health, whether it be access to the IA in a low-tech resource environment or access by someone with low technical skill, can influence whether the IA is adopted. The discussions about the look and feel (form) of the IA centered around mediums that participants were already familiar with or natural (ie, perceived easy to learn) to emphasize the notion that interacting with an IA should not be cumbersome and should limit or eliminate their current challenges with health information management and search tools they had tried opposed to making the process more difficult.



Figure 3. Model of participants' desired interactions with intelligent assistants for health information management and search.





The second layer focuses on transparency and autonomy, which not only plays a role in the potential adoption of an IA for health but also for long-term continued use. If older adults need to understand how the IA works and the need for governing the tasks supported by IAs are not met, it may influence initial adoption or use over time. We categorize access, transparency, and autonomy as potential barriers to adoption and long-term use because our findings suggest that these factors are often considered apart from the type of support provided. An IA may provide adequate support for a health information management or search task, but if it is not easily accessed, learned, or does not provide the proper levels of transparency and autonomy, our findings suggest it may not be adopted or may ultimately be abandoned. For example, a user may want help understanding what data are shared about themselves and, ultimately, if a certain IA feature is something they would like to adopt.

The third level represents communication and interaction between the user and the IA or other individuals involved in their care. Our findings suggest that the relationships between the three categories of behaviors, people, and interactions were somewhat fluid and reciprocal in that each category in some way related to and was dependent on the others. The behaviors described as tasks for IAs were sending alerts, facilitating interactions with others involved in their care, and informing or advising personal health decisions. The people participants discussed apart from themselves as being potential users that might interact with an IA on their behalf were informal caregivers (eg, child, spouse), formal caregivers (eg, doctor, nurse), and first responders (ie, emergency medical providers). Interactions described were either autonomous (ie, completed by the IA without their involvement) or semiautonomous (ie, completed by the IA with their involvement). For example, the ideas presented regarding IAs for alerts mainly focused on first responders; in this situation, participants desired more

autonomous interactions that could initiate assistance if they were unable to do so themselves. When describing IAs that helped with the facilitation of health tasks, the discussion centered on formal and informal caregivers and the exchange of information for assisting them with awareness and decision making. In these instances, participants described more semiautonomous interactions in which they had control over what information was shared and when.

Relationship to Prior Work

Some of the open issues that emerged from our findings are known or have been addressed in other fields of study. For example, participants discussed their desire for tailoring and personalization. In the field of health care, the idea (and practice) of tailoring information has been used for some time to provide personalized content to health care consumers [15]. In computer science and human-computer interaction, intelligent interfaces that gather user characteristics automatically or manually have been widely leveraged to adapt and provide users with personalized experiences [20,22-24]. Therefore, it is well-known that using IAs to personalize or adapt information and content can simplify the process for users. Therefore, our work builds on this prior work citing participants' desires for personalized features in the design of consumer health information management and search tools. However, the success of any intelligent interface design and implementation project often largely depends on understanding users' goals and needs for that specific task [19,25]. Our work contributes insight and understanding regarding how older adults perceive IAs might be useful to assist them with consumer health information management and search tasks at home. These insights can begin to help designers and researchers understand where implementation of IAs might likely yield adoption in this context. However, more research is needed to completely

understand how to address these needs in a way that provides the transparency and autonomy desired, but that also considers other factors such as safety.

Design Considerations: What Do These Findings Mean for the Design of Intelligent Health Information Management Tools for Older Adults?

We preface our discussion of design implications by revisiting the focus of this research, which was to explore older adults' mental models and beliefs regarding IAs for consumer health and, specifically, IAs in the context of health information management and search. Therefore, we did not discuss IA for use in hospital or formal medical settings apart from supporting interaction with formal caregivers. We also acknowledge that some of the ideas presented by the groups may not seem novel; however, our goal for the participatory design session was not to develop novel tools or critique the participants' designs, but to learn through the design sessions about participants challenges, concerns, and to identify considerations for future design.

Addressing Current Challenges and Motivating Use Through Autonomy

Human-computer researchers have emphasized the importance of understanding users' goals and expectations for automation when designing intelligent interfaces [19,25]. Our findings highlight several areas in which participants felt support from an intelligent agent might be useful to them. Many of the areas discussed stemmed from prior and current challenges they experienced managing and searching for health information in a consumer setting. Although some of these challenges have been addressed in prior work, it may be useful for designers and researchers in the future to better understand why participants have not considered adopting these solutions. More research on current approaches to addressing the highlighted areas and the benefits and tradeoffs can help researchers better understand the role of automation and whether it meets users' needs and expectations. In addition, understanding how the individual expects to govern the task can help further identify areas in which IAs might be most appropriate and also how to design these assistants in a way that supports users' goals for autonomy.

Leveraging Relationships With Health Care Providers and Caregivers

Most participants described the importance of being able to engage with a doctor or another health care professional if needed. Groups that proposed these solutions were aware that there might be cases in which they would prefer or feel more comfortable talking with a health care professional. In addition, because health care providers and other caregivers often participate in collaborative decision making [3], an IA that could leverage these relationships and improve these collaborations may be beneficial, particularly to older adult users or other users that rely on these relationships to manage their health.

In parallel, it can also be useful to explore the role of intelligent interfaces for facilitating the exchange of information between formal and informal caregivers. Although we do not anticipate it to be desirable for an interface to fully replace the role of

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e15381/
```

caregivers in consumer health decisions, there are opportunities to explore how these systems can better support the relationship between stakeholders, the exchange of information, and the steps leading to the decision to better empower the consumer. Further, similar to exploring how these interfaces might impact health care providers and caregivers, it would be important to also consider the effect they may or may not have on relationships and the decision-making process.

Providing Intelligent Assistance Through Familiar and Accessible Mediums

The adoption of health technologies and the use of the internet for health information is growing among older adults [1]. However, there is still significant concern about older adults' access to technology, in particular when related to access and internet skill [30]. Our participants expressed similar concerns about whether tools that include IAs would be accessible to them due to limited technical resources at home or limited technical skills. Therefore, a common theme from the designs from our older adult participants was that intelligent health tools must provide flexible access, but also be accessible to individuals that may have limited technical skill.

With the emergence of intelligent voice assistants, such as Siri or Alexa, the move to more natural interaction is already underway. However, more work will be needed to understand if these types of assistants can be useful in the context of health information management and search. Another key consideration will be how we can design IAs for health that support older adults without requiring a new device or technology. Although some participants expressed they would consider adopting a new medium, others discussed concerns about cost and infrastructural barriers that might limit their access and use of IA for health in a consumer setting. Participants' perceptions were that IAs are data-intensive and rely heavily on a stable internet connection to facilitate interactions. Therefore, the need for internet would be a barrier for adoption for some. Exploring inclusive designs that address the varying needs of older adults may lead to more widespread access to and adoption of IAs that assist with consumer health information management and search practices.

The Role of Transparent Design for Supporting Users

Emphasis on designing intelligent systems that are transparent and easy to understand has increased in recent years. One key theme that emerged directly and indirectly in the workshop was the importance of being able to understand system actions. All our participants valued privacy and trust, and those that proposed technical solutions emphasized the need for privacy and trust in their discussions. Explainable interfaces are one approach re-emerging to improve transparency [31]. In addition, processes for creating transparent designs have been recently proposed [32]. However, there is still a lot we do not know about how to design interfaces that support this transparency. Figure 4 summarizes the different types of transparency mentioned by participants in the discussions as a first step to understanding what participants want to be explained [32]. In addition, we include potential questions of interests to other stakeholders who may interact with an IA on behalf or in collaboration with the participant (see Figure 4).

XSL•FO RenderX

Figure 4. Example of questions to improve the transparency of system actions for older adult users and those involved in their care.

Individual	How are data managed?		
	How is data used?		
	Who has access to data?		
	Why was a recommendation made?		
	Why was this information provided compared to others?		
Formal/Informal Caregiver	How does this relate to the individual?		
	Why am I being notified?		
	What information was provided?		
	What information was not provided?		
First Responder	Why was an alert issued?		

Participants raised concerns about how an IA would secure and manage their data. Participants also expressed concerns about being able to trust system recommendations and the situations in which a system recommendation may need further confirmation from a health care provider. However, because the participants envision that it would be responsible and useful for caregivers and first responders to also interact with an IA on their behalf, we expect that there may also be ways to help them better interpret the information and recommendations provided to them. If the user wants to discuss something with their doctor, it may be helpful to provide the doctor with information about why the IA provided certain information or did not provide other information to assist the doctor in their discussion. Overall, with a focus on health, it will be important for IA designers to explore methods for helping users and others involved to understand how their data are used and managed as well as how recommendations are made. In addition, given the potentially diverse abilities of older adults, there may also be a need to explore how to approach the design of these interfaces in a way that supports their diverse and changing abilities.

Limitations and Future Work

Our study represents an exploratory step in understanding older adults' perceptions of intelligent interfaces that assist them with consumer health information tasks at home. The needs and desires for health information search support at home that are described in this paper are limited to the participants that were involved in the design workshop and their unique experiences and challenges. Also, because our study only focused on consumer health information search and management tasks, the findings may or may not apply to other contexts. It is possible that there are wider ranges of needs or desires for support that were not identified. Additionally, many of the older adults in our study were limited technology users and expressed challenges with searching for health information in the past. Therefore, it is possible that older adults who use technology more regularly may have different ideas about how technology

http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e15381/

XSL•F() RenderX might assist them. In the future, we will continue to explore the design of personalized tools to support older adults' health decisions. One of our future goals is to include caregivers in discussions about IAs for health information search. Although this study focused only on older adults' beliefs, we did find that most of our participants (n=13) currently included caregivers in their health information search and management process at home. In the future, it will be useful to include caregivers' perspectives as well. Further, we will build on the findings of this study to design tools and evaluate them with older adults. We are exploring one of the ideas (voice assistants) discussed by participants as an option for delivering health information to better understand the contextual factors that exist around interacting with health information using voice.

Conclusion

In this paper, we present findings from a participatory design workshop in which older adults brainstormed and conceptualized ideas for technology to assist them with consumer health information management and search at home. Five groups of older adults (N=18) brainstormed and described scenarios of ways an intelligent interface solution could or could not assist them in finding information and searching and managing health information in a nonclinical setting (ie, at home outside the doctor's office). Four of the five groups presented solutions involving technology, whereas one group expressed their desire to forgo any type of software intervention and talk directly with their health care provider.

Our findings suggest that older adults have clear beliefs about how IAs might assist them with health information management and search. Although participants saw the benefit of IAs for health, older adults had concerns related to autonomy and transparency in design. Our research identifies a set of key factors that older adults perceive as important in the design of an IA for health. Because the perception of benefit (ie, perceived benefit) is a key factor when older adults make decisions to

adopt a technology [33], the initial step of understanding beliefs regarding IAs for health is important to designing technologies that are likely viewed to provide benefit to older adults. Therefore, this work contributes (1) a better understanding of older adults' mental models toward IA for health and (2) a set of initial considerations for designing IAs that assist older adults with health information search and management. Although our focus is older adults and some aspects (eg, the role of caregivers) may apply differently in other contexts, we anticipate that our findings can help inform the design of IAs that support others in managing and searching for health information at home. In addition, the discussion of participants' expectations, experiences, and interface support needs can help designers, researchers, and developers of consumer health search interfaces brainstorm and identify solutions that address these challenges.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank our participants for providing their perspectives and experiences. We would also like to thank the coordinators at the senior center for helping us recruit and coordinate the study on-site. Finally, we thank the members of our research group and others that reviewed and helped to proof the paper.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Pew Research Center. 2013 Feb 01. Majority of adults look online for health information URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/</u> <u>fact-tank/2013/02/01/majority-of-adults-look-online-for-health-information/</u> [accessed 2018-09-03]
- Bolle S, van Weert JC, Daams J, Loos E, de Haes HC, Smets E. Online health information tool effectiveness for older patients: a systematic review of the literature. J Health Commun 2015;20(9):1067-1083. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2015.1018637] [Medline: 26165846]
- 3. Xie B. Older adults' health information wants in the internet age: implications for patient-provider relationships. J Health Commun 2009 Sep;14(6):510-524 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10810730903089614] [Medline: 19731124]
- 4. Adams S. Revisiting the online health information reliability debate in the wake of. Int J Med Inform 2010 Jun;79(6):391-400 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2010.01.006] [Medline: 20188623]
- Cline R, Haynes K. Consumer health information seeking on the Internet: the state of the art. Health Educ Res 2001 Dec;16(6):671-692 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/her/16.6.671] [Medline: 11780707]
- Hall A, Bernhardt J, Dodd V. Older adults' use of online and offline sources of health information and constructs of reliance and self-efficacy for medical decision making. J Health Commun 2015;20(7):751-758 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2015.1018603] [Medline: 26054777]
- 7. Joe J, Demiris G. Older adults and mobile phones for health: a review. J Biomed Inform 2013 Oct;46(5):947-954 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2013.06.008] [Medline: 23810858]
- Lee K, Hoti K, Hughes JD, Emmerton LM. Consumer use of "Dr Google": a survey on health information-seeking behaviors and navigational needs. J Med Internet Res 2015 Dec 29;17(12):e288 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.4345</u>] [Medline: <u>26715363</u>]
- 9. Nahm E, Preece J, Resnick B, Mills ME. Usability of health web sites for older adults. CIN-Comput Inform Nu 2004;22(6):326-334. [doi: 10.1097/00024665-200411000-00007]
- 10. Becker SA. A study of web usability for older adults seeking online health resources. ACM Trans Comput-Hum Interact 2004 Dec 01;11(4):387-406 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1145/1035575.1035578]
- 11. Berkowsky R, Czaja S. Challenges associated with online health information seeking among older adults. In: Pak R, Collins Mclaughlin A, editors. Aging, Technology And Health. London, UK: Elsevier Inc; 2018:31-48.
- 12. Bettman J, Johnson E, Payne J. Consumer decision making. In: Robertson TS, Kassarjian HH, editors. Handbook of Consumer Behavior. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall; 1991:50-84.
- Flynn K, Smith M, Freese J. When do older adults turn to the internet for health information? Findings from the Wisconsin Longitudinal Study. J Gen Intern Med 2006 Dec;21(12):1295-1301 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1525-1497.2006.00622.x] [Medline: 16995892]
- Shim H, Ailshire J, Zelinski E, Crimmins E. The Health and Retirement Study: analysis of associations between use of the internet for health information and use of health services at multiple time points. J Med Internet Res 2018 May 25;20(5):e200 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8203] [Medline: 29802088]
- 15. Kreuter M. Tailoring Health Messages: Customizing Communication with Computer Technology. Mahwah, NJ: Routledge; 2019.
- Eslami M, Firoozabadi M, Homayounvala E. User preferences for adaptive user interfaces in health information systems. Univ Access Inf Soc 2017 Aug 5;17(4):875-883 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10209-017-0569-1]
- 17. Jimison H, Pavel M, Pavel J. Adaptive interfaces for home health. 2003 Presented at: Fifth International Conference on Ubiquitous Computing; October 12-15, 2003; Seattle, WA.

- Lustria M, Cortese J, Noar S, Glueckauf R. Computer-tailored health interventions delivered over the Web: review and analysis of key components. Patient Educ Couns 2009 Feb;74(2):156-173 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2008.08.023] [Medline: 18947966]
- 19. Miller CA, Funk H, Goldman R, Meisner J, Wu P. Implications of adaptive vs. adaptable UIs on decision making: Why "automated adaptiveness" is not always the right answer. 2005 Presented at: First International Conference on Augmented Cognition; July 22-27, 2005; Las Vegas, NV.
- 20. Shakshuki E, Reid M, Sheltami T. An adaptive user interface in healthcare. Procedia Comput Sci 2015;56:49-58 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.procs.2015.07.182]
- 21. Suggs L, McIntyre C. Are we there yet? An examination of online tailored health communication. Health Educ Behav 2009 Apr;36(2):278-288 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1090198107303309] [Medline: 17620667]
- 22. Vasilyeva E, Pechenizkiy M, Puuronen S. Towards the framework of adaptive user interfaces for eHealth. 2005 Presented at: 18th IEEE Symposium on Computer-Based Medical Systems (CBMS 05); June 23-24, 2005; Dublin, Ireland p. 139-144. [doi: 10.1109/CBMS.2005.101]
- 23. Vogt J, Meier A. An adaptive user interface framework for eHealth services based on UIML. 2010 Presented at: Bled e-Conference 2010; June 20-23, 2010; Bled, Slovenia URL: <u>https://aisel.aisnet.org/bled2010/13</u>
- Fink A, Beck J. Developing and evaluating a website to guide older adults in their health information searches: a mixed-methods approach. J Appl Gerontol 2015 Aug;34(5):633-651 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0733464813486961] [Medline: 24652883]
- 25. Jacko JA. Adaptive interfaces and agents. In: Sears A, Byrne M, Card S, Cockton G, editors. The Human-Computer Interaction Handbook: Fundamentals, Evolving Technologies And Emerging Applications, Third Edition (Human Factors And Ergonomics). Hillsdale, NJ: CRC Press; 2019:305-330.
- Martin-Hammond A, Vemireddy S, Rao K. Engaging older adults in the participatory design of intelligent health search tools. In: Proceedings of the 12th EAI International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare. 2018 Presented at: PervasiveHealth '18: 12th EAI International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare; May 21-24, 2018; New York p. 280-284. [doi: 10.1145/3240925.3240972]
- 27. Hanington B, Martin B. Universal Methods Of Design: 100 Ways To Research Complex Problems, Develop Innovative Ideas, And Design Effective Solutions. Gloucester, MA: Rockport Publishers; 2012.
- 28. Corbin J, Strauss A. Basics Of Qualitative Research: Techniques And Procedures For Developing Grounded Theory. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc; 2012.
- 29. Davidson J, Jensen C. Participatory design with older adults: an analysis of creativity in the design of mobile healthcare applications. In: Proceedings of the 9th ACM Conference on Creativity & Cognition. 2013 Presented at: 9th ACM Conference on Creativity & Cognition; June 17-20, 2013; Sydney, Australia p. 114-123. [doi: 10.1145/2466627.2466652]
- 30. Hargittai E, Piper AM, Morris MR. From internet access to internet skills: digital inequality among older adults. Univ Access Inf Soc 2018 May 3:1-10. [doi: 10.1007/s10209-018-0617-5]
- 31. Pu P, Chen L. Trust building with explanation interfaces. 2006 Presented at: IUI '06: 11th International Conference on Intelligent User Interfaces; January 29-February 1, 2006; Sydney, Australia p. 93-100. [doi: 10.1145/1111449.1111475]
- 32. Eiband M, Schneider H, Bilandzic M, Fazekas-Con J, Haug M, Hussmann H. Bringing transparency design into practice. 2018 Presented at: IUI '18: Intelligent User Interfaces 2018; March 7-11, 2018; Tokyo, Japan p. 211-223 URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/3172944.3172961</u> [doi: 10.1145/3172944.3172961]
- Melenhorst A, Rogers WA, Bouwhuis DG. Older adults' motivated choice for technological innovation: evidence for benefit-driven selectivity. Psychol Aging 2006 Mar;21(1):190-195. [doi: <u>10.1037/0882-7974.21.1.190</u>] [Medline: <u>16594804</u>]

Abbreviations

IA: intelligent assistant or intelligent agent

Edited by J Wang; submitted 05.07.19; peer-reviewed by L McCann, L Kinsman, M Bestek; comments to author 06.09.19; revised version received 04.10.19; accepted 05.10.19; published 11.12.19.

Please cite as:

Martin-Hammond A, Vemireddy S, Rao K Exploring Older Adults' Beliefs About the Use of Intelligent Assistants for Consumer Health Information Management: A Participatory Design Study JMIR Aging 2019;2(2):e15381 URL: http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e15381/ doi:10.2196/15381 PMID:31825322



©Aqueasha Martin-Hammond, Sravani Vemireddy, Kartik Rao. Originally published in JMIR Aging (http://aging.jmir.org), 11.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Exploring the Perceived Usefulness and Ease of Use of a Personalized Web-Based Resource (Care Companion) to Support Informal Caring: Qualitative Descriptive Study

Amadea Turk¹, BSc, MSc; Emma Fairclough¹, BSc, MSc; Gillian Grason Smith², MA; Benjamin Lond¹, BSc, MSc, MA; Veronica Nanton¹, BA, MSc, PhD; Jeremy Dale¹, MA, MBBS, PhD, FRCGP

¹Unit of Academic Primary Care, Coventry, United Kingdom ²Carers4Carers, Warwickshire, United Kingdom

Corresponding Author:

Jeremy Dale, MA, MBBS, PhD, FRCGP Unit of Academic Primary Care Warwick Medical School University of Warwick Coventry, CV4 7AL United Kingdom Phone: 44 02476522891 Email: jeremy.dale@warwick.ac.uk

Abstract

Background: Informal carers play an increasingly vital role in supporting the older population and the sustainability of health care systems. Care Companion is a theory-based and coproduced Web-based intervention to help support informal carers' resilience. It aims to provide personalized access to information and resources that are responsive to individuals' caring needs and responsibilities and thereby reduce the burdens associated with caregiving roles. Following the development of a prototype, it was necessary to undertake user acceptability testing to assess its suitability for wider implementation.

Objective: This study aimed to undertake user acceptance testing to investigate the perceived usefulness and ease of use of Care Companion. The key objectives were to (1) explore how potential and actual users perceived its usefulness, (2) explore the barriers and facilitators to its uptake and use and (3) gather suggestions to inform plans for an area-wide implementation.

Methods: We conducted user acceptance testing underpinned by principles of rapid appraisal using a qualitative descriptive approach. Focus groups, observations, and semistructured interviews were used in two phases of data collection. Participants were adult carers who were recruited through local support groups. Within the first phase, think-aloud interviews and observations were undertaken while the carers familiarized themselves with and navigated through the platform. In the second phase, focus group discussions were undertaken. Interested participants were then invited to trial Care Companion for up to 4 weeks and were followed up through semistructured telephone interviews exploring their experiences of using the platform. Thematic analysis was applied to the data, and a coding framework was developed iteratively with each phase of the study, informing subsequent phases of data collection and analysis.

Results: Overall, Care Companion was perceived to be a useful tool to support caregiving activities. The key themes were related to its appearance and ease of use, the profile setup and log-in process, concerns related to the safety and confidentiality of personal information, potential barriers to use and uptake and suggestions for overcoming them, and suggestions for improving Care Companion. More specifically, these related to the need for personalized resources aimed specifically at the carers (instead of care recipients), the benefits of incorporating a Web-based journal, the importance of providing transparency about security and data usage, minimizing barriers to initial registration, offering demonstrations to support uptake by people with low technological literacy, and the need to develop a culturally sensitive approach.

Conclusions: The findings identified ways of improving the ease of use and usefulness of Care Companion and demonstrated the importance of undertaking detailed user acceptance testing when developing an intervention for a diverse population, such as informal carers of older people. These findings have informed the further refinement of Care Companion and the strategy for its full implementation.

(JMIR Aging 2019;2(2):e13875) doi:10.2196/13875

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e13875
```

KEYWORDS

caregivers; information technology; internet

Introduction

Background: The Burden of Caring and the Potential of Digital Interventions

Informal carers, who provide unpaid physical, practical, and emotional care, play a particularly vital role in supporting the growing older population, of whom an increasing proportion live with multimorbidity, frailty, and other complex health and social care needs [1]. In the United Kingdom, there are an estimated 7.6 million informal carers aged >16 years, with a significant number of these aged >65 years [2]. Collectively, they form an essential part of the social care system that is estimated to save the state £132 billion every year; without it the provision of care would be unacceptably limited or unaffordable [2]. Hence, supporting the sustainability and effectiveness of informal caregiving is of major importance to individuals, families, and the wider society.

The potential of digital technologies to facilitate access to services and information to support health and well-being is becoming ever more recognized [3,4], and digital technologies are increasingly being used by carers to support their caregiving activity and responsibilities [5-7]. Indeed, digital interventions may significantly enhance the carer's ability to quickly access information and support. However, identifying reliable, current, and easily accessible resources may be time consuming and challenging, especially for those with limited information technology (IT) literacy [8]. Although an online portal that brings together guidance from carer support organizations, information about activities, and social groups is likely to be of considerable use to carers [9], to date an easy-to-navigate program for carers that provides personalized information, resources, and support to address individual needs has been lacking.

Care Companion—a Coproduced Theory-Based Digital Resource for Unpaid Carers

To help address the need for individually tailored resources, we developed a Web-based platform (Care Companion) to provide profile-driven support to informal carers [10]. The platform was coproduced with older carers and utilized a theory-based approach to support resilience and sustainability and is underpinned by a biopsychosocial model of carer resilience proposed by Parkinson et al [11]. The model comprises 5 independent domains (extending social assets, strengthening psychological resources, ensuring timely availability of key external resources, maintaining physical health, and safeguarding quality of life) that can be targeted to strengthen carer resilience and coping (see Figure 1 for intervention framework). It is recognized that digital interventions that target multiple domains and incorporate a personalized approach that is adaptive to ever-changing needs and issues are more likely to improve carers' health outcomes [12].

Care Companion was developed with older carers in mind and includes a guided walk-through of the site, which can be accessed at any time (see Figure 2). It offers links to (1) condition-specific and generic information, local support groups, and other third-sector organizations (see Figure 3), (2) a personal journal for carers to record information, feelings, and thoughts that they deem important (see Figure 4), (3) an address book where carers can save important contacts (see Figure 5), and (4) other features to support self-monitoring (eg, mood of both the carer and the person in their care) [10] (see Figure 2). The resource library targets 3 key areas: carer needs, general information and advice, and sustaining the carer. Users can also access carers' stories that are designed to promote self-efficacy beliefs through vicarious learning [13].





Figure 2. Features of Care Companion: home screen (top) and demonstration of the guided walkthrough available on the site (bottom).







Figure 3. Features of Care Companion: resources.





Figure 4. Features of Care Companion: journal.

Care Companion Home Resources Dia	ry Address Book	My Details Abc	out us FAQs	Glossary Search the site	Contact Log out
Your Diary Show me 🖈					
Would you like to know mo	re about your Diary?				Yes I would 📀
Your Next Appointment	View your upcoming appointments	Add a new	appointm	ent	
You don't have any future appointm	nents stored on Care Companion	Title *		tart Time * 09:32 ate * 13/08/2019	End Time
Choose from one of these tags: Do none of these tags suit your entry? Create a new tag below.	Add a Diary Entry * Diary Title: Entry:	* Date: 13/08/2019	* Time		Save



Turk et al

Figure 5. Features of Care Companion: address book, populated with pre-existing contacts of local support groups and with functionality to add own entries.

Core Companion	My Details Ab	out us FAQs Glossary Contact Log out
Home Resources Diary Ad	dress Book	Q Search the site Search ?
Address Book Show me t The 'Browse All Contacts' button takes you to Information that may be relevant to your situa to Address Book so that is easy to find when r You can create new entries in Address Book u by clicking 'Edit' or removed completely by cli contact form.	a directory of local and national Contact tion. From here, you can save information eeded. sing the form below. These can be edited cking the X in the top right corner of the	Browse All Contacts ➡
Create a Contact Organisation Name * (and / or) a Person's Full Name * 	Nuneaton & Bedworth District Image: Construct - Exercise for over 55s Zumba type exercise for anyone, including those who need to or want to sit down whilst exercising. Meet Fridays 10-10.45am, £2 per session. Image: O2478388507 Image: info@stockingfordcc.org Stockingford Community Centre, Haunchwood Road, CV10 8DY	Alzheimers Society Warwickshire Image: Comparison of C

Importance of User Acceptability Testing

The number of older people accessing the internet and taking advantage of Web-based services is increasingly rapidly [9,10,13,14]. However, older individuals often have lower levels of confidence in using new technologies compared with younger people [9]. Applying user-centered approaches to understanding the context in which digital health technologies will be used is particularly important when developing interventions for older people [15]. As such, the coproduction of Care Companion was shaped by interviews, focus groups, and workshops with carers [10], underpinned by a theory-driven process of coproduction [16]. This informed its design, content, and implementation.

Having developed a full working version of Care Companion, there was now a need to test user acceptance with a more diverse range of users and stakeholders than those that had participated in the coproduction. User acceptance testing was undertaken to ensure Care Companion's compatibility with different needs [15] and explore potential barriers and facilitators to its use [17].

Barriers to using Web-based technologies include issues surrounding accessibility, such as the availability of digital devices or internet connections, lack of digital skills, and lack

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e13875
```

RenderX

of motivation or awareness of the potential benefits of engaging with technologies. In addition, a lack of trust in digital technologies, such as fear of crime and Web-based scams, concerns relating to privacy, and uncertainty about the credibility of sources of information, may also affect their uptake and use [18,19]. Such barriers may be particularly pertinent to older carers.

Other possible barriers to adoption of Care Companion may include language, culture, and ethnicity. There are estimated to be around 600,000 ethnic minority carers in England and Wales [20], and yet the scope of the initial coproduction had largely excluded consideration of the specific needs associated with culture and ethnicity. The omission of different sociocultural perspectives might inadvertently contribute to inequalities in access to health and social care [21,22]. Hence, user acceptance testing provided an opportunity to explore how different cultural values and norms may influence the uptake and usage of Care Companion.

Aims and Objectives

The aim of this study was to undertake user acceptance testing to explore the perceived usefulness (how useful the features of the platform are in everyday life) and ease of use of Care

Companion and to identify refinements that might be needed before it becomes widely available.

The key objectives were to (1) explore the perceived usefulness and ease of use of Care Companion among the actual and potential users, (2) determine the barriers and facilitators that may affect its uptake and use, including the possible effects of culture and ethnicity, and (3) gather suggestions to inform plans for its wider implementation.

Methods

Theoretical Approach

The study was underpinned by the principles of rapid appraisal [23]. This is a pragmatic approach to obtaining information about a specific set of questions within a time and resource-limited real-world setting and has been successfully applied to health services research [24]. It enables rapid assessment of community perspectives of needs and supports translating these findings into action [23].

We adopted a qualitative descriptive approach [25,26] to the analysis of data. Although qualitative description is the least theoretical of qualitative approaches to research [27], it is relevant for generating information about the experience of a specific phenomenon in situations where time and resources are limited [26]. It is less interpretive than other forms of qualitative enquiry as it neither requires the researcher to move far beyond the data nor requires a conceptual or highly abstract rendering of the data [27].

The Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT) [28] was used to help identify outcomes of interest that are relevant to the adoption and uptake of Care Companion, particularly its technical and practical aspects, as their refinement was recognized as being essential for the platform's wider launch.

Study Design

Qualitative methods including focus groups, observations, and semistructured interviews were used to explore key issues surrounding the use and implementation of Care Companion. The study aimed to recruit older carers through purposive sampling. The study was conducted iteratively, with two phases of data collection, each designed to explore different elements of the platform's use. We aimed to recruit a diverse mix of carers, including individuals from South Asian ethnic backgrounds, from community groups within the local area.

In the first phase, semistructured interviews were undertaken while the carers tried using Care Companion to elucidate how they approached and navigated the site. The second phase involved focus group discussions and participants trialing Care Companion for up to 4 weeks, followed by a semistructured interview in which they shared their experiences of its use. The findings from both phases were used to shape subsequent technical development of Care Companion.

Phase 1: Testing Accessibility

Participants were recruited through local carer groups who met regularly and agreed for a member of the research team to drop in during their meetings. Carers were provided with a tablet device and guidance on how to create their profile in Care Companion. They were then interviewed as they navigated the site to (1) understand their interaction with the platform, (2) identify elements that they struggled with, and (3) gain an overall view of their interest and enthusiasm in using it. A *think-aloud* method [30] was used wherein participants were encouraged to voice their thought processes as they navigated the platform to explain why they chose each section. The questions presented to carers while using the site focused on the ease of use, whether the layout was intuitive, whether the appearance was appealing, and ideas on how it could be improved.

Following a brief presentation, participants were asked general questions about their use of digital technology, how they search for information, their initial impressions of Care Companion, which elements they thought would be most useful, and the potential barriers to use. They were then invited to use Care Companion for up to 4 weeks, and those interested were invited to participate in a follow-up telephone interview to discuss their experiences. Further details about how participants from focus groups participated in interviews can be found in Multimedia Appendix 1. The semistructured telephone interviews were planned to last 20 to 30 min and followed a topic guide (see Multimedia Appendix 2 for interview questions) informed by the concepts of the UTAUT [28]. All interviewees signed consent forms.

Table 1 illustrates how the study meets the criteria for rigor defined by Lincoln and Guba [29] using a framework provided by Bradshaw et al [26].



Table 1. Demonstrating rigor in exploring the usefulness and ease of use of Care Companion.

Criteria	Definition of criterion	Examples of how criterion is addressed
Credibility	The confidence in the truth of the research findings. Credible and plausible research findings must be drawn from the participants' original data and need to be correct interpretations of these data.	 Trusting relationships between participants and the research team may increase participants' willingness to share their experiences. A number of steps were taken to build trust: Relationships between the research team and the support groups were developed through past exchange of emails and telephone conversations; The team made use of the Medical School, National Health Service, local authority, and Age UK logos on all communications about the study and on the platform; Furthermore, leading (and trusted) members of the support groups helped arrange focus groups and thus facilitated recruitment; During the focus groups and interviews, the researcher discussed the importance of supporting informal carers, expressing compassion and empathy for those in caring roles Findings from the interviews and focus groups were shared and discussed with the study's panel of carers that helped verify the findings. Member checking occurred with 1 participant who was interested in being involved in the project long-term. All findings from the study were shared and discussed with its carer advisory panel Data were collected through a variety of methods from people with a range of caring experience. Data analysis was discussed among the members of the research team. These steps aided triangulation Participants were invited to remain engaged by continuing their use of the Care Companion and provided with contact details should they wish to share more feedback with the research team. Some were invited to being involved through membership of the study's carer panel
Confirmability	The extent to which findings can be confirmed to be real. The extent to which it can be shown that the interpretation of the findings is clearly derived from the data.	 Interviews were audio recorded and transcribed verbatim. Transcripts were stored securely on protected computers Notes were taken during focus group discussions and think-aloud interviews An audit trail capturing participant interest, data collection, and the research path was kept Data analysis was conducted in NVivo Direct quotations are used to illustrate the findings and to show that the findings represent the gathered data and are not biased by researchers
Dependability	Establishes whether the study's findings are consistent and repeatable	• An audit trail was established describing the study's procedures and progress, including changes that needed to be made during the study
Transferability	The extent to which the findings can be applied to other contexts	 The study used purposeful sampling Notes were kept by the researchers during data collection. Researchers were reflexive about their potential impact on the data collection process and other contextual factors

Ethical Approval

The study received ethical approval from the University of Warwick Biomedical Sciences Research Ethics Committee.

Analysis

All interviews and focus groups were transcribed verbatim, anonymized, and managed and analyzed using NVivo [31]. Thematic analysis [32] was applied to the data, and a coding framework was developed iteratively during analysis by AT, EF, and BL. This followed a 5-step process of familiarization, identifying a thematic framework, indexing, charting, and mapping and interpretation [28]. Field notes were used to support contextualizing interpretation and of the transcripts-particularly in relation to the think-aloud interviews where participants used and pointed to different aspects of the platform. Coding was conducted inductively [33]. Once coding was complete, key themes were identified, explored, and interpreted by all authors. The analysis of each phase of the study also informed the subsequent phases of data collection

RenderX

and analysis. The final analysis involved synthesizing information from each phase of data collection and integrating the different themes into a broader thematic structure [34].

Phase 2: Group Discussions, User Acceptability Testing, and Semistructured Interviews

Participants were recruited from local carer groups organized by charities including Parkinson's UK and a local South Asian carers' support group. Care group facilitators were contacted through email and asked whether a researcher could join one of their weekly meetings to conduct a focus group.

Results

Participant Recruitment

Participants who took part in think-aloud interviews were recruited through local carer support groups. A total of 4 carers with differing levels of IT literacy agreed to participate. They predominantly cared for individuals with neurodegenerative

diseases, such as dementia. In total, 4 focus groups were conducted involving a total of approximately 50 participants. Groups varied in size, reflecting the availability and willingness of the different carer groups' members to participate. Of the participants, 16 expressed an interest in testing Care Companion. Of these, 2 participants declined taking part in a follow-up interview (one told us that they struggled to use the site, and the other felt that the platform did not add to the support they were already receiving). In addition, two other individuals recruited through carer groups volunteered to use Care Companion and participate in a follow-up interview. A total of 10 participants did not respond to the contact made by the research team for follow-up interviews, leaving a total of 6 interviews that were conducted with participants (see Table 2 for further details).

Table 2. Summary of participants in user acceptability testing.

Identifier	Recruitment strategy	Gender	Participants, n	Details about caring responsibilities	
Phase 1					
Data collect	ion by think-aloud interview				
P1-1	Rural café for supporting older people and their carers	Female	1	Lived separately from person needing care	
P1-2	Rural café for supporting older people and their carers	Female	1	Lived with person needing care	
P1-3	Rural café for supporting older people and their carers	Male	1	Lived with person needing care	
P1-4	Rural café for supporting older people and their carers	Female	1	Lived with person needing care	
Phase 2					
Data collect	ion by focus group				
FG 1	Rural café for supporting older people and their carers	3 females	3	All 3 participants were carers for somebody they lived with (parent or spouse).	
FG 2	Local Parkinson disease charity	Large group — mixture of males and females	37	The group was a mixture of people in care and their carers	
FG 3	Local Parkinson disease charity	3 males and 4 females	7	The group was predominantly made up of carers, 1 participant identified as caring for himself	
FG 4	South Asian carer network	1 male and 2 females	3	All lived with person needing care	
Data collect	ion by interview				
P2-1	Referred by carer panel member	Male	1	Living with and caring for spouse for 2 years at the time of the interview	
P2-2	Rural café for supporting older people and their carers	Female	1	Caring for 4 years, providing daily care at the time of the interview	
P2-3	Recruited through invitation sent to dementia support group	Male	1	Living with and caring for spouse for 4 months at the time of the interview	
P2-4	Rural café for supporting older people and their carers	Female	1	Living with and caring for parent for 7 months at the time of the interview	
P2-5	Local Parkinson disease charity	Female	1	Living with and caring for spouse for 6 years at the time of the interview	
P2-6	Local Parkinson disease charity	Male	1	Living with a condition, care for self and support their carer to care for them	

Interview Findings

clearly illustrated these themes were selected. These are discussed below.

The key themes identified in the interviews related to the perceived usefulness and ease of use of Care Companion; its appearance and ease of use; the profile setup and log-in process; the safety and confidentiality of personal information; barriers to use and uptake and suggestions for overcoming them; and suggestions for improving Care Companion. Quotes that most

Usefulness and Ease of Use of Care Companion

The breadth of available, trustworthy, and bespoke resources and contacts listed on Care Companion (see Figure 2) was rated highly by carers. Participants thought this would make the platform an extremely useful resource for aiding their

caregiving. They contrasted this with their experience of using regular search engines that can generate an overwhelming number of results that may not necessarily be relevant. Participants were positive about the fact that this was a resource aimed at carers rather than care recipients. This highlights the scarcity of such resources and that the carer is often overlooked when they are supporting someone with more immediate needs.

I find that by going onto this Care Companion site, there's a lot of information that can be easy sort of broken down. And you sort of can get to calm down a little bit and think; probably life isn't quite as bad as you first thought it was, you know. There is help out there. And it triggers it in the right sort of way...it's got the potential of something being very good. Like I said, with Google, it tends to be a bit overwhelming. With this particular site, it's tending to hone in and cut down that overwhelmingness. [P2-3]

It's just the way I was thinking about things. I suppose it's the way my brain is programmed at the moment that everything is for the cared for rather than myself. So, I was thinking that I really should look at it from a totally different angle and use it for my own benefit rather than [P2-2]

In contrast, one carer did not participate in a follow-up interview as he felt that Care Companion did not add anything to the support he was already receiving.

The journal feature was received with particular enthusiasm for its potential to log events, appointments, medications, symptoms, and other important aspects of their caring role. It was suggested that this feature would encourage the ongoing use of Care Companion:

I think it would be something that would be very useful, and certainly for me particularly with regards to the journal because at the moment I don't keep a log of everything that happens. And I do realize now, through just sort of playing around with the package, I do realize just how important that would be to me, to be able to just keep a record [P2-2]

I felt that it was a very useful site; I wished I'd known about it 12 months ago. The journal I think will be useful because you could transfer that information to the GP. [P2-1]

I think it's the journal I would probably find most useful, being able to express my feelings, for want of a better expression really. [P2-4]

Although Care Companion is aimed at carers, some participants felt that it could also be very useful for the care recipient—to either help themselves or help support their care provider. This was seen as a way of facilitating mutual support to maintain higher levels of independence. It further highlighted the often-blurred boundary between caregiving and self-caring roles, particularly in the early stages of a condition, and that Care Companion should be inclusive in enabling this.

Appearance and Ease of Use

Participants were satisfied with the appearance of the site and found it intuitive to use. The headings and signposting within the site were considered to be clear, making its different features easy to find and access (see Figure 2). The guided walk-through was considered to be a useful feature. Some, however, noted that they struggled using it until they had familiarized themselves with the site. Some cited their relative lack of experience with technology as a barrier to easy use:

The appearance was good. The ease of access was alright when I'd learnt how to use it, you know. I'm not a computer expert, but once I'd found my way around yes it's relatively easy. [P2-1]

Profile Setup and Log-In Process

A number of key subthemes emerged relating to profile setup and logging in. These include the difficulties of remembering passwords and email addresses and the sensitivity and relevance of profile questions.

Remembering Passwords and Email Addresses

Although participants found accessing the platform straightforward, some expressed concern with remembering their log-in details. Indeed, we observed some carers struggling to verify their email when first registering for an account on the platform, either because they were unsure about how to access their email or because they could not remember a password.

Two-Factor Authentication

Participants were cautious of Care Companion's 2-step verification log-in system, where users would input their email and password before getting an automated phone call that delivered a onetime 4-digit code that was needed to allow access. Although 2-step verification was used to help prevent unauthorized log-in to users' accounts and safeguard their data, participants' initial views were that this measure was cumbersome. It was, however, accepted that it plays an important role in protecting their information:

I did not like that you needed an automated telephone call to provide a validation code each time you logged in. If someone doesn't have access to a telephone then they would not be able to use. [FG4, female carer]

Sensitivity and Relevance of Profile Questions

Some participants noted that certain questions in the profile setup needed further consideration. For instance, at the time of study, the profile questions required carers to comment on their financial situation; it was suggested that this question could be considered stressful for some and that there should be an option to say *unwilling to answer* or *do not know*. Other participants felt that some of the questions were subjective and, therefore, difficult to answer. For example, when rating the independence of the person in their care, one carer noted that this could be difficult to answer. Participants did, however, recognize that the personalization of the resources depended on these questions being answered. Participants also suggested using additional questions to help enhance personalization:



If someone is under pressure, you know, if they've got financial problems then that's just sort of dramatic overload on the issue isn't it, so yes that's relevant. [P1-1]

So you might...you might need another saying I don't know, can't say or don't know, or something like that. Do you know what I mean? I mean you could even have a situation where you had a carer who was looking after the person, and their finances were being dealt with by another family member somewhere at the other end of the country. [P1-3]

Safety and Confidentiality

Participants were concerned about their safety and confidentiality when using Care Companion. They were aware of Web-based scams and expressed concern as to how their information was kept secure, as well as the risks associated with uploading and downloading personal information. Participants were also keen to understand how Care Companion would comply with new general data protection regulation legislation [35] and wanted to know how their information was stored and who would have access to it:

And people should be, it should be explained to people that if they're going to download it, are you downloading it to a secure place, you know. And give people plenty of prompts to make sure that they could say yes, I'm happy doing this. [P1-3]

Barriers to Use and Uptake and Suggestions for Overcoming Them

Participants identified a number of issues that could present barriers to the use of Care Companion and its wider implementation. There were concerns expressed about those from lower-socioeconomic backgrounds without access to digital devices being excluded from adopting Care Companion. Other participants noted that some older carers have low levels of digital literacy, which could prevent access to the platform. In addition, South Asian participants highlighted that Care Companion was only available in English, which would hinder access to caregivers with a limited ability to read English. It was also noted that carers of a South Asian background may be hesitant to adopt Care Companion for the fear of how this may impact other statutory support that they are receiving. To this end, they advised that the platform's purpose as an information and signposting tool be emphasized:

One thing you've got to be careful of, for people on benefits or...social housing all that side of things—welfare; that this [Care Companion] has got nothing to do with that. This community of people just in general will be very cagey it if they thought that this was going to impact. So you need to be quite clear in the message that this [Care Companion] is for information purposes only...it wouldn't affect their care or their rights—it's just signposting. [FG4, female carer]

Participants commented, both in interviews and group discussions, that many carers use devices other than computers to access online services, such as tablets and smartphones. It was suggested that having Care Companion optimized for the use on tablets or smartphones could help overcome some of the extrinsic hardware barriers to accessing the service. In-person training sessions were also recommended to help demonstrate Care Companion and improve the uptake of the platform.

Carers of an Indian background noted that including more visual graphics, such as video to help explain and demonstrate the platform, would bypass the need for verbose text and be helpful for people with limited ability to read English. They also stressed that, for Indian communities, it might be beneficial to adopt a community-driven approach to help spread awareness of Care Companion. This would help enhance carer trust in the platform and thus increase the likelihood of individuals taking-up the service. To this end, promotion of the platform may be advanced by working alongside prominent and well-respected persons and religious groups based in these communities:

I think the only way that you would get other [Indian] people to use it [Care Companion] is perhaps through word-of-mouth...it's essentially about referring them to this resource...I think that would be essentially the best way to target it to other people. [FG4, female carer]

I think it's about trust. Because if they know you and you say, "oh I used it-it helped me, take a look" I would say well they've recommended it, they've got reasons behind it...it's like an added bonus. [FG4, female care]

Suggestions for Improving Care Companion

Care Companion was still under development at the time of data collection. As a consequence, some participants encountered technical difficulties that have since been resolved. In addition, the carers suggested several improvements to the features of the platform that are summarized in Table 3.



Table 3.	Summary of	of suggestions	for improvement	of Care	Companion.
----------	------------	----------------	-----------------	---------	------------

Turk et al

Suggested improvement
Add tagging options or subsections that allow users to categorize their entries, and thus enable easier retrieval of information; Improve the ability to search for entries by displaying a calendar; Add the ability to enter events that will occur in the future
Increase the number of "moods" available, in particular a "stressed" option
Enhance the personalization of relevant contacts. (In its test format, the contacts list was not as profile-driven as the resources)
Inclusion of additional links in the resources section to websites that they knew about and thought might be valuable to others
Inclusion of additional profile questions to drive further personalization, such as age categories
In earlier stages of development, the platform's searching function was limited and often had errors

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study has (1) explored the perceived usefulness and ease of use of Care Companion among older carers, (2) identified several barriers and facilitators that may affect its uptake and use, and (3) gathered suggestions for its further refinement and wider implementation. Recruiting different groups of carers to those who had participated in its coproduction [10] helped validate key themes that had been previously identified and also provided new insights. Overall, the carers who participated in our study perceived Care Companion to be a valuable and useful tool to support them in their caregiving activities.

The breadth of personalized, easily accessible, and carer-centered information on a single platform that is easy to navigate was especially celebrated by the participants. In addition to the resources section that had information relevant to supporting and informing caring roles, the journal feature within Care Companion was received with particular enthusiasm. Participants valued its ability to log events and thoughts and other important aspects of their caring role, such as medications, symptoms, and appointments. Facilitators to the uptake and the use of Care Companion were felt to include its simple and intuitive design and the breadth of personalized information. The main barriers to use included low digital literacy, access to digital technologies, the complexity of 2-factor authentication, and an inability to read English.

During the interviews and focus groups, a number of suggestions were voiced to help refine Care Companion. These included enhancing existing features (eg, the addition of tags in journal entries to enable easier retrieval of information) and ways of encouraging wider uptake and use. These included the following suggestions: running brief local training courses to support those with low technological literacy, optimizing the platform for use on devices other than computers (namely tablets and smartphones), and including more visual graphics to mitigate verbose text and the associated language barriers. Finally, suggestions emerged for a more culturally informed strategy to promote Care Companion within Indian communities by way of a community-driven approach to maximize trust in the service.

Impact of User Acceptability Testing

Both phases of user acceptance testing were used to drive changes to the Care Companion prototype. These changes include the following: enhancements to the journal feature to enable scheduling of appointments and tagging of entries, additional profile questions relating to ethnicity, religion, and culture to drive further personalization of resources, simplification of the 2-step authentication process, and removal of technical difficulties experienced by users.

Limitations

Carers face a number of burdens, including a lack of free time for themselves [1]. Inevitably, they are a difficult population to recruit for the purposes of research. Therefore, we adopted a highly flexible and opportunistic recruitment strategy that used a range of different interview and observation methods and settings to collect data. The focus groups were based on pre-existing groupings and thus differed widely in size. The strength of this approach was the convenience to participants. However, using pre-existing groups meant that there was little possibility for collecting sociodemographic data on participants, and this inevitably raised questions about representativeness. In addition, in a large focus group, it is not possible to ensure that everyone's views can be fully heard, and some participants may not have felt confident to express their opinions in front of such a large group.

The study had limited funding and had to be completed within a relatively short timescale to inform the planned area-wide implementation of Care Companion. Hence, it had a relatively small sample size that limits the generalizability and transferability of the findings.

The study aimed to explore how factors, such as culture and ethnicity, may influence the uptake of Care Companion. As this was a rapid and small study, we only targeted local South Asian groups, as these represent the largest ethnic minority groups in England [21,36]. Although we attempted to explore the potential of using Care Companion with South Asian carers, we experienced significant difficulties in recruiting participants. As a result, we were only able to recruit carers of Indian heritage, therefore exploring only their experiences rather than a diversity of South Asian perspectives. This may have been because the research was undertaken during summer months which coincided with holidays and religious events. Furthermore, the researcher (BL) was a male, which may have made it difficult to recruit South Asian female carers [36].

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e13875
```

Furthermore, caregiving is understood as an intrinsic part of family duty among many South Asian communities [21,37], meaning that members of these communities may not identify as carers because they locate their caregiving within broader religious and cultural norms [37]. South Asian caregivers may, therefore, better recognize themselves as persons who are fulfilling their duty to the family and community, rather than as *carers*. Although the problem of identifying as a *carer* is not unique to South Asian communities, it can hinder access to vital support and resources [38] and may be particularly pertinent to these communities.

Although we were not able to recruit participants from a diverse range of ethnic and cultural groups, the insights that emerged from those that did participate illustrated the need for further, more detailed exploration of the role culture and ethnicity may play in the uptake of such technologies.

Although the sample size was relatively small, it is worth acknowledging that there was a high level of coherence and conformity among the data that were collected through a variety of techniques. Data saturation was reached in discussions about the usefulness of the platform.

Comparison With Previous Studies

Although the use of digital technologies is increasing throughout all age groups across the population, there remains greater fear and anxiety among older adults toward using them, as well as a lack of confidence in their own skills and abilities to do so [39]. Our study suggests that older carers recognize that online technologies are potentially valuable and relevant. Our findings demonstrate that members of this this group are willing to learn how to navigate through a well-designed and tailored platform, such as Care Companion. This is in line with the model of technology acceptance proposed by Barnard et al [40].

Participants in our study indicated that an in-person introduction to Care Companion, such as through brief individual or group training sessions, could help increase the understanding and uptake among older carers. Studies have shown that supportive environments can have a powerful role for encouraging the use of digital technologies, whether through step-by-step guidance, offering a friendly space to use trial and error methods, or through providing an instruction manual [40]. Preferably, this should involve a user-centered model where an individual's unique characteristics and needs are taken into consideration [41].

Concerns about online security and confidentiality are reported in other studies [42,43], where older adults report fear that their personal data may be misused and manipulated [42]. Our study shows that older carers are aware of these risks and are eager to understand how their personal information is being stored and used. They were concerned that if they uploaded personal information this would compromise their safety and there might be the possibility of other people reading and accessing their private notes. This highlights how important it is for platforms, such as Care Companion, to be unambiguous and transparent about how information is stored and that this is presented clearly in simple language. Although 2-factor authentication is in place to help protect users' information, for Care Companion, this entailed users receiving a phone call with a 4-digit pin code whenever they logged in from a different internet protocol address; this verification process was seen as cumbersome and off-putting. There is a need for authentication mechanisms to be accessible and inclusively designed for a broad range of users [44]. As a result, Care Companion's 2-factor authentication process has now been modified to include a number of changes to make it easier to hear and understand the automatic call back. The introduction of an *I'm ready* button to allow users time to find their telephone or a pen and paper on which they could write down the code, has also been added.

The journal feature of Care Companion was widely considered to be the most useful aspect of the platform and which would encourage the site's continuous use. Writing expressively about emotionally triggering events is recognized as having positive effects on physical and mental well-being [45,46]. This may help the carers to understand, regulate, and process difficult emotions and so shape affective and cognitive state, as well as serve as an aide-memoire when explaining issues to a health or social care provider [46].

Conclusions

Exploring the acceptability and aspects of use of Care Companion has been an informative and important step between the coproduction process and the wider realization and evaluation of the platform. A number of insightful lessons emerged, illustrating the importance of careful user acceptance testing [15].

The key findings identified during the coproduction phase of Care Companion's development were reinforced by this study. These include the need for resources aimed specifically at carers (instead of care recipients); importance of personalized information; and the value of having a journal. This acceptance testing further highlighted issues that had not previously been identified during the coproduction phase, which include the importance of transparency for security and data usage; minimizing barriers to initial registration; and offering demonstrations to support a wider uptake by people with low technological literacy. In addition, this study underscores the need to develop a culturally sensitive approach to promoting Care Companion that works in partnership with and reflects the diversity of the local population.

The evidence from our study is relevant to the wider development of digital interventions for carers and is now informing the strategy for a full area-wide implementation of Care Companion.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.



Multimedia Appendix 1 Details of data collection. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 72 KB - aging_v2i2e13875_app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Interview schedule-think-aloud interviews. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 52 KB - aging_v2i2e13875_app2.pdf]

References

- 1. Petrie K, Kirkup J. The Social Market Foundation. 2018. Caring for Carers: The Lives of Family Carers in the UK URL: http://www.smf.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Caring-for-Carers.pdf [accessed 2019-05-08]
- Buckner L, Yeandle S. Carers UK. 2015. Valuing Carers 2015: The Rising Value of Carers' Support URL: <u>https://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/valuing-carers-2015</u> [accessed 2019-05-08] [WebCite Cache ID 78DGqyLeQ]
- 3. Department of Health. 2011. Whole system demonstrator programme, headline findings. Department of Health and Social Care, 2011 URL: <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215264/</u> <u>dh_131689.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-05-08] [WebCite Cache ID 78DHKDWjr]
- 4. Dutton WH, Blank G, Groselj D. Oxford Internet Surveys. 2013. Cultures of the Internet: The Internet in Britain URL: http://oxis.oii.ox.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/11/OxIS-2013.pdf [accessed 2019-05-08] [WebCite Cache ID 78DJBDXDj]
- Sin J, Henderson C, Spain D, Cornelius V, Chen T, Gillard S. eHealth interventions for family carers of people with long term illness: a promising approach? Clin Psychol Rev 2018 Dec;60:109-125 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2018.01.008] [Medline: 29429856]
- Heo J, Chun S, Lee S, Lee KH, Kim J. Internet use and well-being in older adults. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2015 May;18(5):268-272. [doi: <u>10.1089/cyber.2014.0549</u>] [Medline: <u>25919967</u>]
- Hopwood J, Walker N, McDonagh L, Rait G, Walters K, Iliffe S, et al. Internet-based interventions aimed at supporting family caregivers of people with dementia: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2018 Dec 12;20(6):e216 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9548] [Medline: 29895512]
- Heynsbergh N, Heckel L, Botti M, Livingston PM. Feasibility, useability and acceptability of technology-based interventions for informal cancer carers: a systematic review. BMC Cancer 2018 Dec 2;18(1):244 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12885-018-4160-9] [Medline: 29499663]
- 9. Good Things Foundation. 2015. The Health and Wellbeing of Unpaid Carers: Where Can Digital Skills and Community Support Add Value? URL: <u>https://www.goodthingsfoundation.org/sites/default/files/research-publications/</u><u>unpaid carers report final sml.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-05-08] [WebCite Cache ID 78DK802Cz]
- 10. Dale J, Loew J, Nanton V, Smith GG. Coproduction of a theory-based digital resource for unpaid carers (the care companion): mixed-methods study. JMIR Aging 2018;1(1):e1. [doi: <u>10.2196/aging.9025</u>]
- 11. Parkinson M, Carr SM, Rushmer R, Abley C. Investigating what works to support family carers of people with dementia: a rapid realist review. J Public Health (Oxf) 2017 Dec 1;39(4):e290-e301 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/pubmed/fdw100] [Medline: 27679663]
- 12. Pagán-Ortiz ME, Cortés DE, Rudloff N, Weitzman P, Levkoff S. Use of an online community to provide support to caregivers of people with dementia. J Gerontol Soc Work 2014;57(6-7):694-709 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/01634372.2014.901998] [Medline: 24689359]
- 13. Bandura A. Health promotion by social cognitive means. Health Educ Behav 2004 Apr;31(2):143-164. [doi: 10.1177/1090198104263660] [Medline: 15090118]
- 14. Age UK. 2018. Later Life in the United Kingdom 2019 URL: <u>https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-uk/documents/</u> reports-and-publications/later_life_uk_factsheet.pdf [accessed 2019-05-08] [WebCite Cache ID 78DKxypbC]
- 15. Matthew-Maich N, Harris L, Ploeg J, Markle-Reid M, Valaitis R, Ibrahim S, et al. Designing, implementing, and evaluating mobile health technologies for managing chronic conditions in older adults: a scoping review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Jun 9;4(2):e29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.5127] [Medline: 27282195]
- Yardley L, Morrison L, Bradbury K, Muller I. The person-based approach to intervention development: application to digital health-related behavior change interventions. J Med Internet Res 2015 Jan 30;17(1):e30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4055] [Medline: 25639757]
- Moore GF, Audrey S, Barker M, Bond L, Bonell C, Hardeman W, et al. Process evaluation of complex interventions: Medical Research Council guidance. Br Med J 2015 Mar 19;350:h1258 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.h1258] [Medline: 25791983]
- Government Digital Service. 2014. Government Digital Inclusion Strategy URL: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/</u> <u>publications/government-digital-inclusion-strategy/government-digital-inclusion-strategy</u> [accessed 2019-05-08] [WebCite <u>Cache ID 78DMsPpyg</u>]

- 19. West S. Age UK. 2015. Later Life in a Digital World URL: <u>https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-uk/documents/</u> reports-and-publications/reports-and-briefings/active-communities/later life in a digital world.pdf [accessed 2019-05-08] [WebCite Cache ID 78DN7t6pG]
- 20. Carers UK. 2015. Facts About Carers: Policy Briefing URL: <u>https://www.carersuk.org/images/Facts_about_Carers_2015.</u> pdf [accessed 2019-02-28] [WebCite Cache ID 78DNH2pnm]
- Lawrence V, Murray J, Samsi K, Banerjee S. Attitudes and support needs of black Caribbean, south Asian and white British carers of people with dementia in the UK. Br J Psychiatry 2008 Sep;193(3):240-246. [doi: <u>10.1192/bjp.bp.107.045187</u>] [Medline: <u>18757985</u>]
- 22. Kenning C, Daker-White G, Blakemore A, Panagioti M, Waheed W. Barriers and facilitators in accessing dementia care by ethnic minority groups: a meta-synthesis of qualitative studies. BMC Psychiatry 2017 Dec 30;17(1):316 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12888-017-1474-0] [Medline: 28854922]
- Murray SA, Tapson J, Turnbull L, McCallum J, Little A. Listening to local voices: adapting rapid appraisal to assess health and social needs in general practice. Br Med J 1994 Mar 12;308(6930):698-700 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.308.6930.698] [Medline: 8142796]
- 24. Murray SA. Experiences with 'rapid appraisal' in primary care: involving the public in assessing health needs, orientating staff, and educating medical students. Br Med J 1999 Feb 13;318(7181):440-444 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.318.7181.440] [Medline: 9974462]
- 25. Sandelowski M. Whatever happened to qualitative description? Res Nurs Health 2000 Aug;23(4):334-340. [doi: 10.1002/1098-240X(200008)23:4<334::AID-NUR9>3.0.CO;2-G]
- 26. Bradshaw C, Atkinson S, Doody O. Employing a qualitative description approach in health care research. Glob Qual Nurs Res 2017;4:2333393617742282 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/233393617742282] [Medline: 29204457]
- 27. Lambert VA, Lambert CE. Qualitative descriptive research: an acceptable design. Pac Rim Int J Nurs Res 2012;16(4):256 [FREE Full text]
- 28. Venkatesh V, Zhang X. Unified theory of acceptance and use of technology: US vs China. J Glob Inf Technol Manag 2014 Sep 9;13(1):5-27. [doi: 10.1080/1097198X.2010.10856507]
- 29. Lincoln YS, Guba EG. Naturalistic Inquiry. Beverly Hills, London: Sage Publications; 1985.
- 30. Shneiderman B, Plaisant C, Cohen M, Jacobs S. Designing the User Interface: Strategies for Effective Human-Computer Interaction. Boston, MA: Addison-Wesley Longman Publishing Co; 1997.
- 31. QSR International. 2018. NVivo Qualitative Data Analysis Software. Twelfth edition URL: <u>https://www.qsrinternational.com/</u><u>nvivo/home</u>
- 32. Vaismoradi M, Turunen H, Bondas T. Content analysis and thematic analysis: implications for conducting a qualitative descriptive study. Nurs Health Sci 2013 Sep;15(3):398-405. [doi: 10.1111/nhs.12048] [Medline: 23480423]
- Hsieh HF, Shannon SE. Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. Qual Health Res 2005 Nov;15(9):1277-1288. [doi: <u>10.1177/1049732305276687</u>] [Medline: <u>16204405</u>]
- Pope C, Ziebland S, Mays N. Qualitative research in health care. Analysing qualitative data. Br Med J 2000 Jan 8;320(7227):114-116 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.320.7227.114] [Medline: 10625273]
- 35. Publications Office of the European Union. 2016. Regulation (EU) 2016/679 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 April 2016 on the Protection of Natural Persons With Regard to the Processing of Personal Data and on the Free Movement of Such Data, and Repealing Directive 95/46/EC (General Data Protection Regulation) URL: <u>https://publications.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/3e485e15-11bd-11e6-ba9a-01aa75ed71a1/language-en</u> [accessed 2019-05-08]
- 36. Waheed W, Husain N, Allen G, Atif N, Aseem S, Waquas A, et al. Recruitment strategies for British south Asians in 5 depression trials: a mixed method study. J Affect Disord 2015 Oct 1;185:195-203. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jad.2015.06.046</u>] [Medline: <u>26202166</u>]
- Sohi KK, Singh P, Bopanna K. Ritual participation, sense of community, and social well-being: a study of seva in the Sikh community. J Relig Health 2018 Dec;57(6):2066-2078. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10943-017-0424-y</u>] [Medline: <u>28577087</u>]
- 38. Carers UK. 2016. Missing Out: The Identification Challenge URL: <u>https://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/missing-out-the-identification-challenge</u> [accessed 2019-02-25] [WebCite Cache ID 78DPXGVcR]
- Marquié JC, Jourdan-Boddaert L, Huet N. Do older adults underestimate their actual computer knowledge? Behav Inform Technol 2010 Nov 8;21(4):273-280. [doi: <u>10.1080/0144929021000020998</u>]
- 40. Barnard Y, Bradley MD, Hodgson F, Lloyd AD. Learning to use new technologies by older adults: perceived difficulties, experimentation behaviour and usability. Comput Hum Behav 2013 Jul;29(4):1715-1724 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2013.02.006]
- 41. Vroman KG, Arthanat S, Lysack C. 'Who over 65 is online?' Older adults' dispositions toward information communication technology. Comput Hum Behav 2015 Feb;43:156-166 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2014.10.018]
- 42. Hill R, Betts LR, Gardner SE. Older adults' experiences and perceptions of digital technology: (dis)empowerment, wellbeing, and inclusion. Comput Hum Behav 2015 Jul;48:415-423 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2015.01.062]
- Mitzner TL, Boron JB, Fausset CB, Adams AE, Charness N, Czaja SJ, et al. Older adults talk technology: technology usage and attitudes. Comput Human Behav 2010 Nov 1;26(6):1710-1721 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2010.06.020] [Medline: 20967133]

- 44. Fuglerud K, Dale O. Secure and inclusive authentication with a talking mobile one-time-password client. IEEE Secur Priv 2011 Mar;9(2):27-34. [doi: 10.1109/msp.2010.204]
- 45. Herbert C, Bendig E, Rojas R. My sadness our happiness: writing about positive, negative, and neutral autobiographical life events reveals linguistic markers of self-positivity and individual well-being. Front Psychol 2018;9:2522 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02522] [Medline: 30670993]
- 46. Baikie KA, Wilhelm K. Emotional and physical health benefits of expressive writing. Adv Psychiatr Treat 2018 Jan 2;11(5):338-346. [doi: 10.1192/apt.11.5.338]

Abbreviations

IT: information technology **UTAUT:** Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology

Edited by L Song; submitted 04.03.19; peer-reviewed by C Varsi, B Davis, YAM Qanir, F Yu; comments to author 02.04.19; revised version received 21.05.19; accepted 20.06.19; published 20.08.19. <u>Please cite as:</u> Turk A, Fairclough E, Grason Smith G, Lond B, Nanton V, Dale J Exploring the Perceived Usefulness and Ease of Use of a Personalized Web-Based Resource (Care Companion) to Support Informal Caring: Qualitative Descriptive Study JMIR Aging 2019;2(2):e13875 URL: https://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e13875 doi:10.2196/13875 PMID:31518272

©Amadea Turk, Emma Fairclough, Gillian Grason Smith, Benjamin Lond, Veronica Nanton, Jeremy Dale. Originally published in JMIR Aging (http://aging.jmir.org), 20.08.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Promoting Identification and Use of Aid Resources by Caregivers of Seniors: Co-Design of an Electronic Health Tool

Dominique Giroux^{1,2}, PhD; Mélanie Tremblay³, MA; Karine Latulippe³, PhD; Véronique Provencher^{4,5}, PhD; Valérie Poulin^{6,7}, PhD; Anik Giguere^{2,8}, PhD; Véronique Dubé^{9,10}, PhD; Andrée Sévigny^{2,11}, PhD; Manon Guay^{4,5}, PhD; Sophie Ethier^{2,11}, PhD; Maude Carignan², MA

¹Department of Rehabilitation, Université Laval, Québec, QC, Canada

²Center of Excellence on Aging Quebec, Québec, QC, Canada

³Department of Teaching and Learning Studies, Université Laval, Québec, QC, Canada

⁴School of Rehabilitation, Université de Sherbrooke, Sherbrooke, QC, Canada

⁶Université du Québec in Trois-Rivières, Trois-Rivières, QC, Canada

⁸Department of Family Medicine and Emergency Medicine, Université Laval, Québec, QC, Canada

⁹Faculty of Nursing, University of Montreal, Montreal, QC, Canada

¹⁰Research Centre of the University Hospital of Montreal, Montréal, QC, Canada

¹¹School of Social Work and Criminology, Université Laval, Québec, QC, Canada

Corresponding Author:

Maude Carignan, MA Center of Excellence on Aging Quebec 1050 chemin Sainte-Foy Québec, QC, G1S 4L8 Canada Phone: 1 418 682 7511 ext 82701 Email: carignan.maude@chudequebec.ca

Abstract

Background: The importance of supporting caregivers is recognized in home care for older persons, and facilitating their help-seeking process is a way to meet that need. The use of electronic health (eHealth) is a potentially promising solution to facilitate caregivers' help-seeking process.

Objective: The aim of this research was to develop, in partnership with community organizations, health and social service professionals and caregivers, an eHealth tool promoting the earlier identification of needs of older persons and an optimal use of available resources.

Methods: To design the tool, 8 co-design sessions (CoDs) were conducted and 3 advisory committees were created (in 11 regions) in Quebec between May 2017 and May 2018. A variety of methods were used, including the sorting method, the use of personas, eHealth tool analysis, brainstorming, sketching, prototyping, and pretesting.

Results: A total of 74 co-designers (women n=64 and men n=10) were recruited to participate in the CoDs or the advisory committees. This number allowed for the identification of needs to which the tool must respond and for the identification of its requirements (functionalities and content), as well as for the development of the information architecture. Throughout the study, adjustments were made to the planning of CoD, notably because certain steps required more sessions than expected. Among others, this was true for the identification of functionalities.

Conclusions: This study led to the development of an eHealth tool for caregivers of functionally dependent older persons to help them identify their needs and the resources available to meet them.

International Registered Report Identifier (IRRID): RR2-10.2196/11634

(JMIR Aging 2019;2(2):e12314) doi:10.2196/12314

⁵Center of Research on Aging, Centre intégré universitaire de santé et de services sociaux de l'Estrie, Centre hospitalier universitaire de Sherbrooke, Sherbrooke, QC, Canada

⁷Interdisciplinary Center for Research in Rehabilitation and Social Integration, Université Laval, Québec, QC, Canada
KEYWORDS

caregivers; aged; help-seeking behavior; community-based participatory research; eHealth; telemedicine

Introduction

Background

It is recognized that aging of the population has an impact on health and social service professionals (HSSPs) who provide care and services to these individuals. This reality, added to a recognition of the benefits of keeping seniors at home [1,2], has resulted in a reorganization of services in Quebec where home care is now promoted [3]. This choice has an impact on caregivers, who are often asked to contribute to home care for older persons with decreasing independence, both physical and psychological [4-6]. Although this role can be rewarding, l'Appui pour les proches aidants d'aînés, a nonprofit organization in Quebec that supports caregivers, reveals that 99% (3771/3809) of participants in their study reported a negative impact of caregiving on their health [5]. They report anxiety or anguish (37% 1409/3809), fatigue (32% 1219/3809), and sleep problems (22% 838/3809) and mention needing home care (28% 1067/3809), professional help (26% 990/3809), respite (23% 876/3809), information and advice (12% 457/3809), and support (11% 419/3809) [5]. It is important to note that although nearly one in 4 participants report needing respite, 94% (3581/3809) say they never use these services [5].

So, the importance of assisting caregivers is recognized and, in response, many support programs, resources, and services are offered by health and social service facilities and by community-based and private organizations [6]. There are a number of benefits to using these services, both for the caregiver and the person with decreasing independence [6]. However, it appears that they are still less used. Some tools exist in Quebec to facilitate caregivers' help-seeking process but most are intended for HSSPs and not specifically for caregivers. Moreover, it appears that despite the existence of these tools, the available resources are not widely known and they are seldom used by caregivers. A pilot study conducted by Latulippe et al [7] highlights the factors influencing caregivers' help-seeking process. This study reveals that they need effective tools early in the process of the loss of independence to help them identify the appropriate resources to meet their needs and those of the older person they are helping. It is often after the first signs of exhaustion that caregivers undertake the help-seeking process, but it is difficult for them to know the most appropriate resource for their situation without the assistance of HSSPs [8,9]. The use of electronic health (eHealth) is a potentially promising solution to facilitate caregivers' help-seeking process [10]. Thus, the goal of this research was to develop, in partnership with community organizations, HSSPs, and caregivers, an eHealth tool promoting an earlier identification of the needs of functionally dependent seniors and an optimal use of available resources

Conceptual Framework

To develop this eHealth tool, we followed a user experience (UX) perspective. Using a UX perspective for the design of a technology involves going beyond instrumental need and acknowledging the use of this technology as a "subjective, situated, complex and dynamic encounter," considering the user's internal state, the characteristics of the product design and the context of interaction with the product [11]. We used the Elements of User Experience UX framework (Figure 1), which proposes 5 steps for the development of user-centered technologies: (1) identification of the strategy (product objectives and user's needs), (2) identification of the scope (functional specifications and required content), (3) development of the structure (interaction design and information architecture), (4) creation of the skeleton (interface, information, and navigation design), and (5) creation of the surface (sensory design) [12].



Figure 1. Elements of user experience (Garrett 2011).



Objectives of This Paper

The protocol of this project presenting the details of the methodology has been published in the *Journal of Medical Internet Research* protocols [13]. The results of phase 2 of this research are now presented in 3 different papers. The first focuses on identifying needs as the first step in co-design. The second concerns the development of the functionalities and

contents of the tool. The purpose of the third article, this paper, was to present the whole process of phase 2: the development of an eHealth tool for caregivers using a co-design approach. It also aims to explain the differences between what was planned and what was achieved, to present the tool developed, and to discuss the benefits and challenges of using a co-design approach. Figure 2 illustrates where this paper is situated in the entire process of the study.





Methods

Study Design

A method based on a co-design participatory approach was used to achieve the objectives of this study. According to Harder et al [14], the co-design approach is different from the positivist perspective as participants are not studied objectively. From a co-design perspective, the distinctions between researcher, practitioner, and user are blurred. At the end of the level of participation spectrum, engagement of the participant is described as "full partnership" or "learning as one"[...] [14].

```
On the basis of a literature review of 10 years (2002-2012) of
participatory design (PD) research, Halskov and Hansen present
the fundamental aspects of PD [15]—(1) politics: people who
are affected by a decision should have an opportunity to
influence it, (2) people: people play critical roles in design as
experts in their own lives, (3) context: the use situation is the
fundamental starting point for the design process, (4) methods:
methods are means for users to gain influence in design
processes, and (5) product: the goal of participation is to design
alternatives, improving the quality of life.
```

RenderX

According to this approach, the actors directly concerned by the project objectives, here the caregivers themselves, as well as the community organizations and HSSPs providing care and services, were included at each stage of the study, not as participants but as co-designers [16]. This approach ensures that the tool meets the user needs for an eHealth tool [17].

To apply this approach, 8 co-design sessions (CoDs) and 3 advisory committee sessions (ACs) were planned (Figure 2). The CoDs, lasting 3 hours, consisted of following the steps of Garrett's model (Figure 1). The ACs were also 3 hours long, and the role of these committees was to guide the progression of the tool to ensure continuity between the CoDs and coherence between the decisions taken by the co-designers participating in different sessions [13].

To optimize the tool, we considered the factors contributing to reducing social health inequalities (engagement of future users in the co-design, the help-seeking process, access to eHealth technologies, knowledge related to the utilization of eHealth technologies, eHealth literacy and cultural competency, and learning capacity) throughout the development of the eHealth tool [18]. This aspect is the subject of the thesis of one doctoral student who is part of the research team and will, therefore, not be discussed in the context of this article. We also considered the intrinsic experience of people who participated as co-designers during the CoDs and ACs. This aspect is the subject of the thesis of another doctoral student who is also on the research team. Their publications will come later.

As mentioned earlier, a more detailed description of the method (participants and selection criteria, recruitment, content planned for each CoD, data collection, and ethical considerations) can be found in the published protocol of the study [13]. We still offer a summary for an overall assessment of the process.

Recruitment

The sampling strategy was based on the importance of including all potential users in designing the tool. Therefore, co-designers were recruited from 3 categories of users: caregivers, service providers from community settings, and professionals from the health and social services network. The advisory committee included researchers (VP, VP, VD, and SE), caregivers, community workers, and HSSPs. The research team included a Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) student and UX expert (MT), a PhD student (KL) working on the factors reducing social health inequalities, a research professional who is an anthropologist and trained in qualitative research (MC), and the project director (DG).

This study was a multicentric project. To ensure a representative sampling of the different situations in Quebec regions, recruitment covered 11 regions of Quebec (including rural and urban areas) between May 2017 and May 2018. To recruit co-designers, the home care and elderly care management of the 11 Integrated Health and Social Service Centres (CISSS) were contacted to recruit 2 HSSPs per CISSS. In addition, these workers were asked to recruit caregivers using their services. Members of community organizations were recruited through

direct contact via phone or email. They were also asked to publicize our recruitment announcement among caregivers attending their institution and activities. Finally, recruitment announcements for caregivers were posted in 30 family medicine groups throughout the province.

The study received ethical approval from the *comité d'éthique du CIUSSS Capitale Nationale* (2016-2017-10MP), and informed consent was obtained from each participant. Participants also received a symbolic compensation amount (Can \$20) to cover potential fees for travel and parking.

Data Collection

A variety of methods were used to promote participation of all co-designers in the process throughout the project's evolution. Sometimes the activities were carried out in a large group (project presentations, the sorting method, plenary sessions, brainstorming, and the conclusions) and sometimes in subgroups (prototyping, eHealth Tool comparative analysis, sketching, and pretesting). The subgroups were divided in a mixed way or by type of co-designers (caregivers, HSSPs, or community workers). Mixed subgroups were used when we wanted to cross perspectives, whereas division by type of co-designer was used when we wished to highlight the perception of caregivers. For each subgroup, a moderator (a member of the team for each subgroup) monitored the conduct of the activity and the role of each participant.

As illustrated in Figure 2, the CoDs were interspersed with the ACs (September 2017, December 2017, and June 2018). Members of the advisory committee did not intervene directly in the CoD. However, results collected during the CoDs were reported to the advisory committee when decisions had to be taken or when co-designers differed. These decisions were made by reaching a consensus among the committee members.

The data were obtained via the notes taken by moderators during and after the working sessions, any artifacts produced, and a synthesis of audio recordings. The role of the research team was very important in this study as they were also acting as co-designers, according to the co-design study plan [17]. Each member of the research team participated in data collection and worked in partnership with other co-designers at every step of the design process.

Data Analysis

For data analysis, an analytical questioning method was employed [19]. This method consists of the development of an investigative framework according to the research objective, followed by careful and repeated reading of the material under study to answer the initial questions. Therefore, the researcher questions the corpus, acquires a first-level response, and converts the answers into additional and more precise questions. Finally, by answering these newly generated questions, we obtain more detailed answers or new questions if needed.

Following the analytical questioning method, the objectives of each CoD were articulated in question form as a first step. The investigative framework for each session is detailed in Table 1.



Table 1. Investigative framework.

Analytical questions	Co-design (CoD) and advisory committee (AC) sessions
Based on the needs identified in the pilot project, the literature and potential additions by the group, which ones should be prioritized in the design of the tool?	CoD1 and AC1
What are the general requirements (ex: I want someone to be there to answer my questions) and specific requirements to consider (ex: I want a forum)?	CoD1, AC1, CoD3, and CoD4
What does the tool need to do to meet these needs in considering the characteristics of the individuals concerned and their own experience?	CoD2
Based on the identified needs, what would this tool look like, what would it do?	AC1
What features would meet the needs and requirements of previous groups?	CoD3, CoD4, CoD5, AC2, CoD6, and CoD7
What content elements would meet the needs and requirements of previous groups?	CoD5, AC2, CoD6, and CoD7
Which architecture or structural design of the information would facilitate intuitive access to content?	CoD5, AC2, CoD6, CoD7, CoD8, and AC3
How should we interact with the site functionalities to facilitate intuitive access to content?	CoD5, AC2, CoD6, CoD7, CoD8, and AC3
What design of interface elements can facilitate interaction between the user and the functionalities, as well as movements through the architecture?	CoD7, CoD8, and AC3
How effective are the graphic processing of the elements of the interface, the visual processing of the text, the elements of the page and the navigation?	CoD8 and AC3

The research team systematically applied the analytical questioning method after every CoD and AC. Each member condensed the data (notes, artifacts, and a synthesis of audio recordings) of their subgroup and, for group activities (plenary discussions), 1 member was designated to perform the analysis. According to the investigative framework, answers to the initial questions were reported in a Microsoft Word or Excel document. Subsequently, several meetings were held to discuss the analytical results, to verify and confirm the results obtained, and to check whether the objectives were achieved or if more work was needed to reach them. This data analysis was necessary to plan the following session.

Results

Co-Designers' Characteristics

A total of 74 co-designers (women n=64 and men n=10) were recruited for this project (Table 2).

We initially hoped to have co-designers with a variety of characteristics, in terms of their profession (social worker, occupational therapist, physiotherapist, doctor, and nurse), their organization (administrative agency, association, organization, and other), and their sociodemographic attributes, to ensure that the tool is developed taking into account a diversity of people [13]. This appears to have been achieved, except for gender and ethnicity. Caregivers, community workers, and HSSPs are more often female [20,21]; this reflects the reality. Furthermore, our co-designers were predominantly Caucasian.

Table 2. Description of co-designers.

Caregivers socio-demographic characteristics	Caregivers (n=30)	Community workers (n=26)	Health professionals (n=18)	
Sex, n				
Women	26	20	18	
Men	4	6	0	
Age (years), range (mean)	42-88 (77.9)	24-66 (44.8)	29-53 (39.6)	
Education level, n				
Elementary school	1	0	0	
High school	10	1	0	
College	4	4	6	
Vocational studies	1	0	3	
University	12	21	9	
None	1	0	0	
N/M ^a	1	0	0	
Age of the relative (years), range (mean)	61-96 (78.2)	b	—	
Relationship to the person for whom they provide care, a	n			
Children	8	—	—	
Sibling	3	—	—	
Spouse/husband	17	—	—	
Friend	2	_	_	

^aNot mentioned.

^bNot applicable.

Co-Design Process

Throughout the progress of the study, adjustments were made to plan the CoD, notably because certain steps, among others the identification of functionalities, required more sessions than expected. A potential explanation for this is that the co-designers were not experts in Web design, and they had more difficulty identifying the functionalities needed to meet the targeted needs. In accordance with the design process and with the study by Garrett [12], existing tools in the same category should be analyzed. The choice was made to explore 9 existing eHealth tools (selected by considering the functionalities included to expose participants to a variety) with the co-designers to help determine which seemed relevant to meet the identified needs (CoD3). The development of content items also took longer than expected. Table 3 summarizes the planned content of the CoDs and the ACs, as described in the study by Latulippe et al [13], the content covered after the adjustments, the methods used, and the results achieved.

Table 3. Co-design sessions' content.

Co-design session and content planned	Covered content	Activities and methods	Achievements				
1, 2, and 3—Strategy: user needs and product objectives							
Identification of content and func- tional requirements that must be in- cluded to meet the user's needs	Identification of the needs; identification of tool requirements based on prioritized needs and the variables to consider; and comparison of existing tools	Sorting method; brainstorm- ing; persona; and workshops in subgroups	Identification of 8 needs not cov- ered by any contents or functional- ities in the other tools				
4 and 5—Scope and structure: function	nal specifications, content requirement,	interaction design, and infor	mation architecture				
Identification of content and func- tional requirements that must be in- cluded to meet the user's needs (continued); design of information architecture to facilitate intuitive access to content; interaction design: development of the course of the application with the aim of facilitat- ing the user's tasks and defining how the user interacts with the functionalities of the site	Identification of content and functional requirements to meet the 8 user's needs not covered by the other tools; choice of functionalities and design of information architecture	Group brainstorming; paper prototype; development from the material provided of the desired site architec- ture in 3 subgroups	Creation of 3 interactive PDF files (based on paper prototypes) repre- senting what the tool should look like, what functionalities it should include, and how it should be orga- nized				
6—Structure and skeleton: interaction	design and information architecture ar	nd information design					
Design of information architecture (continued); interaction design (continued); design of the interface elements to facilitate the user's inter- actions with the functionalities of the application: navigation, terminol- ogy, density of the text, and inter- face	Creation of content for different function- alities and pages and result ranking filter	Brainstorming and work- shops in subgroups	Content for the caregiver profile, resource profile, needs identifica- tion questionnaire, visual analog scale, and draft of the caregiver's testimony video and first draft of the research tool				
7—Skeleton: interface and navigation	design						
Design of the interface elements (continued)	Validation of the content created in Ses- sion 6; discussion of privacy issues as opposed to the user experience; finaliza- tion of the algorithm database for the search tool; determination of the degree of detail of the search results; develop- ment of the keyword lexicon; and valida- tion of the information architecture and interaction design of the site with a medium-fidelity prototype (clickable version)	Workshops in subgroups	Adjustment of the need identifica- tion questionnaire; and layout proposal for search results on the results page; draft of the keywords lexicon in association with the database				
8—Skeleton: aesthetic							
Graphic treatment of interface ele- ments, and visual treatment of the text, elements on the page and navi- gation.	Usability test of a high-fidelity prototype (Web); presentation of different home- page proposals;-verification of the under- standing of the visual analog scale; deci- sion on which information should appear on the results page and in which form; content creation for pop-ups, pre-check- ing of phrases to support the quality of service, and draft for the virtual tours video; and finalization of the list of key- words (lexicon) in association within the database	Pretest; workshops in sub- groups; and open discussion	Completed list of keywords (lexi- con) in association with the database; collection of co-design- ers' impressions about the site in general; and draft of virtual tours video				

Strategy and Scope (Functionalities and Content Identification)

The first 2 CoDs, as well as the first AC, clarified the objectives of the eHealth tool and allowed for the prioritization of the needs to which it must respond (objective 1). This part of the study is described by Latulippe et al [22]. Following the identification

XSL•FO RenderX of needs, CoDs 3, 4, 5, and 6, along with the second AC, allowed for identification of the requirements (functionalities and content) that must be included to meet the needs. Tremblay et al [23] describe this part of the project. Please also note that content elements were developed throughout the 8 CoDs. These will be presented in the *Information Design* section.

Structure and Skeleton

The structure plane includes information architecture, which is the creation of a pattern that represents how users will access content. CoD 5 allowed for the development of the information architecture. Consequently, co-designers were divided into small working groups (including at least 1 caregiver in each). We chose low-fidelity prototyping to produce paper-based Web page designs corresponding to identified requirements. Prototyping is an effective method to advance the idea under study (here the eHealth tool) while quickly getting feedback from co-designers [17]. Thus, all functionalities and content requirements were represented by images, and co-designers were asked to place them (or remove or add them) according to the optimal organization of a website (home page, results page, etc). The 3 proposals for the information architecture design are presented in Figure 3.

Figure 3. Information architecture design proposals.

Following this CoD, the research team reproduced the 3 proposed structures of the eHealth tool in an interactive PDF format. These 3 PDF proposals were then introduced to members of the advisory committee during a second meeting session.

Advisory committee members were invited to explore the proposals. They were also encouraged to discuss them to make choices for the nonconsensual elements. At this stage of the project, a Web designer was recruited to design Web mock-ups, and a programmer analyst was brought in to analyze the requirements and program a first version of the eHealth tool. We deliberately chose a black-and-white version for the mock-ups of pages because we wanted to isolate aspects of information architecture, interaction, and interface design and avoid any influence that colors might have (Figure 4) [24,25].





Figure 4. First version of the tool.

de l'eusil



nom de l'outil	(A•) (A•) Français ≎
Accueil Exemple 1 Exemple 2 avec sous-menu 🗸	Connexion 🗸
Êtes-vous un proche aidant? Être un proche aidant c'est tout simplement voir au bien et à la qualité de vie d'une personne qui a besoin de notre soutien. • J'aide ma mère à faire l'épicerie	DECEMBER OF THE OWNER OF THE OWNE
 J'accompagne mon pere a des rendez-vous médicaux J'ai besoin de soutien parce que je m'occupe d'un proche Ma mère m'appelle pour du soutien psychologique Vous êtes un proche aidant 	Fil d'actualités Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetuer adipiscing elit, sed diam nonummy nibh euismod tincidunt ut laoreet dolore magna aliquam erat volutpat. Ut wisi enim ad Publié le 2018-03-15 à 17:31 Lire la suite
Qu'est un proche-aidant ?	Praesent sem felis, finibus ut nibh eget, efficitur tincidunt massa. Aliquam mollis elit a maximus tristique. Vestibulum dictum feugiat ex non ullamcorper. Morbi quis commodo ipsum Publi el 2018-03-15 à 12:15 Lire la suite Pellentesque interdum dui faucibus risus fringilla, et dictum erat egestas. Cras malesuada mollis elit, id rutrum lacus ullamcorper ut Publi el 2018-03-14 à 15:22 Lire la suite Donec maximus risus ac mauris tempor. Nunc ante sed sapien aliquet, vel aliquam leo commodo. Once urna urna, in iaculis diam porta viae. Phasellus ut leo libero laoreet hendrerit Publi el 2018-03-12 à 9:35 Lire la suite Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetuer adipiscing elit, sed diam nonummy nibh euismod tincidunt ut laoreet dolore magna aliquam erat volutgat. Ut wisi elim ad Publi el 2018-03-11 à 10:24 Lire la suite
Je suis un proche-aidant Je suis un organisme	Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetuer adipiscing elit, sed diam nonummy nibh euismod tincidunt ut laoreet dolore magna aliquam erat volutpat. Ut wisi enim ad Publié le 2018-01-17 à 18:01 Lire la suite

Information Design

We completed the production of the content items of the tool in the 6 to 8 CoDs. We also intended to work on navigation and interface elements, as well as graphic design of the tool during these sessions. However, the time required to determine the functionalities and develop the content of the tool did not allow us to complete these steps as planned. Nonetheless, even if no specific activities addressed these steps of the design process, co-designers commented on the desired colors and on the visual aspect of the tool (eg, a minimalist aesthetic), which allowed the UX expert and the programmer to develop a beta version of the eHealth tool (Figure 5).

Thus, all of these CoDs aimed to develop an eHealth tool to help caregivers in (1) recognizing their role as caregivers, (2)establishing their needs and those of the elders they support, and (3) identifying resources that meet their needs. The requirements (functionalities and content) needed to meet these objectives were identified and organized according to a structure that meets the needs and characteristics of potential users (seniors' caregivers). In the beginning of the process, we did not know exactly the type of eHealth tool we were going to

design as we let co-designers decide on the form, consistent with their needs. A website with a responsive grid that fits on a tablet was chosen because caregivers using the internet tended to use a search engine from a tablet or their computer during their help-seeking process. The website option was developed based on the actual digital literacy profile of caregivers in Quebec.

The design of the website includes the following:

- 1. A definition of a caregiver, including a video.
- 2. Reference to a resource person as needed.
- 3. A search tool by keywords and region or geographical area with the possibility of carrying out an advanced search.
- 4. A questionnaire to help caregivers identify their needs.
- Access for organizations to register their services and 5. activities and to submit documents and videos.
- 6. A Results page organizing results in 3 categories: organizations, activities, and documents.
- 7. The ability to add testimonials and virtual tours for each formal service to encourage caregivers and make them comfortable using the services.
- 8. A Profile page for caregivers where they can register their favorites and access a personal activity calendar

RenderX

Figure 5. Version 2 of the tool.

SOUTIEN PROCHE AIDANT	A+ A- Langue : CONNEXION
Écrivez un mot clé (ex: alzheimer, épuisé, repas) Q CHERCHER Région \$	Êtes vous un proche aidant d'aîné? J'aide mon père à faire l'épicerie. Étre un proche aidant c'est tout simplement voir au bien et à la qualité de vie d'une personne qui a besoin de notre soutien. J'aide mon père à faire l'épicerie. Unable de vie d'une personne qui a besoin de notre soutien. J'aide mon père à faire l'épicerie. Unable de vie d'une personne qui a besoin de notre soutien. J'aide mon père à faire l'épicerie. Unable de vie d'une personne qui a besoin de notre soutien. Ma mère m'appelle pour du soutien psychologique. Vous êtes un proche aidant d'aîné Nous êtes un proche aidant d'aîné
Vous ne connaissez pas vos besoins?	Qu'est-ce qu'un proche aidant

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study led to the development of an eHealth tool (a website) that allows caregivers to identify their needs and those of the older person they support and to effectively pinpoint resources to meet those needs. To date, although it is necessary to better support caregivers to preserve their health and quality of life and to ensure the safety and well-being of functionally impaired seniors, it is recognized that caregivers still have difficulty in identifying their needs and those of the elders they support and that they make scant use of available resources [6]. As there were already tools available to help caregivers in this process, co-designers first questioned the relevance of developing an additional tool. However, it emerged that none of the existing tools completely meet the needs of the caregivers or were fully adapted to their situations.

Co-design is a promising avenue for the design of eHealth technology as it has the potential to increase the correspondence between user needs and the technology developed. When users participate as co-designers, they engage as experts in terms of their own experience with technology [15]. To our knowledge, few studies have used a co-design approach to develop an eHealth tool for caregivers in Quebec. Other studies have explored a participatory approach, such as co-design in eHealth for caregivers as co-designers [26-29]. This is particularly important for caregivers of older persons as they may be elderly themselves and as current statistics in Quebec reveal a digital divide related to age (65 years and more) [30]. When elder caregivers participate in the design of technologies, we can expect them to make design decisions corresponding to their

willingness to use the technology designed. In this case, we believe it might increase the use of the website, enabling us to reach the goal of this research project: allowing caregivers to find appropriate resources by themselves.

Engagement

The participation of the people targeted by the eHealth tool in the development of eHealth promotes their ability to be healthy, committed to improving the status of caregivers and, thus, reducing their risk of social health inequalities [18]. From a social justice perspective, the active participation of those concerned is a democratic process that reconciles freedoms, individual preferences, and collective choices [31]. The use of a co-design approach may allow this type of participation. It involves the groups that are experiencing the problem through a research process that combines the roles of creator, decision maker, and user simultaneously [32]. In this sense, it appears to be a genuine means of operationalizing democracy. The activities and methods used were intended to facilitate the ability of co-designer to engage in creation and innovation regardless of their technological skills.

The more concrete the methods (eg, prototyping from an image), the easier it seemed for co-designers to come up with ideas. Working in a subgroup with the presence of a moderator (a member of the team for each subgroup) encouraged a fair discussion, an ease in expressing themselves, and optimal participation for each individual.

Challenges and Solutions

We encountered various challenges associated with the co-design approach. The principal challenges and solutions found by the research team were (1) the recruitment of caregivers, (2) discussion outside the scope of the research, (3)

the limited ability of some co-designers to view functionalities, (4) the short intervals between the CoDs, (5) the place of the research team, and (6) the collaboration of experts in various domains.

The Recruitment of Caregivers

As with most studies using this population, the recruitment of caregivers, considering the limited time they have available, was a challenge [33]. To reduce the burden of participation and to promote recruitment, we adjusted the methodology so that caregivers were solicited for only one 3-hour work session and not for the entire co-design process. We also worked with community organizations to provide respite and transportation solutions to caregivers attending these sessions. With these adjustments, we were able to recruit 30 caregivers and achieve our objectives.

Discussion Outside the Scope of the Research

During the sessions, caregivers felt the need to express their emotional burden due to the role that they are fulfilling. In addition, the HSSPs and community workers wanted to communicate some frustrations related to their work. This context led toward discussions not initially planned in the working sessions. This had an impact on the time available to reach our goals. It was challenging to recognize this issue in the discussion while attempting to stay focused on the goal of the meeting. However, empathetic listening has been prioritized. We planned the sessions leaving at least 20 to 30 min without activity to have enough time to accommodate such needs. This certainly contributed to the fact that we were not able to devote a session exclusively to the sensory design stage of the Garett model, but we still managed to gather information through other activities.

The Limited Ability of Some Co-Designers to View Functionalities

The limited ability of some co-designers (caregivers and professionals) to view functionalities was another concern. Sometimes, co-designers were not all able to fully engage during CoDs because of a lack of design or technological knowledge or simply because of a failure to comprehend. Other studies also encountered this difficulty [28,34]. When we realized this, we explored increasingly concrete activities to facilitate this participation.

The Short Intervals Between the Co-Design Session

The short intervals between CoDs constituted a challenge. We planned approximately 1 CoD per month to respect our schedule. However, the time needed to analyze data and plan the following CoDs consistent with results forced us to shift some sessions. The analytical questioning method proved to be a good choice to focus on the questions to be answered for the next step. Thematic analysis, for example, would have required much more time between coding sessions.

The Place of the Research Team

The research team worked closely with participants in the cocreation process. This collaboration between the research team members and other co-designers might have influenced the results. That said, close interaction and collaboration

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e12314/
```

between co-designers and researchers remains a fundamental aspect of the co-design approach. Knowledge creation in co-design should be considered in terms of group cognition, which includes researchers [35]. If the team is considered to be part of the co-design, it means that team members share their thoughts with other co-designers. This can influence the decisions made by the group and may compromise the group's power sharing. Conversely, if the research team is not part of the co-design, it may have omitted some important considerations such as what is realistic for the programmer, ideas from the academic literature, or the clinical experience of members. To maintain our role as co-designers while respecting the decisions or ideas coming from other co-designers, the research team carefully noted the provenance of ideas to distinguish them from those of the other co-designers, in case there would be contradictory choices. In such a case, the advisory committee was called upon to take the decision.

The Collaboration of Experts in Various Domains

Another challenge stemmed from the fact that the research was conducted by experts from various domains. Therefore, a gap between the design research of insiders (those from the design domains) and that done by outsiders (researchers from other domains) emerged [36]. In fact, major difficulties in co-design are the diversity of approaches and a lack of common vocabulary to describe its characteristics, resulting in a growing bank of unrelated works and a lack of transdisciplinary understanding [14]. During the preparation sessions, we had to repeatedly clarify the vocabulary used and discuss our respective perspectives. Nevertheless, the presence of co-designers from a variety of domains has enriched the creative process and contributed to the rigor of the approach.

Thus, design is a complex cognitive activity [37], and users might encounter difficulties at certain steps of the process. Technical knowledge and technological acceptance have major impacts on design decisions. Yet, even if the investments in terms of efforts and cost might appear greatest with a multicentric and multisegment co-design user approach, it remains a promising and innovative avenue in the design of information and communication technologies in the eHealth domain. It allows for a deeper and broader understanding of human experience with technology, along with a better comprehension of nondesigners engaging in a design activity. To foster the potential efficiency of eHealth technology, we must continue to collaborate with different fields of expertise and embrace a designerly way of thinking when conducting co-design research. Experts from the design domain should increase collaboration with HSSPs. Design heuristics should be considered a framework for the design of eHealth technologies [38].

Limitations

This project, beyond its challenges and solutions, has certain limitations. Among other things, the majority of participants are from the province of Quebec and speak French; we know that the notion of caregiving can vary according to different cultures [39]. In addition, the cultural competence of an eHealth tool is an important factor to consider in reducing social inequalities in health [40,41]. We were able to observe cultural

XSL•FO RenderX

differences related to the different regions (eg, feeling of strong isolation in Gaspésie, importance of the first nations in Côte-Nord, and complexity of the location of organizations in Montreal), and these differences were taken into account in the tool. However, it does not yet take into account the differences related to ethnic origin. This study will have to be continued.

Benefits of the Project

The impacts of this project are unprecedented as it was carried out in a rigorous study involving stakeholders in 11 regions in the province of Quebec to consider the contexts that may vary according to the region. The project will definitely serve to optimize the help-seeking process through the website developed. Moreover, the questionnaire created can play in important role to support the identification of needs to assist caregivers to better prepare themselves. Even before the emergence of difficulties and depending on the trajectory of the disease, the questionnaire can support the identification of needs rather than acting in response to the gradual loss of autonomy.

So, this not only allows for the maximizing of the autonomy, security, and quality of life of the functionally impaired older persons, but it also enables them to remain at home longer as the risk of caregiver exhaustion is reduced. This initiative will allow caregivers to have more control over various situations as they will be better equipped to cope. The benefits are also important for functionally impaired older persons as they can count on quality help from a better-equipped caregiver. Finally, throughout the project, the partnership with key players, such

as members of community-based organizations and HSSPs, ensures that the proposed tool complements existing tools.

Conclusions

This study led to the development of an eHealth tool for caregivers of functionally impaired older persons to help them identify their needs and the resources available to meet them. This tool will help caregivers to optimize their process of seeking help and to prepare for the trajectory of the disease even before the onset of hardship, rather than acting in response to an increased need for care. This proactive approach has the potential to not only maximize the autonomy, safety, and quality of life of the older person assisted but to also prolong their home care as the risk of caregiver burnout will be reduced. This initiative will allow caregivers to have more control over the various situations, as they will be better equipped to deal with them. They will also be better prepared for the evolution of the disease. Another important outcome of this project is improving the support for older persons with a loss of autonomy. Indeed, the person can count on quality help from a better-equipped caregiver. Moreover, the fact of offering this tool to caregivers as soon as the diagnosis is made will ensure elders' right to self-determination is respected by optimizing their autonomy and involving them in decisions concerning them before difficulties arise. The next step will involve user testing to confirm the effectiveness of the design product, which will be the final stage of this study (phase 3), and an evaluation of its usability and will be done in the following months.

Acknowledgments

This study was conducted at the Centre d'excellence sur le vieillissement de Québec of the Centre hospitalier de l'Université Laval. The funds for this study were granted by the Québec amis des aînés program of the Ministère de la Famille (Quebec).

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Gesano G, Heins F, Naldini A. European Commission. 2009. Regional challenges in the perspective of 2010 URL: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/en/information/publications/studies/2009/</u>
- regional-challenges-in-the-perspective-of-2020-regional-disparities-and-future-challenges
 Bossen C, Christensen LR, Grönvall E, Vestergaard LS. CareCoor: augmenting the coordination of cooperative home care
- work. Int J Med Inform 2013 May;82(5):e189-e199. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2012.10.005] [Medline: 23127539]
- 3. [Ministry of Health and Social Services and Department of Family and Seniors]. [Government of Quebec]. 2012. [Aging and living together, at home, in one's community, in Quebec] URL: <u>https://www.mfa.gouv.qc.ca/fr/aines/vieilliretvivreensemble/Pages/Plan-action-2018-2023.aspx</u> [accessed 2019-06-05] [WebCite Cache ID 78uSXqnhC]
- Lavoie J, Guberman N, Marier P. Institute for Research on Public Policy. 2014. [The responsibility for elder care in Quebec: From the public to the private sector. IRPP study (48)] URL: <u>https://irpp.org/fr/research-studies/</u> <u>la-responsabilite-des-soins-aux-aines-au-quebec/</u> [accessed 2019-06-06] [WebCite Cache ID 78vkJiacZ]
- L'Appui. [Support for Caregivers of Seniors, Statistical Portrait of Caregivers of People 65 and Over in Quebec, 2012] URL: <u>https://www.lappui.org/Organisations/content/download/14806/file/Portrait%20statistique.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-06-06] [WebCite Cache ID 78vj67acH]
- 6. Turcotte M. [Family Caregiver: What are the Consequences]. Ottawa: Ministre de l'Industrie; 2013.
- Latulippe K, Guay M, Giguère A, Provencher V, Sévigny A, Poulin V, et al. [Promoting home support for elderly people with neurocognitive disorders: caregiver perception of the help-seeking process]. Rev Epidemiol Sante Publique 2019 Feb;67(1):43-49. [doi: 10.1016/j.respe.2018.10.002] [Medline: 30429062]

RenderX

- Collette C. INESSS. 2012. [Specialized Services for People with Alzheimer's Disease: Literature Review] URL: <u>https:// https://www.inesss.qc.ca/fileadmin/doc/INESSS/Rapports/OrganisationsSoins/ETMIS2012_Vol8_No16.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-06-06]
- 9. Reinhard S, Given B, Petlick NH, Bemis A. Supporting family caregivers in providing care. In: Hughes RG, editor. Patient Safety and Quality: An Evidence-Based Handbook for Nurses. Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; 2008.
- 10. Levkoff S, Levy B, Weitzman P. The role of religion and ethnicity in the help seeking of family caregivers of elders with Alzheimer's disease and related disorders. J Cross Cult Gerontol 1999 Dec;14(4):335-356. [Medline: <u>14618013</u>]
- 11. Hassenzahl M, Tractinsky N. User experience a research agenda. Behav Inf Technol 2006 Mar;25(2):91-97. [doi: 10.1080/01449290500330331]
- 12. Garrett JJ. The Elements of User Experience: User-centered Design for the Web. Berkeley: New Riders; 2011.
- Latulippe K, Guay M, Éthier S, Sévigny A, Dubé V, Provencher V, et al. Supporting the process of help-seeking by caregivers of functionally dependent seniors through ehealth: Issues of a multicentric codesign. JMIR Res Protoc 2019 Apr 26;8(4):e11634 (forthcoming) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11634] [Medline: 31025956]
- 14. Harder M, Burford G, Hoover E. What is participation? Design leads the way to a cross-disciplinary framework. Design Issues 2013 Oct;29(4):41-57. [doi: 10.1162/DESI a 00229]
- 15. Halskov K, Hansen N. The diversity of participatory design research practice at PDC 2002–2012. Int J Hum-Comput Stud 2015 Feb;74:81-92. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijhcs.2014.09.003]
- 16. Catroux M. [Introduction to research action : modalities of a theoretical approach centered on the practice]. Rech Pratiq Pédag Langues Spécial 2002 Mar 15(Vol. XXI N° 3):8-20. [doi: <u>10.4000/apliut.4276</u>]
- 17. Langley J, Wolstenholme D, Cooke J. 'Collective making' as knowledge mobilisation: the contribution of participatory design in the co-creation of knowledge in healthcare. BMC Health Serv Res 2018 Dec 25;18(1):585 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-018-3397-y] [Medline: 30045726]
- Latulippe K, Hamel C, Giroux D. Social health inequalities and eHealth: a literature review with qualitative synthesis of theoretical and empirical studies. J Med Internet Res 2017 Dec 27;19(4):e136 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6731] [Medline: 28450271]
- 19. Paillé P, Mucchielli A. [Qualitative analysis in human and social sciences]. Paris: Armand Colin; 2012.
- 20. Government of Quebec. [Council on the Status of Women, Caregivers and Caregivers in Quebec: Gender-Based Analysis. 2018] URL: <u>https://www.csf.gouv.qc.ca/wp-content/uploads/por_proches_aidants20180419_web.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-06-06] [WebCite Cache ID 78vtunlvX]
- 21. Relais-femmes. [To work in the community no longer rhymes with misery] URL: <u>http://www.relais-femmes.qc.ca/index.php?option=com_k2&view=item&task=download&id=99_6377460579b142f1fb2a698b5d9f67a9&Itemid=629</u>
- 22. Latulippe K, Tremblay M, Poulin V, Provencher V, Giguere A, Sévigny A, et al. Prioritizing the Needs of Caregivers of Older Adults to Support Their Help-Seeking Process as a First Step to Developing an eHealth Tool: The Technique for Research of Information by Animation of a Group of Experts (TRIAGE) Method. JMIR Aging 2019 May 23;2(1):e12271. [doi: 10.2196/12271]
- 23. Tremblay M, Latulippe K, Giguere A, Provencher V, Poulin V, Dubé V, et al. Requirements for an Electronic Health Tool to Support the Process of Help Seeking by Caregivers of Functionally Impaired Older Adults: Co-Design Approach. JMIR Aging 2019 Jun 07;2(1):e12327. [doi: 10.2196/12327]
- 24. Seckler M, Opwis K, Tuch AN. Linking objective design factors with subjective aesthetics: an experimental study on how structure and color of websites affect the facets of users' visual aesthetic perception. Comput Hum Behav 2015 Aug;49:375-389. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2015.02.056]
- 25. Bonnardel N, Piolat A, Le Bigot L. The impact of colour on website appeal and users' cognitive processes. Displays 2011 Apr;32(2):69-80. [doi: 10.1016/j.displa.2010.12.002]
- 26. Hwang A, Truong KN, Mihailidis A. Using participatory design to determine the needs of informal caregivers for smart home user interfaces. 2012 Presented at: 6th International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare (PervasiveHealth) and Workshops; May 21-24, 2012; San Diego URL: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/</u> 261051238 Using participatory design to determine the needs of informal caregivers for smart home user interfaces
- 27. Schaller S. Tailored e-Health services for the dementia care setting: a pilot study of 'eHealthMonitor'. BMC Medic Inform Dec Mak 2015:15 [FREE Full text]
- Siek K, Khan DU, Ross SE, Haverhals LM, Meyers J, Cali SR. Designing a personal health application for older adults to manage medications: a comprehensive case study. J Med Syst 2011 May 12;35(5):1099-1121. [doi: 10.1007/s10916-011-9719-9]
- 29. Hwang A, Truong KN, Cameron JI, Lindqvist E, Nygård L, Mihailidis A. Co-designing ambient assisted living (AAL) environments: unravelling the situated context of informal dementia care. Biomed Res Int 2015;2015:720483 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2015/720483] [Medline: 26161410]
- 30. [CEFRIO | Digital transition, research & innovation]. 2016. [Digital skills of Quebec adults] URL: <u>https://cefrio.qc.ca/</u> media/1213/netendances_2016-competences-numeriques-des-adultes-quebecois.pdf
- 31. Bonvin J. In: Farvaque N, editor. [Amartya Sen. A Policy of Freedom]. Paris: Michalon; 2008:121.

RenderX

- 32. Simonsen J, Robertson T. Routledge International Handbook of Participatory Design. New York: Routledge; 2013:295.
- Groeneveld B, Boess SF, Freudenthal A. Community-based co-design for informal care: bridging the gap between technology and context. IFAC Proceed Vol 2013;46(15):266-273. [doi: <u>10.3182/20130811-5-US-2037.00043</u>]
- 34. Zowghi D, da Rimini F, Bano M. Problems and challenges of user involvement in software development. In: Proceedings of the 19th International Conference on Evaluation and Assessment in Software Engineering. 2015 Presented at: EASE'15; April 27-29, 2015; Nanjing, China p. 1-10 URL: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/</u>274959131 Problems and Challenges of User involvement in Software Development an Empirical Study/download
- 35. Stahl G. Group cognition in computer-assisted collaborative learning. J Comput Assisted Learn 2005;21:79-90 [FREE Full text]
- 36. Lee Y. Design participation tactics: the challenges and new roles for designers in the co-design process. CoDesign 2008 Mar;4(1):31-50. [doi: 10.1080/15710880701875613]
- 37. Cross N. Design Thinking: Understanding How Designers Think And Work. New York: Berg Publishers; 2019.
- van Gemert-Pijnen JE, Nijland N, van Limburg M, Ossebaard HC, Kelders SM, Eysenbach G, et al. A holistic framework to improve the uptake and impact of eHealth technologies. J Med Internet Res 2011 Dec 5;13(4):e111 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1672] [Medline: 22155738]
- Knight B, Sayegh P. Cultural values and caregiving: the updated sociocultural stress and coping model. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2010 Jan;65B(1):5-13. [doi: <u>10.1093/geronb/gbp096</u>] [Medline: <u>19934166</u>]
- 40. Bacigalupe G, Askari SF. E-Health innovations, collaboration, and healthcare disparities: developing criteria for culturally competent evaluation. Fam Syst Health 2013 Sep;31(3):248-263. [doi: <u>10.1037/a0033386</u>] [Medline: <u>24059273</u>]
- 41. McAuley A. Digital health interventions: widening access or widening inequalities? Public Health 2014 Dec;128(12):1118-1120. [doi: 10.1016/j.puhe.2014.10.008] [Medline: 25458115]

Abbreviations

AC: advisory committee session CISSS: Integrated Health and Social Service Centre CoD: co-design session eHealth: electronic health HSSP: health and social service professional PD: participatory design PhD: Doctor of Philosophy UX: user experience

Edited by J Wang; submitted 26.09.18; peer-reviewed by L Song, F Puga; comments to author 04.12.18; revised version received 25.04.19; accepted 28.05.19; published 22.08.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Giroux D, Tremblay M, Latulippe K, Provencher V, Poulin V, Giguere A, Dubé V, Sévigny A, Guay M, Ethier S, Carignan M Promoting Identification and Use of Aid Resources by Caregivers of Seniors: Co-Design of an Electronic Health Tool JMIR Aging 2019;2(2):e12314 URL: <u>https://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e12314/</u> doi:10.2196/12314 PMID:31518284

©Dominique Giroux, Mélanie Tremblay, Karine Latulippe, Véronique Provencher, Valérie Poulin, Anik Giguere, Véronique Dubé, Andrée Sévigny, Manon Guay, Sophie Ethier, Maude Carignan. Originally published in JMIR Aging (http://aging.jmir.org), 22.08.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

An Intergenerational Information and Communications Technology Learning Project to Improve Digital Skills: User Satisfaction Evaluation

Francesc López Seguí^{1,2}, MSci; Marc de San Pedro¹, BA; Eva Aumatell Verges³, BSc; Salvador Simó Algado³, PhD, MBA; Francesc Garcia Cuyàs^{3,4}, MD, MPH

¹TIC Salut Social, Generalitat de Catalunya, Mataró, Spain

²Centre for Research in Health and Economics, Department of Experimental and Health Sciences, Universitat Pompeu Fabra, Barcelona, Spain ³Universitat de Vic - Universitat Central de Catalunya, Vic, Spain

⁴Sant Joan de Déu Hospital, Barcelona, Spain

Corresponding Author:

Francesc Garcia Cuyàs, MD, MPH Sant Joan de Déu Hospital C/ Santa Rosa, 39-57 Esplugues de Llobregat Barcelona, 08950 Spain Phone: 34 638681367 Email: <u>31557fgc@gmail.com</u>

Abstract

Background: "Digital Partners" is an intergenerational information and communications technology learning project carried out in the municipalities of Vic and Centelles (Catalonia) from April to May 2018. Within the framework of the introduction of community service as a subject in secondary education, the Centre for Health and Social Studies (University of Vic) created a training space with 38 intergenerational partners (aged 14-15 years and >65 years), with the aim of improving the senior users' digital skills in terms of use of smartphones and tablets, thus helping reduce the digital divide in the territory.

Objective: The aim of this paper is to evaluate the satisfaction of both junior and senior participants toward the intervention and to explore its main drivers.

Methods: Participants who volunteered to participate in the study were interviewed. Quantitative and qualitative data gathered in paper-based ad hoc surveys were used to assess participants' satisfaction.

Results: The experience shows a broad satisfaction of both junior and senior users. The project's strengths include the format of working in couples; randomly pairing individuals by operating system; the ability to practice with the device itself; individuals' free choice to decide what they wish to learn, develop, or practice; and the availability of voluntary practice material that facilitates communication and learning. With regard to aspects that could be improved, there is a need to review the timetabling flexibility of meetings to avoid hurrying the elderly and to extend the project's duration, if necessary.

Conclusions: This activity can serve to create mutual learning through the use of mobile devices and generate security and motivation on the part of the seniors, thus reducing the digital divide and improving social inclusion.

(JMIR Aging 2019;2(2):e13939) doi:10.2196/13939

KEYWORDS

active aging; digital inclusion; ICT program; intergenerational relationships; civic participation; community service

Introduction

RenderX

The fourth industrial revolution is increasingly revealing its implications, potentially widening the digital divide and increasing inequality and social atomism. The evident

http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e13939/

emergence of the use of mobile devices has resulted in some surprising statistics: 99% of young people between the ages of 16 and 24 years in Spain have used a mobile phone in the last 3 months (Figure 1) [1]. More surprisingly, and unlike other technologies, the use of mobile devices is similar between

generations: The uptake of mobile devices between older and younger generations only decreases by 15%, whereas other technologies have a significantly lower acceptance rate among people of older age, suggesting that the use of mobile technology by the elderly may not differ much from that of young people, and this trend is important in relation to forecasts of demographic ageing for developed countries [2,3].

The context of this study is Osona, a region located in the northeast corner of the Central Catalan Depression. With 150,000 residents, its population structure includes medium and small areas affected by social isolation and difficulties associated with an ageing population [4,5]. In this region, the 2017-2018 school year included community service as a voluntary academic activity in the secondary education centers [6]. The Centre for

Health and Social Studies designed the project and invited two secondary education schools to participate together with the corresponding University Extension Classes (educational centers for the elderly).

Social common perceptions and assumptions about older people are mistakenly based on stereotypes [7,8]. According to the data presented, new technologies may be encouraging structural changes in the seniors' social and relational behavior. Thus, it is necessary to understand and take into account their facilitating and acceptance factors. The literature shows that the adoption of mobile devices by older people responds to motivations that are very similar to those affecting young people and adults (Textbox 1) [9,10,11].

Figure 1. Use of different forms of information and communications technology according to age, as a percentage of the total population. Source: Survey on Equipment and Use of ICT technologies in Households [1].





Textbox 1. Motivations and obstacles to the use of mobile devices by the elderly, based on the study by McGaughey [9].

Motivations:

- Enjoyment/fun
- Expressivity
- Self-awareness
- Prevention (personal)
- Security (personal)
- Ability to communicate with others
- Freedom
- Autonomy
- Usefulness
- Social influence
- Availability of the service
- Value of the service
- Characteristics of the product
- Reduced costs

Obstacles:

- User interface
- Program interface
- Size of the device
- Shortcomings in ease of use
- Complexity of the device
- Availability of the service
- Costs (device and service)
- Availability of infrastructure
- Loss of privacy
- Physical abilities
- Cognitive abilities
- Lack of confidence
- Lack of training/knowledge

Methods

The junior users were 42 young people between the ages of 14 and 15 years, mostly girls (65%), who were voluntarily recruited by their teachers. The schools had contacted the promoters because they were interested in a collaborative activity. These are centers that collaborate throughout the year with other intergenerational activities. The senior users were 38 individuals aged over 65 years, mostly women (75%), who were voluntarily

recruited from the aforementioned University Extension Classes (February/April 2018). The juniors and seniors made up a total of 38 digital couples.

During the preparatory session, each junior received a document containing guidelines on content related to the use of mobile devices, divided into two blocks depending on the type of device (mobile phone or tablet) and three levels of difficulty (basic, medium, and advanced). A summary of the material is presented in Textbox 2.



Textbox 2. Structure and content of student training.

Theoretical module 1:

Brief explanation of what aging is, what variables influence it, stereotypes, and opportunities for technological change.

Exercise:

Older people are shown in everyday situations with mobiles, and young people have to say what they see and what perceptions they have. It seeks to explore the potential and difficulties in the use of technology by senior citizens and break stereotypes. It encourages discussion about what we mean by seniors, where individual differences are given, and brainstorming about their motivations.

Theoretical module 2:

Aspects that should be taken into account to teach senior citizens how to use mobiles are listed below:

(1) the intergenerational relationship; (2) personal aspects (attitude, acceptance, empathy, assertive communication, values, and motivation); (3) the learning process (individual differences: age, physical and cognitive status, educational level, lived experiences, personal interests, knowledge, expectations, and needs); (4) technical aspects (content, simplify, facilitate help, encourage, and respect the privacy); and (5) practical guidelines.

Exercise:

Different objects from different generations are presented to introduce the subject of shared languages and cultural meanings.

The material was specially prepared by the psychologist involved in the project, taking into account the following factors: the need to cover some of the most common uses of mobile devices, the degree of learning difficulty of each item, and the added value of the content in relation to the basic operation of the devices (for example, the optimization of battery usage). The material was provided as an optional ad hoc technical guide to be consulted in case the participants needed help in finding topics to work with in a particular order during the sessions. Content that might be sensitive or represent a degree of risk to the participants, such as actions requiring the use of a credit card, were excluded both from the material and the activity.

The sessions were based on the Intergenerational Mentor-Up philosophy and the Collaborative Learning methodology [12-17]. The advantages associated with this learning method at the academic, social, and psychological levels have been widely recognized, showing that greater performance in the use of mobile technologies favors social contact, reduces loneliness, and improves mental well-being [18-20]. The sessions were organized into two parts: in the first part, a psychologist conducted a training session for youngsters on active ageing, learning, and the pedagogy of digital skills among seniors. In addition, two specialists showed them case studies concerning the teaching and learning of digital competences.

The participants then conducted two or three "Digital Partners" sessions, lasting for about 1.5 hours, which were coordinated and supervised by the same psychologist. Students were asked to present themselves, ask how they could help, explore for how long the seniors had been using the device, how they had learned to use it, which functionalities they used the most, what they wanted to learn, and what their interests were in order to assess their needs and plan an answer; adjust the learning according to the person; show interest; and be friendly, empathetic, and respectful.

The pair worked with their own devices (it allows them to have hands-on experience and ask practical questions to resolve their real-life doubts) and were randomly paired on the first day. They remained the same throughout the sessions. Once participants formed by couples, if a special need was detected, couples were relocated according to the specifics on the basis of the advice of the student's tutor (who knows the academic level, experience, and mastery of the language of young people).

During the recruitment process, users were asked which operating system (Android or IOS) they were most familiar with (in the case of juniors) or which system they used (in the case of the seniors) to ensure they possessed the necessary digital skills, so that the digital partners were the most suited according to their needs. The room in which the sessions were conducted was equipped with Wi-Fi and was set up especially for the activity, with the desks spread out as much as possible, each with two chairs, and labels announcing the type of software that was to be used. Each table was provided with support material for taking notes. In the absence of one of the seniors, the juniors were reassigned to an existing couple to provide extra help.

At the end of the last session, a voluntary, anonymous, ad hoc, nonvalidated, paper-based, 17-item questionnaire was filled out by all the participants who were able to freely devote as much time as they needed to answer the questions. This paper aims to outline the design and results of the project to understand the key determinants of success of the intervention in order to bring old and young people together in a shared learning activity. A descriptive analysis was carried out to distinguish between qualitative and quantitative data.

Results

Quantitative Evaluation

The variables and scores corresponding to the quantitative evaluation are shown in Table 1. The number of high scores is of particular interest (the lowest average score was 8.7/10), indicating both a possible high level of satisfaction with the intervention and a possible lack of critical consideration on behalf of the respondents, potentially because of peer influence when filling in the questionnaires.



 Table 1. Average scores (out of 10) according to the question sets.

Set and question	Juniors	Seniors		
Teachers				
Teachers' mastery of the subject	8.86	9.42		
Clarity and coherence in the presentation of the information	9.12	9.25		
Attention to personal enquiries and relationship with students	9.46	9.69		
Content				
The contents learnt are useful	9.03	9.45		
The materials used or recommended are useful for learning	9.48	9.09		
Suitability of the educational methodology, exercises and case studies	9.64	8.83		
Organization and facilities				
Information and attention received before the project	8.98	9.05		
Efficiency in resolving incidents, if any	9.58	9.3		
Operation of technical and audio-visual media	8.79	8.83		
Suitability of classrooms or laboratories (face-to-face sessions)	9.17	9.3		
Format and duration of the activity				
Duration of training (only applicable to the juniors)	8.71	N/A ^a		
Timetabling of sessions	9.2	9.58		
Duration of sessions	8.86	9.27		
Activity				
Belief that what you have learnt will be of personal benefit you	9.44	9.59		
The activity has met your expectations	9.38	9.46		
Overall evaluation of the activity	9.48	9.55		

^aNot applicable.

Qualitative Evaluation

The quantitative analysis consists of two forms of participation: in the first part, the participants are asked to identify the strengths and potential areas for improvement in the activity. These are summarized in Table 2.

The answers, which represent the main results of this experience, show that the activity had a positive impact on the juniors from the point of view of personal experience, interpersonal relations, and self-esteem; that the seniors considered the ability to use their own smartphone or tablet very useful and the involvement of only two people made it easy to deal with their questions and needs in a personalized way; and that both juniors and seniors value the fact that they always worked with the same partner. On the other hand, both groups of participants thought that the timing, duration, and scheduling of the sessions were aspects that could be improved.

Table 2. Summary of answers (verbatim) of the qualitative evaluation.

Open questions	Juniors	Seniors
What are the project's advantages?	 Meeting someone different Everyone benefits Learning about life Having the same partner That a child can help an adult 	 Being able to practice with your own mobile or tablet Having a private teacher Young people cheer you up Working with a partner and punctuality Having the same partner Being able to clear up doubts and needs Working with a partner
What would you change about the project?	EarlierLonger	 Doing a course that lasts a whole term Having more sessions, since some topics are difficult More days (1 hour a day) Cover more in two days Poor acoustics in the classroom That we are given suggestions as to what to learn



Textbox 3. Summary of answers (verbatim) to the question, "Out of everything you've learnt, what 3 did you like the most?"

WhatsApp:

- Sending WhatsApps
- Sending location
- Sending voice messages
- Taking photos
- Sending photos
- Creating groups
- Sharing YouTube videos
- Accessing archived messages

Using a mobile phone:

- Connecting to a Wi-Fi network Changing screen settings
- Creating widgets
- Using the camera
- Creating photo albums
- Connecting the tablet to the mobile
- Learning about the battery
- Setting alarms

Other:

- Sending emails
- Using YouTube
- Understanding and learning how to use Instagram
- Learning how to share content between different platforms
- Understanding notifications

In the second part of the qualitative approach, a random selection of participants were asked a question while they were participating in the sessions: The senior users (25 respondents) were asked, "Out of everything you've learnt, which 3 items did you like the most?" The answers are summarized in Textbox 3, highlighting the learning elements related to the use of WhatsApp and using the phone, in general, as well as a general feeling of having gained confidence in using the device.

The junior participants were also individually chosen at random to answer the following question: "What have you got out of this activity?" We identified three areas of consensus: first, working on stereotypes (with comments such as "some of them don't have children or grandchildren," "some of them are fun," or "some of them know a lot about using a mobile phone"); second, the sense of personal fulfilment (for example, "it makes you feel good to help," "happiness," "it's nice to help," "really good"); and finally, it shows the importance of the fact that the activity allowed them to take decisions in guiding their partner's learning, face up to challenges, and learn new things (eg, "they've asked me something I don't know, so I'll look into it for the next session"). The majority stated that they made use of the user's guide of suggested topics and that they referred to the contents at a basic level. Thus, on the one hand, the seniors who signed up had a very basic knowledge regarding the use

http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e13939/

of mobile devices and, on the other hand, the uses and contents that interested them the most were those that allowed them to have better control over the device.

In keeping with the quantitative evaluation, the results generally show a very high level of satisfaction and highlight its main drivers. From the point of view of personal experience, the participants emphasized the significance of learning and collaborating with another individual. The activity's strengths were the format of working in pairs; pairing people by operating system; the use of the participants' own mobile phones; the freedom to decide what they wished to learn, develop, or practice; and the availability of voluntary practice material, which facilitates communication and learning. It has been shown that the activity can serve to create mutual learning through the use of mobile devices and generate security and motivation on the part of the seniors, thus reducing the digital divide and improving social inclusion [21-24].

Discussion

Principal Findings

The quantitative results presented can be taken into account in terms of *positively* assessing to what extent the objectives have been met, but they unfortunately do not provide useful insights

XSL•FO RenderX

on the success drivers of the interventions. Nuances and critical aspects to be taken into account in further studies can be derived only from the qualitative evaluation, which is in line with previous literature showing that seniors can benefit from the learning process and improve their digital self-efficacy and that the intervention can be successful in building an intergenerational bridge [25-27]. Previous analysis also shows that those benefits are not systematic and depend on the meaningfulness of the activities, organization of the program, and participants' knowledge of the other generation [28]. This can explain the assessed success of our program, which emphasized the student training and material preparation.

Limitations

We were unable to analyze variations in the effectiveness of our intervention due to resource limitation. Therefore, further studies attempting to replicate the intervention described here should analyze these variations, depending on the previous senior digital literacy and age. Moreover, constant developments in mobile devices (versions, design, capacities, etc) suggest that such training, as that described herein, should have a longer continuity to better assess the effect of the intervention over time. In addition, the questionnaire should be further adapted to capture all the critical analyses of the youngsters.

Implications and Recommendations

The activity's success is based on its design, which takes into account the needs and abilities of the participants: location,

facilities and design of the spaces, training young people receive, and materials used in conducting the sessions, paying special attention to the seniors' learning environment so that they can take full advantage of opportunities to improve their knowledge and skills, and the learning environment of the young people so that they can carry out their tasks effectively while also enjoying learning. Similarly, attention must be paid to certain requirements that may affect development of the activity: connectivity, noise level in the classroom, dividing the participants into pairs, the duration and timetabling, and the type of training (which should be personalized and adapted to the users' needs, although they should also have material available to them as a guide if they so wish).

Many functions of so-called smartphones have been designed without taking into account the needs of senior users; nevertheless, seniors are interested in improving their knowledge and learning to use technology to take advantage of what it offers, as shown by their motivation in carrying out the activity, but also in relation to the dynamics of the session (personalization) and the learning contents (basic). This project addresses the risk of a digital divide, which can increase social inequality. It does so by empowering and transmitting skills. The intergenerational approach leads to mutual and fundamentally bidirectional learning and allows older people to resume their traditional role as transmitters of knowledge.

Acknowledgments

We thank the seniors and junior participants of this study.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. National Statistics Institute, Catalonia. 2018. Survey on Equipment and Use of ICT Technologies in Households URL: https://www.idescat.cat/pub/?id=ticll17&n=1.2.1 [accessed 2019-08-01]
- Conci M, Pianesi F, Zancaro M. Useful, social and enjoyable: Mobile phone adoption by older people. 2009 Presented at: IFIP Conference on Human-Computer Interaction; 2019; Berlin, Heidelberg p. 63-76 URL: <u>https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007%2F978-3-642-03655-2_7.pdf</u>
- 3. Pew Research Center. 2018. Tech Adoption Climbs Among Older Adults URL: <u>http://assets.pewresearch.org/wp-content/</u><u>uploads/sites/14/2017/05/16170850/PI_2017.05.17_Older-Americans-Tech_FINAL.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-08-01]
- CREACCIÓ (Observatori socioeconòmic d'Osona). 2018. Informe de conjuntura socioeconòmica d'Osona URL: <u>http://www.sobrevia.com/devel/observatori/arxius/INFORME%20CONJUNTURA%201r%20semestre%202017.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-08-01]
- 5. CREACCIÓ (Observatori socioeconòmic d'Osona). 2018. Indicadors demogràfics URL: <u>http://www.observatorisocioeconomicosona.cat/index.php?seccio=indicadors</u> [accessed 2019-08-01]
- 6. Departament d'Ensenyament. 2018. Impuls del servei comunitari per a l'alumnat de secundària obligatòria URL: <u>http://xtec.gencat.cat/web/.content/alfresco/d/d/workspace/SpacesStore/0070/a3de4654-dd7f-4b95-938e-5fd259fb4772/DOCUMENT-MARC-SERVEI-COMUNITARI.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-08-01]
- 7. Kolodinsky J, Michele C, Ellen R. Bridging the generation gap across the digital divide: Teens teaching internet skills to senior citizens. Journal of Extension 2002.
- World Health Organization. 2018. World report on Ageing and Health URL: <u>http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/186463/9789240694811_eng.pdf;jsessionid=A818FAD52775072FC1E56C66DCA17D05?sequence=1</u> [accessed 2019-08-01]

RenderX

- 9. McGaughey R, Zeltmann S, McMurtrey M. Motivations and obstacles to smartphone use by the elderly: developing a research framework. International Journal of Electronic Finance 2013;7:177-195. [doi: <u>10.1504/IJEF.2013.058601</u>]
- Jones R, Ashurst E, Atkey J, Duffy B. Older people going online: its value and before-after evaluation of volunteer support. J Med Internet Res 2015 18;17(5):e122 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.3943</u>] [Medline: <u>25986724</u>]
- 11. Vaportzis E, Clausen M, Gow A. Older Adults Perceptions of Technology and Barriers to Interacting with Tablet Computers: A Focus Group Study. Frontiers in Psychology 2017 [FREE Full text]
- 12. Canedo-García A, García-Sánchez JN, Pacheco-Sanz D. A Systematic Review of the Effectiveness of Intergenerational Programs. Front Psychol 2017;8:1882 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01882] [Medline: 29163269]
- Chen YR, Schulz PJ. The Effect of Information Communication Technology Interventions on Reducing Social Isolation in the Elderly: A Systematic Review. J Med Internet Res 2016 Jan 28;18(1) [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.4596</u>] [Medline: <u>26822073</u>]
- 14. Othelia E, Do-Hong K. Bridging the Digital Divide for Older Adults via Intergenerational Mentor-Up. Research on Social Work Practice 2018. [doi: 10.1177/1049731518810798]
- 15. Newman S, Alan H. Intergenerational learning and the contributions of older people. Ageing horizons 2008:10-39. [doi: 10.13140/2.1.4047.8725]
- 16. Esteves, Micaela, Rosa M, Angela P. Collaborative Learning Environment in Higher Education: A Case Study. 2018 Presented at: International Conference on Collaboration and Technology; 2018; Costa de Caparica, Portugal.
- 17. Laal M, Laal M. Collaborative learning: what is it? Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences 2012 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2011.12.092]
- 18. Kolloffel B, Eysink T. Comparing the effects of representational tools in collaborative and individual inquiry learning. International journal of computer-supported collaborative learning 2011 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11412-011-9110-3]
- 19. Kozma R, Anderson R. Qualitative case studies of innovative pedagogical practices using ICT. Journal of computer assisted learning 2002 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1046/j.0266-4909.2002.00250.doc.x]
- 20. Panitz T. ERIC. 2001. Collaborative Versus Cooperative Learning: A Comparison of the Two Concepts which will Helps Us Understand the Underlying Nature of Interactive Learning URL: <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED448443.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-08-01]
- 21. Ramis A. Aprenentatge servei i gent gran. In: Aprenentatge Servei. Barcelona: Fundació Jaume Bofill; 2016.
- 22. Zhou J, Rau P. Older Adult's use of Smartphones: An Investigation of the Factors Influencing the Acceptance of New Functions. Behaviour and Information Technologies 2013:552-560 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/0144929X.2013.780637]
- 23. Díaz-Prieto C, García Sánchez J. Identification of Relevant Elements for Promoting Effective Interventions in Old Age. Revista de Psicodidáctica 2016 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1387/RevPsicodidact.13854]
- 24. Gamiel T. Education in civic participation: Children, seniors and the challenges of an intergenerational information and communications technology program. New Media & Society 2017. [doi: 10.1177/1461444816639971]
- 25. Cohen-Mansfield J, Jensen B. Intergenerational Programs in Schools. J Appl Gerontol 2017;36(3):254-276. [doi: 10.1177/0733464815570663] [Medline: 25698719]
- 26. Gamliel T, Nadav G. Knowledge exchange, social interactions, and empowerment in an intergenerational technology program at school. Educational Gerontology 2014:597-617.
- 27. Gatti FM, Brivio E, Galimberti C. The future is ours too? A training process to enable the learning perception and increase self-efficacy in the use of tablets in the elderly. Educational Gerontology 2017. [doi: 10.1080/03601277.2017.1279952]
- 28. Giraudeau C, Nathalie B. Intergenerational programs: What can school-age children and older people expect from them? A systematic review. European Journal of Ageing 2019:1-14.

Abbreviations

N/A: not applicable

Edited by J Wang; submitted 07.03.19; peer-reviewed by YR Chen, C Jacob, R Paz Castro; comments to author 25.04.19; revised version received 12.06.19; accepted 17.07.19; published 09.08.19.

Please cite as:

López Seguí F, de San Pedro M, Aumatell Verges E, Simó Algado S, Garcia Cuyàs F An Intergenerational Information and Communications Technology Learning Project to Improve Digital Skills: User Satisfaction Evaluation IMIR Aging 2010;2(2):g12020

JMIR Aging 2019;2(2):e13939 URL: <u>http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e13939/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/13939</u> PMID:<u>31518276</u>



©Francesc López Seguí, Marc de San Pedro, Eva Aumatell Verges, Salvador Simó Algado, Francesc Garcia Cuyàs. Originally published in JMIR Aging (http://aging.jmir.org), 09.08.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Understanding Comorbidities and Their Contribution to Predictors of Medical Resource Utilization for an Age- and Sex-Matched Patient Population Living With HIV: Cross-Sectional Study

Michelle Odlum¹, MPH, EdD; Sunmoo Yoon², RN, PhD

¹Columbia University School of Nursing, New York, NY, United States ²Columbia University Irving Medical Center, New York, NY, United States

Corresponding Author: Michelle Odlum, MPH, EdD Columbia University School of Nursing 560 W 168th St New York, NY, 10026 United States Phone: 1 347 806 2090 Email: mlo12@columbia.edu

Abstract

Background: More than 60% of people aging with HIV are observed to have multiple comorbidities, which are attributed to a variety of factors (eg, biological and environmental), with sex differences observed. However, understanding these differences and their contribution to medical resource utilization remains challenging as studies conducted exclusively and predominantly among males do not translate well to females, resulting in inconsistent findings across study cohorts and limiting our knowledge of sex-specific comorbidities.

Objective: The objective of the study was to provide further insight into aging-related comorbidities, their associated sex-based differences, and their contribution to medical resource utilization, through the analysis of HIV patient data matched by sex.

Methods: International Classification of Disease 9/10 diagnostic codes that comprise the electronic health records of males (N=229) and females (N=229) were categorized by individual characteristics, chronic and mental health conditions, treatment, high-risk behaviors, and infections and the codes were used as predictors of medical resource utilization represented by Charlson comorbidity scores.

Results: Significant contributors to high Charlson scores in males were age (beta=2.37; 95% CI 1.45-3.29), longer hospital stay (beta=.046; 95% CI 0.009-0.083), malnutrition (beta=2.96; 95% CI 1.72-4.20), kidney failure (beta=2.23; 95% CI 0.934-3.52), chemotherapy (beta=3.58; 95% CI 2.16-5.002), history of tobacco use (beta=1.40; 95% CI 0.200-2.61), and hepatitis C (beta=1.49; 95% CI 0.181-2.79). Significant contributors to high Charlson scores in females were age (beta=1.37; 95% CI 0.361-2.38), longer hospital stay (beta=.042; 95% CI 0.005-0.078), heart failure (beta=2.41; 95% CI 0.833-3.98), chemotherapy (beta=3.48; 95% CI 1.626-5.33), and substance abuse beta=1.94; 95% CI 0.180, 3.702).

Conclusions: Our findings identified sex-based differences in medical resource utilization. These include kidney failure for men and heart failure for women. Increased prevalence of comorbidities in people living long with HIV has the potential to overburden global health systems. The development of narrower HIV phenotypes and aging-related comorbidity phenotypes with greater clinical validity will support intervention efficacy.

(JMIR Aging 2019;2(2):e13865) doi:10.2196/13865

KEYWORDS

HIV; sex differences; Charlson scores; comorbidity; electronic health records; health resource

Introduction

Background

A variety of comorbidities characterize long-term survivorship with HIV, which is not merely explained by the decrease in AIDS-related mortality. An average of 3 aging-related comorbidities are observed in 60% to 90% of people living with HIV/AIDS (PLWH), aged 50 years and above [1,2]. They are attributed to antiretroviral toxicity, persistent immunodeficiency, and inflammation [2]. Biological sex-related differences also contribute to the determinants of such aging-related comorbidities in populations living with HIV [3,4]. Sex differences are observed in the pathogenesis of HIV and other infectious diseases. Differences exist between males and females for a variety of factors including biological, genetic, environmental, and sociobehavioral [3,4]. Studies have also found sex differences in HIV viral and immunological response as well as disease progression [3,5]. However, challenges exist in clinical studies to isolate biological sex differences and gain a more in-depth understanding of how HIV affects health-related outcomes. Current gaps in knowledge include the lack of understanding of the impact of sex-based differences on the presence of non-AIDS-related comorbidities [4,5]. The presence of multiple comorbidities, observed in HIV, include characteristics of aging-associated phenotypes such as disability and frailty [6]. However, phenotypes are studied far more in the aging field, which is not specific to HIV [7-9]. Poor health outcomes such as disability and frailty increase the risk of poor functional status, which complicates access to care and disrupts disease self-management, resulting in increased medical resource utilization [9]. Therefore, effective interventions require the identification of narrower phenotypes with greater clinical validity [7,10,11]. Exploratory studies should report outcomes based on sex to determine when such differences warrant more focused investigations [4]. HIV research that defines sex differences will ensure intervention efficacy in males and females and will allow for the observation of pathway differences to support effective HIV treatment and ultimately cure.

Objectives

This study provides an understanding of sex-related differences and has identified multifactorial determinants of aging-related comorbidities and their contributions to medical resource utilization, which are represented by Charlson comorbidity scores [12-14]. This cross-sectional study looked at the presence of comorbidities and not HIV-related contributions (eg, disease stage and immune status) to the development or proliferation of comorbidities. Clinical data that comprise electronic health records (EHRs) were analyzed, and within- and between-group differences identified for a patient population of PLWH were matched by sex. An exploration of HIV clinical data is required to gain further insights into the sex-based differences that may have clinical consequences and contribute to increased medical resource utilization. In fact, higher Charlson scores indicate the increased likelihood that a predicted outcome will result in higher resource utilization or 1-year mortality [12,15,16]. As this study focused on morbidity, not mortality, Charlson scores served as an indicator of medical resource utilization. Here, we report the following: (1) the prevalence of comorbidities by sex and (2) predictors of medical resource utilization represented by Charlson comorbidity scores that comprise the factors of individual characteristics, chronic conditions, mental health conditions, treatment, high-risk behaviors, and infections by sex. Our findings can inform the design and implementation of effective interventions to reduce the chronic disease burden, decrease medical resource utilization, and support successful aging with HIV [3,4].

Methods

Patient Population

We analyzed EHR data for HIV-infected males (N=229) and females (N=229) matched on sex. Records were retrieved from a New York City clinical data warehouse for adult inpatients aged 18 years and older from January 2006 to December 2014. Institutional review board approval was obtained from the Columbia University Irving Medical Center to analyze the deidentified EHRs data, which excluded all potentially identifiable patient information (eg, name, address, and date of birth). Patients were not involved in data analysis or interpretation. Patient personal contact information was not shared with investigators. After data cleaning, which included the removal of incomplete International Classification of Disease (ICD) 9/10 codes, a total of 786 HIV-infected males (N=524) and females (N=262) remained for matching, identified as HIV infected by HIV-related diagnostic codes. Mahalanobis propensity score matching was used to find the female patients comparable to male patients [17]. Female patients were matched to male patients with the closest propensity scores. After the removal of unmatched data, a sample of 229 males and 229 females remained. Propensity score matching allows for meaningful comparisons between groups and reduces confounding factors in the statistical assessment of outcomes [17]. We developed a dataset very limited in missing data, as clinical datasets are known to have a variety of missing data elements. Diagnostic codes (ICD 9/10) came from past medical histories, clinical encounters, and problem lists. Diagnostic codes were organized under the factors of individual characteristics (eg, ICD9/10: 262-malnutrition), chronic conditions (eg, ICD9/10: 401, 401.1, 401.9-hypertension), mental health conditions (eg, ICD9/10: 311-depressive disorders), treatment (eg, ICD9/10: V58.11-chemotherapy), high-risk behaviors (eg, ICD9/10: 305.1-tobacco use), and infections (eg, ICD9/10: 70.54-hepatitis B). Patients were distributed into nonmutually exclusive groups based on sex. Inclusion in a diagnostic group was the existence of the diagnostic code in the patient chart history.

Statistical Analysis

We examined the predictors of medical resource utilization represented by Charlson comorbidity scores. We summarized our results with descriptive statistics, bivariate analyses, and linear regression models. To determine the relationship between identified predictors and Charlson scores, we calculated Pearson Product Moment Correlations. t tests assessed the differences in continuous variables, and chi-square test assessed the differences in categorical variables. A total of 3 independent

stepwise multiple regressions (ie, all patients, male only, and female only) were performed to identify the relative importance of significant Charlson score predictors (P<.05). A stepwise approach was used to prevent bias in the selection of variables in the final models [18]. We report betas and CIs for regression analyses. SPSS 23.0 was used to conduct data analysis.

Results

Patient Characteristics

We included 458 patients in our analysis, aged 18 to 85 years, with the mean age of 50.3 (SD 14.1 years). The racial distribution of the female sample (N=229) includes 39.7% (91/229) blacks, 14.4% (33/229) whites, 0.4% (1/229) Asian, 0.4% (1/229) Native American, 0.8% (2/229) Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islanders, 11.9% (27/229) other, and 32.5% (74/229) unknown or declined. The male sample (N=229) includes 23.3% (53/229) blacks, 26.5% (61/229) whites, 0.8% (2/229) Asian, 0.4% (1/229) Native American, 0.4% (1/229) Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islanders, 13.9% (32/229) other, and 34.6% (79/229) unknown or declined. The average length of hospital stay was 9.65 (SD 11 days) for males and 9.45 (SD 13 days) for females. For males, the average HIV RNA viral load

distribution was ≤500 copies/mL: 24.1% (55/229); 500-4999 copies/mL: 41.4% (95/229); 5000-49,999 copies/mL: 20.7% (47/229); and ≥50,000 copies/mL: 13.8% (32/229). The average CD4+ lymphocyte counts (CD4) for males were ≤ 200 cells/ μ L: 16.5% (38/229); 201-349 cells/µL: 22.7% (52/229); 350-500 cells/µL: 24.4% (56/229); and ≥501 cells/µL: 36.4% (83/229), with 63.6% (146/229) prescribed antiretrovirals. For females, the average viral load distribution was ≤500 copies/mL: 31.5% (71/229); 500-4999 copies/mL: 27.8% (64/229); 5000-49,999 copies/mL: 27.8% (64/229); and ≥50,000 copies/mL: 13.1% (30/229). The average CD4 counts for females were ≤ 200 cells/µL: 15.4% (35/229); 201-349 cells/µL: 17.9% (41/229); 350-500 cells/µL: 21.4% (49/229); and ≥501 cells/µL: 45.3% (104/229), with 72% (165/229) prescribed antiretrovirals. The top 6 ICD9/10 codes for males were hypertension, current tobacco use, noncompliance with treatment/regimen (not following the treatment or regimen prescribed for improved health outcomes) [19], hyperlipidemia, history of tobacco use, and depression. The top 6 ICD9/10 codes for females were hypertension, current tobacco use, and history of tobacco use, uncomplicated asthma, acute kidney failure, and hyperlipidemia (Table 1). Charlson scores ranged from 0 to 20, with an average of 7.72 (SD 9.7) for males, and 0 to 18, with an average of 6.90 (SD 9.45) for females (Tables 1 and 2).

Table 1. Descriptive statistics for medical resource utilization (Charlson scores).

Variable	Males (n=229)	Females (n=229)	All (N=458)			
Individual characteristics						
Age, mean (SD)	51.5 (13)	51.5 (13)	50.3 (14.1)			
Length of hospital stay, mean (SD)	9.65 (11)	9.45 (13)	9.58 (12)			
Malnutrition, n (%)	35 (15.2)	25 (10.9)	60 (13.1)			
Noncompliance with treatment/regimen, n (%)	38 (16.5)	32 (13.9)	70 (15.2)			
Chronic conditions, n (%)						
Diabetes mellitus II	25 (10.9)	29 (12.6)	54 (11.7)			
Hyperlipidemia	37 (16.5)	35 (15.2)	72 (15.7)			
Hypertension	55 (24.0)	62 (27.0)	117 (25.5)			
Atherosclerosis	31 (13.5)	18 (7.8)	49 (10.6)			
Atrial fibrillation	11 (4.8)	5 (2.1)	16 (3.4)			
Heart failure	23 (10.0)	24 (10.4)	47 (10.2)			
Uncomplicated asthma	19 (8.2)	37 (16.5)	56 (12.2)			
Acute kidney failure	30 (13.1)	37 (16.5)	67 (14.6)			
Mental health conditions						
Depressive disorder	35 (15.2)	31 (13.5)	66 (14.4)			
Treatment						
Chemotherapy	25 (10.9)	18 (7.8)	43 (9.3)			
High-risk behaviors						
Substance abuse	33 (14.4)	19 (8.2)	52 (11.3)			
Current tobacco use	54 (23.5)	40 (17.4)	94 (20.5)			
History of tobacco use	36 (15.7)	39 (17.0)	75 (16.3)			
Infections	Infections					
Chronic hepatitis C	33 (14.4)	27 (11.7)	60 (13.1)			

http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e13865/

RenderX

JMIR Aging 2019 | vol. 2 | iss. 2 |e13865 | p.97 (page number not for citation purposes)

Vari	able	Males (n=229)	Females (n=2)	29)	All (N=458)	
		Correlation	P value	Correlation	P value	Correlation	P value
Ind	ividual characteristics						
	Age	0.359	.001 ^a	0.118	.14	0.24	.001 ^a
	Length of hospital stay	0.186	.001 ^a	0.148	.05 ^b	0.169	.02 ^b
	Malnutrition	0.289	.001 ^a	0.085	.26	0.198	.18
	Noncompliance with treatment/regimen	-0.01	.90	0.058	.38	0.024	.66
Chr	onic conditions						
	Diabetes mellitus II	0.026	.64	-0.054	.51	-0.016	.74
	Hyperlipidemia	0.053	.49	0.082	.20	0.068	.31
	Hypertension	0.084	.22	-0.058	.53	0.011	.17
	Atherosclerosis	0.242	.001 ^a	-0.008	.73	0.138	.001 ^a
	Atrial fibrillation	0.101	.14	-0.005	.21	0.061	.28
	Heart failure	0.153	.03 ^b	0.159	.04 ^b	0.155	.04 ^b
	Uncomplicated asthma	-0.024	.70	0.026	.60	-0.003	.96
	Acute kidney failure	0.195	.001 ^a	0.12	.10	0.153	.03 ^b
Mei	ntal health conditions						
	Depressive disorder	-0.028	.64	-0.036	.62	-0.03	.45
Trea	atment						
	Chemotherapy	0.197	.001 ^a	0.167	.05 ^b	0.185	.001 ^a
Hig	h-risk behaviors						
	Substance abuse	-0.002	.94	0.151	.05 ^b	0.069	.42
	Current tobacco use	-0.042	.49	-0.09	.25	-0.06	.31
	History of tobacco use	0.183	.001 ^a	0.139	.04 ^b	0.159	.001 ^a
Infe	ections						
	Chronic hepatitis C	0.175	.001 ^a	0.107	.14	0.144	.001 ^a

^aP<.01.

^bP<.05.

Predictors of Medical Resource Utilization

Bivariate analyses revealed significant contributions to high Charlson scores for a variety of factors in our patient population. These include the individual characteristics of older age (\geq 50 years; X^2_{19} =149.9), longer length of hospital stay (t_{456} =2.96), and noncompliance with treatment/regimen (X^2_{19} =30.8). In addition to the chronic conditions of hyperlipidemia (X^2_{19} =31.2), hypertension (X^2_{19} =54.5), atherosclerosis (X^2_{19} =38.6), acute kidney failure (X^2_{19} =32.7), and heart failure (X^2_{19} =53.5), significant differences also included the treatment of chemotherapy (X^2_{19} =81.8), the high-risk behavior of current tobacco use (X^2_{19} =31.6) and history of tobacco use (X^2_{19} =35.9), and the infection of chronic hepatitis C (X^2_{19} =54.8; Table 3).

RenderX

Bivariate analyses also revealed significant contributions to high Charlson scores within sex groups for a variety of factors. For males, these include the individual characteristics of older age (\geq 50 years; X^2_{19} =80.5), longer length of hospital stay (t_{227} =2.60), and malnutrition (X^2_{19} =19.7), in addition to the chronic conditions of atherosclerosis (X^2_{19} =44.4), acute kidney failure (X^2_{19} =32.3), and heart failure (X^2_{19} =51.5). Significant differences also included the treatment of chemotherapy (X^2_{19} =55.4), the high-risk behavior of history of tobacco use (X^2_{19} =41.3), and the infection of chronic hepatitis C (X^2_{19} =38.1; Table 3). For females, these include the individual characteristic of older age (\geq 50 years; X^2_{19} =77.8) in addition to the chronic conditions of hyperlipidemia (X^2_{19} =31.2) and hypertension (X^2_{19} =52.3). Significant differences also included the treatment

of chemotherapy $(X_{19}^2=32.3)$, the high-risk behavior of substance abuse $(X_{19}^2=36.8)$, and the infection of chronic hepatitis C $(X_{19}^2=30.4; \text{ Table 3})$.

The stepwise multiple regression for all patients identified the most significant (P<.05) contributors to high Charlson scores to be the individual characteristics of older age (beta=1.91; 95%)

CI 1.22-2.60), longer length of hospital stay (beta=.039; 95% CI 0.12-0.065), and malnutrition (beta=1.88; 95% CI 0.882-2.87); chronic conditions of acute kidney failure (beta=1.29; 95% CI 0.347-2.24) and heart failure (beta=1.22; 95% CI 0.104-2.33); treatment of chemotherapy (beta=3.37; 95% CI 2.22-4.53); history of high-risk behavior of tobacco use (beta=1.03; 95% CI 0.130-1.93); and infection of chronic hepatitis C (beta=1.10; 95% CI 0.097-2.109; Table 4).

Table 3. Chi-square/t tests for outcome variable: medical resource utilization (Charlson scores).

Variable	Males (n=229)		Females (n=229)		All (N=458)	
	$X^2(df)$	P value	$X^2(df)$	P value	$X^2(df)$	P value
Individual characteristics						
Age <50 years and ≥ 50 years	80.5 (19)	.001 ^a	77.8 (19)	.001 ^a	49.9 (19)	.001 ^a
Length of hospital stay ^b	-2.60 (227)	.001 ^a	-1.18 (227)	.07	-2.96 (456)	.001 ^a
Malnutrition	42.8 (19)	.001 ^a	17.3 (19)	.15	26.9 (19)	.10
Noncompliance with treatment/regimen	19.7 (19)	.26	20.5 (19)	.12	30.8 (19)	.04 ^c
Chronic conditions						
Diabetes mellitus II	23.7 (19)	.13	13.8 (19)	.16	14.3 (19)	.15
Hyperlipidemia	18.8 (19)	.15	31.2 (19)	.03 ^c	31.2 (19)	.03 ^c
Hypertension	28.2 (19)	.07	52.3 (19)	.001 ^a	54.5 (19)	.001 ^a
Atherosclerosis	44.4 (19)	.001 ^a	9.8 (19)	.26	38.6 (19)	.001 ^a
Atrial fibrillation	29.1 (19)	.06	10.4 (19)	.22	21.5 (19)	.11
Acute kidney failure	32.3 (19)	.03 ^c	27.1 (19)	.08	32.7 (19)	.03 ^c
Heart failure	51.5 (19)	.001 ^a	22.8 (19)	.14	53.5 (19)	.001 ^a
Uncomplicated asthma	16.5 (19)	.17	22.5 (19)	.13	16.3 (19)	.15
Mental health conditions						
Depressive disorder	30.4 (19)	.06	11.9 (19)	.15	19.0 (19)	.12
Treatment						
Chemotherapy	55.4 (19)	.001 ^a	32.3 (19)	.03 ^c	81.8 (19)	.001 ^a
High-risk behaviors						
Substance abuse	21.2 (19)	.14	36.8 (19)	.001 ^a	28.0 (19)	.07
Current tobacco use	29.1 (19)	.07	13.1 (19)	.22	31.6 (19)	.03 ^c
History of tobacco use	41.3 (19)	.001 ^a	19.2 (19)	.13	35.9 (19)	.01 ^c
Infections						
Chronic hepatitis C	38.1 (19)	.001 ^a	30.4 (19)	.01 ^c	54.8 (19)	.001 ^a

^aP<.01.

^bLength of hospital stay values display *t* tests for outcome variable: medical resource utilization.

^cP<.05.



Table 4. Linear regression models of best fit for medical resource utilization (Charlson Scores).

Variables	Unstandardized coefficient beta, mean in- creases (95% CI for beta)	P value
All patients model, N=458		
Individual characteristics		
Age <50 years and ≥ 50 years	1.91 (1.218-2.595)	.001 ^a
Length of hospital stay	.039 (0.012-0.065)	.004 ^a
Malnutrition	1.88 (0.882-2.873)	.001 ^a
Chronic conditions		
Acute kidney failure	1.29 (0.347-2.241)	.008 ^a
Heart failure	1.22 (0.104-2.328)	.03 ^b
Treatment		
Chemotherapy	3.37 (2.218-4.529)	.001 ^a
High-risk behaviors		
History of tobacco use	1.03 (0.130-1.932)	.03 ^b
Infections		
Chronic hepatitis C	1.10 (0.097-2.109)	.03 ^b
Male-only model, N=229		
Individual characteristics		
Age <50 years and ≥50 years	2.37 (1.446-3.286)	.001 ^a
Length of hospital stay	.046 (0.009-0.083)	.02 ^b
Malnutrition	2.96 (1.721-4.204)	.001 ^a
Chronic conditions		
Acute kidney failure	2.23 (0.934-3.521)	.001 ^a
Treatment		
Chemotherapy	3.58 (2.164-5.002)	.001 ^a
High-risk behaviors		
History of tobacco use	1.40 (0.200-2.607)	.02 ^b
Infections		
Chronic hepatitis C	1.49 (0.181-2.791)	.03 ^b
Female-only model, N=229		
Individual characteristics		
Age <50 years and ≥ 50 years	1.37 (0.361-2.375)	.008 ^a
Length of hospital stay	.042 (0.005-0.078)	.03 ^b
Chronic conditions		
Heart failure	2.41 (0.833-3.984)	.003 ^a
Treatment		
Chemotherapy	3.48 (1.626-5.328)	.001 ^a
High-risk behaviors		
Substance abuse	1.94 (0.180-3.702)	.03 ^b

^aP<.01.

XSL•FO RenderX

http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e13865/

^bP<.05.

The final stepwise multiple regression model for male patients identified the most significant (P<.05) contributors to high Charlson scores to be the individual characteristics of older age (beta=2.37; 95% CI 1.45-3.29), longer length of hospital stay (beta=.046; 95% CI 0.009-0.083), and malnutrition (beta=2.96; 95% CI 1.72-4.20) in addition to the chronic conditions of acute kidney failure (beta=2.23; 95% CI 0.934-3.52); the treatment of chemotherapy (beta=3.58; 95% CI 2.16-5.002), the history of high-risk behavior of tobacco use (beta=1.40; 95% CI 0.200 to 2.61), and the infection of chronic hepatitis C (beta=1.49; 95% CI 0.181-2.79), as the most significant (P<.05) contributors to high Charlson scores (Table 4).

The final stepwise multiple regression model for female patients identified the most significant (P<.05) contributors to high Charlson scores to be the individual characteristics of older age (beta=1.37; 95% CI 0.361-2.38) and longer length of hospital stay (beta=.042; 95% CI 0.005-0.078) in addition to the chronic conditions of heart failure (beta=2.41; 95% CI 0.833-3.98); the treatment of chemotherapy (beta=3.48; 95% CI 1.626-45.33), the high-risk behavior of substance abuse (beta=1.94; 95% CI 0.180-3.402), as the most significant (P<.05) contributors to high Charlson scores (Table 4).

Discussion

Principal Findings

With immune restoration and viral suppression leading to long-term survivorship with HIV, there is a need to increase our focus on the management and prevention of comorbidities. Therefore, it is essential to improve our understanding of aging-related comorbidities and sex differences in HIV clinical outcomes and survival. To further explore these differences and their contribution to medical resource utilization, we analyzed EHR data for HIV-infected patients matched by sex.

Phenotype frameworks view aging within a broader context of objectively defined phenotypic manifestations (eg, comorbidities and physical-social functioning). We observed the sex-related interplay between individual characteristics, chronic conditions, treatment, mental health conditions, high-risk behaviors, and infections and their contribution to medical resource utilization.

Our results contribute to the development of narrower HIV phenotypes with greater clinical validity. Charlson comorbidity scores are robust predictors of both medical resource utilization and 1-year mortality [15,16,20] and are essential for epidemiological investigations on age and survival [18]. However, the use of Charlson scores to understand medical resource utilization in populations of PLWH with comorbidities remains sparse [14,21]. Although no significant differences existed in mean Charlson scores for males and females, contributions to medical resource utilization differed based on sex.

The lack of significant differences in Charlson scores for our matched sample is not reflected in the published literature as studies have shown that males have significantly higher morbidity rates than females [4,22]. However, the contribution

http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e13865/

of factors to the utilization of medical resources was different for males and females [12]. Our regression models for our patient population identified age as a significant contributor to high Charlson scores. Age was the second highest for all patients, first in the male-only model and third in the female-only model. Similar to aging in uninfected populations, males exhibited higher Charlson scores based on age [23]. Results were different for females as the treatment of chemotherapy was the most significant contributor to high Charlson scores, followed by heart failure. Chemotherapy was the second most significant contributor in males, and heart failure was not in the male-only model. Antineoplastic chemotherapy is understandably a significant contributor to medical resource utilization as such treatment is a consequence of diagnosed malignancies [24,25]. Their toxic effects can result in inadequate nutrition, making patients vulnerable to malnourished states [26]. Although malnourishment was not significant in the female-only model, it was the third significant contributor in the all patient and male-only models. Non-AIDS-defining cancers are increasing in populations of PLWH [27], which includes coinfection by oncogenic viruses such as hepatitis C virus (HCV), which is also a significant contributor in our all patient and male-only models. Heightened cancer risk includes behavioral risk factors as well, such as cigarette smoking. History of tobacco use was also a significant contributor in our all patient and male-only models. Antineoplastic agents are a significant problem in populations of PLWH, with potentially overlapping toxicities with antiretroviral therapy [24,25]. A better understanding of such interactions will be critical for cancer survival in this population.

Heart failure was the second most significant contributor in the female-only model, eighth in the all patient model and not present in the male-only model. Cardiovascular-related illness is a known risk factor in PLWH, with heart disease being a common complication [28,29]. PLWH have increased cardiovascular disease-related mortality compared with uninfected groups [5,27]. A longitudinal study revealed that risk of cardiovascular-related mortality increased steadily for PLWH from 1999 to 2013, with a decrease in risk observed in uninfected groups [30,31]. Similar to our findings, previous studies have indicated an increased risk of myocardial infarction and stroke in females compared with males [4,5]. Females have higher inpatient mortality after myocardial infarction at younger ages than males, with greater complications after invasive interventions. Cardiovascular-related outcomes for females living with HIV compared with males also include more severe strokes, longer length of hospital stay, and higher mortality [5,27]. Length of hospital stay was also a significant contributor in all 3 models and a major financial burden on the US health care system. HIV-related hospitalizations are characterized by some of the more expensive diagnostic categories [3,18]. In populations of PLWH with no comorbidities, studies have shown a 60% increase in length of stay and a 70% increase in medical resource utilization, compared with uninfected populations [32]. Our heart failure results align with the literature on HIV-infected females. However, studies have shown lower uptake of

XSL•FO RenderX

cardiovascular disease-related interventions among females with HIV compared with males [3].

Acute kidney failure was the fourth most significant contributor in the male-only model, fifth in the all patient model, and not present in the female-only model. Although HIV nephropathy has decreased with antiretroviral therapy, compared with uninfected groups, the prevalence of kidney disease remains high for PLWH of all ages [27]. Studies have shown that kidney-related comorbidities are associated with extremely high medical costs, as indicated in our models [27]. Kidney disease is a major burden to HIV as a result of risk factors including HCV coinfection [29,33]. HCV was a significant contributor in the male-only and all patient models, aligning with our kidney disease findings and consistent with the natural history of HCV among PLWH [28,29]. The amplified effects of HCV on HIV cellular replication are known to go beyond liver-related diseases and increase the likelihood of inflammation-related illnesses such as non-AIDS cancers and cardiovascular diseases in this population as well [30,33,34]. Given the prevalence of HCV in PLWH, studies are needed to model ways in which HCV accounts for the development of comorbidities to support primary prevention [30,34].

Although research has shown higher substance use in males living with HIV compared with females, substance abuse was reported in the female-only model. Moreover, 8% of females living with HIV report substance abuse, with significantly higher reports in populations of males living with HIV, particularly men who have sex with men [18]. In our dataset, substance abuse is a combined variable comprising substance use disorders, including alcohol, cannabis, stimulants, hallucinogens, and opioids [22,31]. A substance use diagnosis puts patients at great risk for developing comorbidities, resulting in its significant contribution to high Charlson scores. Diagnoses of opioid abuse have resulted in the exacerbation of existing comorbidities and make medical and treatment adherence difficult [31]. Five times higher viral loads are seen in PLWH who report the use of stimulants [31,35], which is a consequence of poor adherence to antiretroviral use, increased utilization of emergency health care resource, and increased rates of chronic conditions [31,35].

Limitations

The paper is a cross-sectional analysis of diagnostic codes from EHRs. We did not assess multiple comorbidities in our cross-sectional study, and trends in comorbidities over time were not evaluated. We analyzed documented diagnoses of comorbidities for people living with HIV. We do not explore HIV-related contributions (eg, disease stage and immune status) to the development or severity of comorbidities, only their documented presence or absence. Therefore, diagnosis dates were not considered. Future longitudinal studies in similar populations should account for these additional factors, track HIV disease stage and immune status over time, and utilize different analytical approaches to explore the development of comorbidities and their contributions to medical resource utilization. Our sample was not matched on other factors such as socioeconomic status. EHR data are collected during the course of clinical care and not collected for research purposes. Understandably, sociodemographic information was incomplete for a variety of indicators including race. We did not explore the contribution of HIV-related clinical indicators (CD4, viral load, and antiretrovirals). As a cross-sectional study, the analysis of HIV-related clinical indicators one point in time would not be informative to the presence and absence of the observed comorbidities. Future longitudinal studies should analyze HIV-related clinical indicators over time to explore their potential contribution to the development of comorbidities.

Certain antiretroviral medications are linked to increased cardiovascular risk [30,31]. Therefore, antiretroviral regimens and changes in regimens over time should be included in future analytic studies as well.

Conclusions

Our analysis provides evidence to further support insight into long-term survivorship with HIV. Similarities and differences were observed between HIV-infected males and females and factor-specific contributions to medical resource utilization. Our findings contribute to the literature on sex-based differences with HIV infection and aging-related comorbidities or phenotype development in aging populations of PLWH. Moreover, cohort studies report that females are better controllers of HIV, although the mechanisms have been unclear [9,11,36]. Sex-specific mechanisms of protection must also be explored in future studies as females generally demonstrate phenotypes of viral control [37]. Targeted interventions should also include nonclinical differences between males and females, such as health education for effective symptom management. In a study that comprises HIV-infected males and females with similar demographics and clinical characteristics, more females acknowledged asking clinicians about the symptoms of aging-related comorbidities and were provided such information without request. The study also revealed that 80% of females desired symptom-related information compared with 22% of males [36,38]. To date, little attention is given to interventions targeting HIV aging phenotypes and sex-based differences, with HIV-infected populations generally being ignored in intervention research [36-38]. Biological sex must be considered in clinical intervention development and implementation to improve HIVand health-related outcomes for males and females.

Acknowledgments

This study was funded by Columbia University's Office of the Vice Provost for Diversity and Inclusion. The authors would like to acknowledge the Data Science Institute, Columbia University and University of California–San Diego: Sustained Training in Aging and HIV Research (STAHR) 5R25MH108389-04.



Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Horvath S, Levine AJ. HIV-1 infection accelerates age according to the epigenetic clock. J Infect Dis 2015 Nov 15;212(10):1563-1573 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiv277] [Medline: 25969563]
- 2. Gallant J, Hsue PY, Shreay S, Meyer N. Comorbidities among US patients with prevalent HIV infection-a trend analysis. J Infect Dis 2017 Dec 19;216(12):1525-1533. [doi: 10.1093/infdis/jix518] [Medline: 29253205]
- 3. Scully EP. Sex differences in HIV infection. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep 2018 Dec;15(2):136-146 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11904-018-0383-2] [Medline: 29504062]
- 4. Addo MM, Altfeld M. Sex-based differences in HIV type 1 pathogenesis. J Infect Dis 2014 Jul 15;209(Suppl 3):S86-S92 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiu175] [Medline: 24966195]
- 5. Stoff DM, Colosi D, Rubtsova A, Wingood G. HIV and aging research in women: an overview. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep 2016 Dec;13(6):383-391. [doi: 10.1007/s11904-016-0338-4] [Medline: 27771876]
- Greene M, Covinsky KE, Valcour V, Miao Y, Madamba J, Lampiris H, et al. Geriatric syndromes in older HIV-infected adults. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2015 Jun 1;69(2):161-167 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/QAI.000000000000556] [Medline: 26009828]
- Agboola S, Simons M, Golas S, op den Buijs J, Felsted J, Fischer N, et al. Health care cost analyses for exploring cost savings opportunities in older patients: longitudinal retrospective study. JMIR Aging 2018 Aug 1;1(2):e10254. [doi: 10.2196/10254]
- Bazdar DA, Kalinowska M, Sieg SF. Interleukin-7 receptor signaling is deficient in CD4+ T cells from HIV-infected persons and is inversely associated with aging. J Infect Dis 2009 Apr 1;199(7):1019-1028 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1086/597210] [Medline: 19239367]
- 9. Stoff DM, Goodkin K, Jeste D, Marquine M. Redefining aging in HIV infection using phenotypes. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep 2017 Dec;14(5):184-199 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11904-017-0364-x] [Medline: 28933001]
- Ndumbi P, Gilbert L, Tsoukas CM. Comprehensive evaluation of the immune risk phenotype in successfully treated HIV-infected individuals. PLoS One 2015;10(2):e0117039 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0117039] [Medline: 25647167]
- 11. Cohen MA, Gorman JM, Jacobson JM, Volberding P, Letendre SL. Comprehensive Textbook of AIDS Psychiatry: A Paradigm for Integrated Care. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2017.
- Itoh S, Hikichi H, Murayama H, Ishimaru M, Ogata Y, Yasunaga H. Association between advanced care management and progression of care needs level in long-term care recipients: retrospective cohort study. JMIR Aging 2018 Jul 25;1(2):e11117. [doi: <u>10.2196/11117</u>]
- Huang YQ, Gou R, Diao YS, Yin QH, Fan WX, Liang YP, et al. Charlson comorbidity index helps predict the risk of mortality for patients with type 2 diabetic nephropathy. J Zhejiang Univ Sci B 2014 Jan;15(1):58-66 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1631/jzus.B1300109] [Medline: 24390745]
- 14. Yoon SJ, Kim EJ, Seo HJ, Oh IH. The association between Charlson comorbidity index and the medical care cost of cancer: a retrospective study. Biomed Res Int 2015;2015:259341 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2015/259341] [Medline: 26347086]
- 15. Sak G, Schulz PJ. Exploring health information-seeking preferences of older adults with hypertension: quasi-experimental design. JMIR Cardio 2018 May 30;2(1):e12. [doi: <u>10.2196/cardio.8903</u>]
- Goodrich DE, Lowery JC, Burns JA, Richardson CR. The phased implementation of a national telehealth weight management program for veterans: mixed-methods program evaluation. JMIR Diabetes 2018 Oct 9;3(3):e14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/diabetes.9867] [Medline: 30305265]
- 17. Baltar VT, Sousa CA, Westphal MF. Mahalanobis' distance and propensity score to construct a controlled matched group in a Brazilian study of health promotion and social determinants. Rev Bras Epidemiol 2014;17(3):668-679 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1590/1809-4503201400030008] [Medline: 25272260]
- Durvasula R, Miller TR. Substance abuse treatment in persons with HIV/AIDS: challenges in managing triple diagnosis. Behav Med 2014;40(2):43-52 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/08964289.2013.866540] [Medline: 24274175]
- 19. Jin J, Sklar GE, Oh VM, Li SC. Factors affecting therapeutic compliance: a review from the patient's perspective. Ther Clin Risk Manag 2008 Feb;4(1):269-286 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/tcrm.s1458] [Medline: 18728716]
- 20. Toson B, Harvey LA, Close JC. The ICD-10 Charlson comorbidity index predicted mortality but not resource utilization following hip fracture. J Clin Epidemiol 2015 Jan;68(1):44-51. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jclinepi.2014.09.017</u>] [Medline: <u>25447352</u>]
- Sangha O, Stucki G, Liang MH, Fossel AH, Katz JN. The self-administered comorbidity questionnaire: a new method to assess comorbidity for clinical and health services research. Arthritis Rheum 2003 Apr 15;49(2):156-163 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/art.10993] [Medline: 12687505]
- Carvour ML, Harms JP, Lynch CF, Mayer RR, Meier JL, Liu D, et al. Differential survival for men and women with HIV/AIDS-related neurologic diagnoses. PLoS One 2015;10(6):e0123119 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0123119] [Medline: 26107253]

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e13865/
```

RenderX

- 23. Rickabaugh TM, Baxter RM, Sehl M, Sinsheimer JS, Hultin PM, Hultin LE, et al. Acceleration of age-associated methylation patterns in HIV-1-infected adults. PLoS One 2015;10(3):e0119201 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0119201] [Medline: 25807146]
- 24. Rudek MA, Flexner C, Ambinder RF. Use of antineoplastic agents in patients with cancer who have HIV/AIDS. Lancet Oncol 2011 Sep;12(9):905-912 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(11)70056-0] [Medline: 21570912]
- Jomar RT, Gomes RA, Leite DC, Gomes HF, Peres EM, Junior EF. Nursing diagnoses in adult/elderly patients undergoing outpatient antineoplastic chemotherapy: a review. Ecancermedicalscience 2017;11:736 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3332/ecancer.2017.736] [Medline: 28596802]
- Tobert CM, Mott SL, Nepple KG. Malnutrition diagnosis during adult inpatient hospitalizations: analysis of a multi-institutional collaborative database of academic medical centers. J Acad Nutr Diet 2018 Jan;118(1):125-131. [doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2016.12.019] [Medline: 28416434]
- Althoff KN, McGinnis KA, Wyatt CM, Freiberg MS, Gilbert C, Oursler KK, Veterans Aging Cohort Study (VACS). Comparison of risk and age at diagnosis of myocardial infarction, end-stage renal disease, and non-AIDS-defining cancer in HIV-infected versus uninfected adults. Clin Infect Dis 2015 Feb 15;60(4):627-638 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/cid/ciu869] [Medline: 25362204]
- Gelu-Simeon M, Sobesky R, Haïm-Boukobza S, Ostos M, Teicher E, Fontaine H, et al. Do the epidemiology, physiological mechanisms and characteristics of hepatocellular carcinoma in HIV-infected patients justify specific screening policies? AIDS 2014 Jun 19;28(10):1379-1391. [doi: 10.1097/QAD.0000000000000000] [Medline: 24785953]
- 29. Kang W, Tong HI, Sun Y, Lu Y. Hepatitis C virus infection in patients with HIV-1: epidemiology, natural history and management. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2014 Mar;8(3):247-266. [doi: 10.1586/17474124.2014.876357] [Medline: 24450362]
- 30. Wing EJ. HIV and aging. Int J Infect Dis 2016 Dec;53:61-68 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2016.10.004] [Medline: 27756678]
- 31. Lieb R. Epidemiological perspectives on comorbidity between substance use disorders and other mental disorders. In: Dom G, Moggi F, editors. Co-occurring Addictive and Psychiatric Disorders: A Practice-Based Handbook from a European Perspective. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer; 2015:3-12.
- 32. Schouten J, Wit FW, Stolte IG, Kootstra NA, van der Valk M, Geerlings SE, AGEhIV Cohort Study Group. Cross-sectional comparison of the prevalence of age-associated comorbidities and their risk factors between HIV-infected and uninfected individuals: the AGEhIV cohort study. Clin Infect Dis 2014 Dec 15;59(12):1787-1797. [doi: 10.1093/cid/ciu701] [Medline: 25182245]
- Sun B, Abadjian L, Rempel H, Monto A, Pulliam L. Differential cognitive impairment in HCV coinfected men with controlled HIV compared to HCV monoinfection. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2013 Feb 1;62(2):190-196 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/QAI.0b013e31827b61f1] [Medline: 23187938]
- 34. Osibogun O, Ogunmoroti O, Michos ED, Spatz ES, Olubajo B, Nasir K, et al. HIV/HCV coinfection and the risk of cardiovascular disease: a meta-analysis. J Viral Hepat 2017;24(11):998-1004. [doi: 10.1111/jvh.12725] [Medline: 28502092]
- 35. Pathai S, Bajillan H, Landay AL, High KP. Is HIV a model of accelerated or accentuated aging? J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2014 Jul;69(7):833-842 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/gerona/glt168] [Medline: 24158766]
- 36. Durvasula R. HIV/AIDS in older women: unique challenges, unmet needs. Behav Med 2014;40(3):85-98 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/08964289.2014.893983] [Medline: 25090361]
- 37. Lewis JA, Gee PM, Ho CL, Miller LM. Understanding why older adults with type 2 diabetes join diabetes online communities: semantic network analyses. JMIR Aging 2018 Jun 28;1(1):e10649. [doi: <u>10.2196/10649</u>]
- Padyana M, Bhat RV, Dinesha, Nawaz A. HIV in females: a clinico-epidemiological study. J Family Med Prim Care 2013 Apr;2(2):149-152 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4103/2249-4863.117405] [Medline: 24479069]

Abbreviations

EHR: electronic health record **HCV:** hepatitis C virus **ICD:** International Classification of Disease **PLWH:** people living with HIV/AIDS



Edited by J Wang; submitted 28.02.19; peer-reviewed by A Neilan, J Osborne; comments to author 25.03.19; revised version received 19.05.19; accepted 17.07.19; published 11.09.19. <u>Please cite as:</u> Odlum M, Yoon S Understanding Comorbidities and Their Contribution to Predictors of Medical Resource Utilization for an Age- and Sex-Matched Patient Population Living With HIV: Cross-Sectional Study JMIR Aging 2019;2(2):e13865 URL: http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e13865/ doi:10.2196/13865 PMID:31516123

©Michelle Odlum, Sunmoo Yoon. Originally published in JMIR Aging (http://aging.jmir.org), 11.09.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Social Support Patterns of Middle-Aged and Older Adults Within a Physical Activity App: Secondary Mixed Method Analysis

Zakkoyya H Lewis^{1*}, PhD, ATC, ACSM EP-C; Maria C Swartz^{2*}, MPH, PhD, RD, LD; Eloisa Martinez³, BS; Elizabeth J Lyons⁴, MPH, PhD

¹Kinesiology & Health Promotion Department, California State Polytechnic University Pomona, Pomona, CA, United States

²Department of Pediatrics-Research, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, United States

³Sealy Center on Aging, The University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston, TX, United States

Corresponding Author:

Maria C Swartz, MPH, PhD, RD, LD Department of Pediatrics-Research The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center 1515 Holcombe Blvd Houston, TX, 77030-4009 United States Phone: 1 713 745 3763 Fax: 1 713 563 5406 Email: mchang1@mdanderson.org

Abstract

Background: Physical activity (PA) is critical for maintaining independence and delaying mobility disability in aging adults. However, 27 to 44% of older adults in the United States are meeting the recommended PA level. Activity trackers are proving to be a promising tool to promote PA adherence through activity tracking and enhanced social interaction features. Although social support has been known to be an influential behavior change technique to promote PA, how middle-aged and older adults use the social interaction feature of mobile apps to provide virtual support to promote PA engagement remains mostly underexplored.

Objective: This study aimed to describe the social support patterns of middle-aged and older adults using a mobile app as part of a behavioral PA intervention.

Methods: Data from 35 participants (mean age 61.66 [SD 6] years) in a 12-week, home-based activity intervention were used for this secondary mixed method analysis. Participants were provided with a Jawbone Up24 activity monitor and an Apple iPad Mini installed with the UP app to facilitate self-monitoring and social interaction. All participants were given an anonymous account and encouraged to interact with other participants using the app. Social support features included comments and *likes*. Thematic coding was used to identify the type of social support provided within the UP app and characterize the levels of engagement from users. Participants were categorized as superusers or contributors, and passive participants were categorized as lurkers based on the literature.

Results: Over the 12-week intervention, participants provided a total of 3153 likes and 1759 comments. Most participants (n=25) were contributors, with 4 categorized as superusers and 6 categorized as lurkers. Comments were coded as emotional support, informational support, instrumental support, self-talk, and other, with emotional support being the most prevalent type.

Conclusions: Our cohort of middle-aged and older adults was willing to use the social network feature in an activity app to communicate with anonymous peers. Most of our participants were contributors. In addition, the social support provided through the activity app followed social support constructs. In sum, PA apps are a promising tool for delivering virtual social support to enhance PA engagement and have the potential to make a widespread impact on PA promotion.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT01869348; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01869348

(JMIR Aging 2019;2(2):e12496) doi:10.2196/12496



⁴Department of Nutrition and Metabolism, The University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston, TX, United States *these authors contributed equally

KEYWORDS

social support; aged; middle aged; physical activity; technology; fitness tracker

Introduction

Physical Activity and Social Support

Physical activity (PA) is critical during the aging process to help maintain independence and delay the development of mobility disability. Yet, in a study conducted by Keadle et al in 2016, less than 50% of healthy older adults achieved the recommended PA level [1]. In fact, research has found that adherence to PA guidelines or interventions decreased from 80% to 50% over 12 months [2]. Traditional PA interventions are labor intensive for both the research team and the participants. Recent advances in technology have produced methods (eg, wearable activity trackers) that allow for less labor-intensive PA intervention design [3]. Wearable activity trackers have been shown to be a promising tool to augment traditional PA intervention designs by replacing the need to manually record PA through passive activity tracking [3]. Activity trackers also expand on limited feedback of pedometers by providing goal-setting assistance and extensive feedback on progress and encouraging social interaction [4]. Despite a surge in the use of activity trackers within PA interventions, it is not yet clear how middle-aged and older adults use the virtual support features to promote PA engagement. Given that social support is a psychosocial factor that has been consistently identified as a critical factor for the adoption and maintenance of PA behavior [5,6], it is important for us to examine this influential psychosocial factor to provide insight for future PA intervention designs.

Social support is defined as an interpersonal exchange that increases self-esteem and offers acceptance, value, and motivation to individuals [7]. In a study, individuals who perceived low social support within their social environment were found to be 2 times more likely to be sedentary [8]. Reviews have indicated that shared experience, such as exercising in a group setting (eg, walking club) or being socially connected (eg, community facilities or virtual blogs), can help shape and foster the adoption of PA behavior [9]. Furthermore, empirical evidence has indicated that social support is an influential behavioral change technique that has the potential to encourage PA among older adults [6,10,11] and promote adherence to PA recommendations [5,12]. Using the self-determination theory (SDT) as the framework [13], Vallerand posited that social support can affect the degree of motivation (also referred to as the degree of self-determination) and, in turn, affect health behavior [14]. George et al explored the mechanistic relationship further by using the hierarchical model of intrinsic and extrinsic motivation models and found that perceived social support positively associated with the 3 components of basic psychological needs (autonomy, competence, and relatedness) as indicated by SDT [13,15]. In turn, the psychological needs were positively associated with motivation and PA intention [15]. Thus, we can posit that social support plays a critical role in meeting the basic psychological needs and, in turn, increases motivation to engage in PA.

Social Support Constructs

Constructs of social support, through social media or conventional means, can be categorized as emotional, informational, instrumental, or appraisal support as described by Heaney and Israel [16]. Emotional support is an expression of empathy, love, trust, or care. Informational support provides advice or information. Instrumental support provides tangible aid. Appraisal support provides information that is useful for self-evaluation [16]. Support can also come from within the individual through self-talk [17,18]. Self-talk can be a discussion with oneself or a multiparty dialog [17], and it can be positive or negative among individuals [18]. With the increase in mobile phone usage and wearable activity tracker usage, individuals seeking support can do so using social networks available in mobile apps. Research shows that social networking sites (SNSs) have been used to provide informational support (eg, guidance), instrumental support (eg, connect individuals with resources), and emotional support. In addition, SNSs have also been used to facilitate behavior change interventions [16,19-22]. Specifically, de la Peña and Quintanilla found that health-related Facebook communities were able to provide informational, instrumental, and emotional support needed for members to achieve their goals [20] through features such as *likes* and comments [20]. The like feature is a form of emotional support by providing users positive and indirect feedback. The comments *feature* in itself is a form of emotional support. However, it is also used to provide appraisal support (ie, constructive feedback) or instrumental and/or informational support (ie, suggestions or connection with resources).

Nevertheless, individuals vary in how they participate in SNSs to receive and provide social support. Researchers confirmed that the 90-9-1 principle (also known as the 1% rule) developed by digital marketing researchers [23] also reflected the phenomenon observed within the digital health environment [24]. Researchers found that content came within the digital health SNSs or the internet support groups came from superusers and contributors [24-26]. Most content was provided by superusers who represent approximately 1% of the members in the SNSs. Contributors generated a minority of the content, and they represent about 9% of the members. Most members in the digital health support system are considered as lurkers (~90%). These are individuals who observe without active participation [27-29].

Objective

Although the popularity of receiving and providing social support through SNSs is rising, the usage pattern for health and PA promotion among middle-aged and older adults remains unclear [30]. There is preliminary evidence that older adults who use virtual support provide comments that align within the constructs of social support [31], but they are cited as being apprehensive about communicating with strangers [32] although an increasing number of older adults are on social media sites [33]. Thus, the purpose of this secondary data analysis was to describe the social support patterns among middle-aged and

XSL•FO

older adults using a mobile phone app as part of a behavioral PA intervention and evaluate them within the constructs of social support. We hypothesize that social support patterns in our cohort of middle-aged and older adults will align with the social support constructs and social network engagement pattern.

Methods

Study Design and Population

This study was a secondary mixed-method analysis with data retrieved from a randomized controlled study (Trial Registration: NCT01869348). Data were drawn from a 12-week, randomized controlled behavioral PA study. The primary study's recruitment and intervention methods are published elsewhere [34]. The eligibility criteria were as follows: (1) aged 55 to 79 years, (2) body mass index of 25 to 35 kg/m², (3) able to read and understand English, (4) able to read the print off of a tablet, and (5) cleared to participate as determined by the Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire [35]. Participants were enrolled and started the intervention between 2014 and 2016. This secondary analysis included 35 of the 40 study participants who used the UP app (Jawbone, San Francisco, CA) and who always had at least one participant (herein referred to as peers) to communicate with during the week. Due to rolling enrollment, the actual number of peers fluctuated on a weekly basis (between 0 and 10). Of the 40 participants, 5 were not included in this analysis because they either refused to participate in the intervention after the wait-list period or did not have at least one peer to communicate with during any point of the intervention.

Procedures

Eligible participants were randomized to either the intervention group or the wait-list control group. The intervention provided a wearable activity monitor (UP24 by Jawbone, San Francisco, CA) and a mobile tablet device (iPad Mini by Apple, Cupertino, CA) and received scripted, brief weekly telephone cognitive behavioral counseling. The wait-list control group received all the intervention components after their 12-week final assessment. The UP app was preinstalled on the tablets so that the participants could view their activity and interact with other participants. All participants were given an anonymous account (eg, Monopoly icons) and were *friended* with the other participants and the interventionists. Interventionists used the app for surveillance of the participants only unless there was a software update. The participants were encouraged, but not required, to socialize with others. Participants were instructed to ignore friend requests from unknown users. The app posted individual entries for each person and their peers' activity progress daily in the news feed. Participants were able to comment and like the entries; these interactions were analyzed to estimate social support. Interactions were categorized as received and given support based on whether a comment or like was given to or received by a peer. Regardless of their social engagement, participants received notifications from the app when they received a comment or a like from a peer. For this reason, given support was used for data analysis. Additional UP app features, including leaderboards and challenges, are described in depth elsewhere [36]. The overall study protocol

was approved by the university's institutional review board, and all participants provided written informed consent.

Data Analysis

NVivo 11 Pro (QSR International) was used for qualitative analysis, and SPSS version 20 (IBM, Armonk, NK) was used for quantitative analysis. Descriptive analyses were conducted using means and frequencies for comments given and received. Furthermore, interquartile range (IQR) for given support (comments or likes given to peers) was used to identify superusers and lurkers because it approximated the participants' engagement with social features. Participants above the 75th percentile in both social support categories (given likes and comments) were classified as superusers. Participants below the 25th percentile in both social support categories were classified as lurkers. For qualitative analysis, a combination of directed and conventional qualitative content analysis was used to analyze the app comments [37]. Codes were based on major social support constructs: emotional support, informational support, instrumental support, appraisal support, and self-talk [10,13,14]. Additional codes were developed through conventional qualitative analysis from reading through the comments. Moreover, 2 graduate-level investigators independently coded the comments, and agreement was determined using the NVivo software. Disagreement was settled through discussion and joint review of the comments among coders and the principal investigator (EL) who is a behavioral scientist. Due to protocol restrictions, no quotes from participants were abstracted from the app. Only the quantitative report and the coded qualitative themes are reported.

Results

Descriptive Information

Table 1 displays the baseline characteristics of the participants (n=35). On average, participants had 8 peers (range 4-13) to socialize with over 12 weeks.

Throughout the study, there were 3153 likes and 1759 comments. The most likes received by one person was 524, and the most comments were 291 with a median of 61 likes and 32 comments received. Of 35 participants, 3 did not receive a like or comment over the 12-week period. The median number of likes given was 2, with a range of 0 to 986 and an IQR of 40. The median number of comments given was 14, with a range of 0 to 344 and an IQR of 45. The median number of self-talk comments given was 4, with a range of 0 to 232 and an IQR of 16. Moreover, 11% participants (4/35) were above the 75th percentile in given likes and comments. These 4 superusers combined accounted for 72.60% (2289/3153) and 51.28% (902/1759) of the total likes and comments, respectively. Conversely, 17% participants (6/35) can be classified as lurkers because they were below the 25th percentile of comments given, and they did not give any likes. The remaining 25 participants were classified as contributors-the likes or comments given were within the IQR. This group accounted for 27.40% (864/3153) likes and 48.72% (857/1759) comments. Lurkers had fewer peers (average: 6; range: 4-9) to communicate with throughout the 12 weeks than contributors (average: 8; range: 6-13) and superusers (average: 9; range: 8-11). Complete social
support values for all participants are depicted in Table 2. The *likes* and comments in the table reflect given support, as this

reflects the participant's engagement with the social features.

Table 1.	Baseline d	emographic	characteristics	by study	group (N=35).
----------	------------	------------	-----------------	----------	-------------	----

Characteristics	Intervention (n=19)	Wait-list control (n=16)	Total (N=35)
Female, n (%)	16 (84)	13 (81)	19 (83)
Ethnicity, n (%)			
Non-Hispanic white	11 (58)	9 (56)	20 (57)
Other	8 (42)	7 (44)	15 (43)
College graduate, n (%)	12 (63)	10 (63)	22 (63)
Age, mean (SD)	61.32 (5)	62.06 (7)	61.66 (6)
Body mass index, kg/m ² , mean (SD)	29.99 (3)	30.80 (4)	30.36 (3)

Common Themes

The comments within the app mostly followed the major social support constructs, as described in the Introduction section [10,13,14]. The only theme that was not prevalent was appraisal support. Some comments that were useful for self-evaluation were coded as a subtheme of emotional support. In addition to emotional support, other major themes included informational support, instrumental support, self-talk, and *other* theme. Each major theme had additional subthemes. Figure 1 illustrates the hierarchy of major and subthemes in the comments.

The intervention group participants gave more comments than the wait-list control group participants, but the most prevalent themes were the same between the 2 groups. Agreement between the 2 coders ranged from 53.4% to 99.4% for each theme. The lowest agreement was with self-talk (67.9%) and emotional support (53.44%). Table 3 displays the number of comments given by the participants per major theme. Several comments were coded into numerous themes. Emotional support was the most prevalent, followed by self-talk, other themes, informational support, and instrumental support.

Emotional support was further categorized as concern, gratitude, sharing, motivating, and social norms. *Concern* comments were those that expressed concern for their peer's health and well-being. *Gratitude* comments expressed thanks to fellow peers for their support. *Sharing* comments were conversation-like posts. *Motivating* comments were further categorized as congratulatory, encouragement, impressed, compliment, and verbal persuasion. *Verbal persuasion* were short, encouraging comments such as *woo-hoo* and *yay*. *Social norms* was further categorized as agreement and comparison.

Subthemes of self-talk included anecdote, feelings (positive and negative), planning, and reflection. Anecdotes were comments

that shared personal information or a personal story but were not directed to a peer. *Positive* or *negative* comments toward an individual's own activity were coded as *feelings*. There were no negative comments between peers. *Planning* comments were the result of an individual planning future PA. Comments where an individual would reflect on their past PA or other health behaviors were coded as *reflection*.

Other themes were subcategorized as correction, technical problems, greeting, health behavior, and unknown. Users cannot edit a previous comment within the app; therefore, additional comments that fixed a previous comment were coded as a *correction*. Comments that expressed technical issues with the Up24 band or the app were coded as *technical problems*. *Greeting* comments were further subcategorized as welcome and salutation. Users had the option to also monitor their sleep and diet behavior, which were the 2 subthemes for *health behavior*. Finally, any other comments that could not be coded into the aforementioned themes were coded as *unknown*.

Informational support included informative and inquiry comments. Informative comments educated peers on PA, the app, or the Up24 band, and inquiry comments posed a question to peers. Instrumental support was further categorized as competition, exercise companion, and participatory support. Comments that mentioned an *exercise companion* differed from *participatory support* because the exercise companion was exercising with the individual's friend or family member, whereas participatory support came from discussing meeting for in-person exercise with their peers in the study. Participants were not expected to exercise with one another, but comments indicated that participants contacted one another and walked together on at least 12 occasions. All participants.



Lewis et al

Table 2. Participants' characteristics and social engagement (N=35; 1-16 were wait-list control participants, and 17-35 were intervention participants).

No	Gender	Peers	<i>Likes</i> (N=3153), n (%)	Comments (N=1759), n (%)	Self-talk comments (N=758), n (%)
1 ^a	F^{b}	10	299 (9.48)	166 (9.43)	31 (4.1)
2 ^a	F	9	986 (31.27)	340 (19.32)	105 (13.9)
3 ^a	M ^c	7	544 (17.25)	344 (19.55)	232 (30.6)
4^d	М	6	2 (0.06)	0 (0.00)	0 (0.0)
5 ^d	F	8	0 (0.00)	16 (0.90)	13 (1.7)
6 ^d	F	8	0 (0.00)	4 (0.22)	2 (0.3)
7^{d}	F	13	2 (0.06)	9 (0.51)	3 (0.4)
8 ^d	М	10	1 (0.03)	5 (0.28)	3 (0.4)
9 ^d	F	9	45 (1.42)	30 (1.70)	18 (2.4)
10 ^d	F	9	0 (0.00)	1 (0.05)	1 (0.1)
11 ^d	F	8	6 (0.19)	5 (0.28)	4 (0.5)
12 ^e	F	7	0 (0.00)	0 (0.00)	1 (0.1)
13 ³	F	8	0 (0.00)	0 (0.00)	0 (0.0)
14 ^e	F	9	0 (0.00)	0 (0.00)	0 (0.0)
15 ^e	F	4	0 (0.00)	0 (0.00)	0 (0.0)
16 ^e	F	6	0 (0.00)	0 (0.00)	0 (0.0)
17 ^a	F	11	460 (14.58)	52 (2.95)	26 (3.4)
18 ^d	F	6	5 (0.15)	57 (3.24)	16 (2.1)
19 ^d	F	6	24 (0.76)	223 (12.67)	82 (11.2)
20 ^d	М	7	0 (0.00)	0 (0.00)	0 (0.0)
21 ^d	F	6	2 (0.06)	194 (11.0)	85 (11.2)
22 ^d	F	6	5 (0.15)	40 (2.27)	14 (1.8)
23 ^d	F	6	8 (0.25)	15 (0.85)	8 (1.1)
24 ^d	F	11	0 (0.00)	76 (4.32)	38 (5.0)
25 ^d	М	8	1 (0.03)	23 (1.30)	2 (0.3)
26 ^d	F	6	338 (10.7)	14 (0.79)	9 (1.2)
27 ^d	F	6	13 (0.41)	17 (0.96)	12 (1.6)
28 ^d	F	6	26 (0.82)	13 (0.73)	4 (0.5)
29 ^d	F	6	0 (0.00)	24 (1.36)	16 (2.1)
30 ^d	F	8	279 (8.84)	46 (2.61)	17 (2.2)
31 ^d	М	10	1 (0.03)	1 (0.05)	1 (0.1)
32 ^d	F	13	40 (1.26)	4 (0.22)	0 (0.0)
33 ^d	F	12	0 (0.00)	1 (0.05)	1 (0.1)
34 ^d	F	10	66 (2.09)	34 (1.93)	14 (1.8)
35 ^a	F	6	0 (0.00)	0 (0.00)	0 (0.0)

^aSuperuser.

http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e12496/



^bF: female. ^cM: male. ^dContributor. ^eLurker.

Figure 1. Social support themes. The size of each box represents the prevalence of the different comment themes (not to scale). Study themes were developed based on the work of Heaney and Israel, Cavallo et al, and Cousins et al.



Table 3. Number of comments by themes.

Themes	Intervention (n=19 participants)	Wait-list controls (n=16 participants)	Total participants (N=35)	
Emotional support ^a , n comments (%)	475 (50.6) 596 (67.3)		1071 (58.72)	
Concern ^b	29 (3)	24 (3)	53 (3)	
Gratitude ^b	75 (8)	107 (12.1)	182 (10.0)	
Motivating ^b	317 (33.8)	420 (47.4)	737 (40.4)	
Compliment ^c	41 (4)	54 (6)	95 (5)	
Congratulatory ^c	53 (6)	60 (7)	113 (6.2)	
Encouragement ^c	75 (8)	89 (10)	164 (9.0)	
Impressed ^c	45 (5)	70 (8)	115 (6.3)	
Verbal persuasion ^c	155 (16.5)	215 (24.3)	370 (20.3)	
Sharing ^b	92 (10)	80 (9)	172 (9.4)	
Social norms ^b	42 (5)	18 (2)	60 (3)	
Agreement ^c	13 (1)	5 (1)	18 (1)	
Comparison ^c	32 (3)	13 (2)	45 (3)	
Informational support ^a , n (%)	64 (7)	18 (2)	82 (5)	
Informative ^b	23 (2)	2 (0)	25 (1)	
Inquiry ^b	40 (4)	17 (2)	57 (3)	
Instrumental support ^a , n (%)	48 (5)	11 (1)	59 (3)	
Competition ^b	20 (2)	0 (0)	20 (1)	
Exercise companion ^b	17 (2)	10 (1)	27 (2)	
Participatory support ^b	12 (1)	1 (0)	13 (1)	
Self-talk ^a , n (%)	220 (23.4)	188 (21.2)	408 (22.4)	
Anecdote ^b	83 (9)	85 (10)	168 (9.2)	
Feelings ^b	49 (5)	38 (4)	87 (5)	
Negative ^c	15 (2)	6 (1)	21 (1)	
Positive ^c	34 (4)	31 (4)	65 (4)	
Planning ^b	42 (5)	16 (2)	58 (3)	
Reflection ^b	98 (10)	78 (9.0)	176 (9.6)	
Other ^a , n (%)	132 (14.1)	72 (8)	204 (11.2)	
Correction ^b	6 (1)	9 (1)	15 (1)	
Greeting ^b	23 (2)	24 (3)	47 (3)	
Salutatory ^c	10 (1)	11 (1)	21 (1)	
Welcome ^c	15 (2)	10 (1)	25 (1)	
Health behaviors ^b	52 (6)	22 (3)	74 (4)	
Diet ^c	7 (1)	0 (0)	7 (0)	
Sleep ^c	46 (5)	23 (3)	69 (4)	
Technical problems ^b	33 (4)	16 (2)	49 (3)	

http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e12496/

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Aging 2019 | vol. 2 | iss. 2 |e12496 | p.112 (page number not for citation purposes)

JMIR AGING			Lewis et al
Themes	Intervention (n=19 participants)	Wait-list controls (n=16 participants)	Total participants (N=35)
Unknown ^b	6 (1)	3 (0)	9 (1)
Total comments ^d	939 (51.5)	885 (48.5)	1824

^aMajor themes; themes were developed based on the work of Heaney and Israel, Cavallo et al, and Cousins et al.

^bSubmajor themes.

^cMinor themes.

^dSome comments were coded into several submajor or minor themes. Therefore, the total depicts the total number of comments under the major theme.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Our exploratory study on social support patterns of middle-aged and older adults using a mobile app found that without being mandated to socialize with other participants, the 35 participants who used the app as part of the intervention produced a total of 1759 comments and 3153 *likes* over a 12-week intervention period. Of 35 participants, 4 were classified as superusers because they were above the 75th percentile for all support categories (given *likes* and comments), whereas 6 participants were classified as lurkers for falling below the 25th percentile in given comments and did not give any *likes*. Common themes coded from the content of comments followed constructs of social support, with the most prevalent comments classified as emotional support followed by self-talk.

Our evaluation partially supports the 90-9-1 principle in that the smallest portion of participants was superusers [24]; however, our sample did not follow the same distribution. We found that 17% (n=6) of participants were lurkers, 71% (n=25) were contributors, and 11% (n=4) were superusers. Contributors were the largest group, which is contrary to the 90-9-1 principle that states lurkers are the most prevalent [24]. Despite the increase in superusers and contributors, their contribution in the app was similar to previous evaluations. Van Mierlo investigated the 90-9-1 principle in 4 digital health social networks and found that the superusers, the top 1%, accounted for 73.6% of posts, whereas contributors accounted for 24.7% of posts [24]. In our study, superusers and contributors accounted for a comparable 72.6% and 27.1% of likes, respectively. The larger proportion of superusers and contributors in our sample may be the result of the intimate nature and anonymity of the study. At any given time during the study, there were only 1 to 10 peers for a participant to interact with versus the possible hundreds of peers on an SNS. It is unclear whether the size of the social group may have affected support provision behavior. However, too few peers may have inhibited social interaction and is a clear limitation of this exploratory investigation.

Previous research suggests that older adults are apprehensive to communicate with strangers [32]; the anonymous nature of the team may have also contributed to increased interactions in our study, as individuals were known by their icon rather than their real name. Some participants used these icons as a conversation starter, which helped to increase social engagement. This may have also affected the type of support that was provided. The anonymity did not result in negative

http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e12496/

comments toward peers, only in the form of self-talk. Participants may have been supportive because of their shared interests in the intervention or the surveillance of the intervention. Future research should investigate the effect of group size, anonymity, and icon personae on social interaction within apps or SNSs.

Although the number of comments varied between intervention and wait-list control participants, the most prevalent themes remained the same. The rank of themes by prevalence was emotional support, self-talk, other, informational support, and instrumental support. This trend is similar to that observed in women who used Fitbit and its Web-based social network [38]. A total of 20 women enrolled in a 6-week study were given a Fitbit Flex to monitor their activity and access to the Web-based Fitbit system. The social features of the Fitbit system included a message board for communication and a leaderboard [38]. The study found the most prevalent comments were motivational (emotional support), followed by sharing of PA ideas (informational support) and exercising with others (instrumental support). Self-talk and other types of comments were not reported. Results of the multilevel model analyses showed that social contact had a significant effect on PA, but it is unclear which type of support influenced PA the most [38].

Similar results were found in a PA intervention for individuals with Parkinson disease. Participants were given a Fitbit zip and assigned a peer mentor to help promote PA. The peer mentors were *friends* with the participants through the Fitbit system. As *friends*, the mentors were able to provide emotional support, through comments and *likes*, and instrumental support, through social comparison of activity. After an 8-week period of peer mentorship, participants increased their PA by 31% [39]. Yet, it is still unclear which type of support was driving the PA change. In traditional in-person social networks, emotional support has a considerable impact on PA compared with other types of support [40,41]. More research is needed to determine how PA is affected by each type of support (emotional support, instrumental support, informational support, and self-talk) within a virtual environment. Studies by Colon-Semenza et al and Arigo mandated social support, whereas this study did not [38,39]; researchers should also investigate the impact of mandated versus organic social engagement.

Limitations

The informed consent document did not ask for clearance to share comments from the app, as we did not expect virtual social support to be so prevalent. Furthermore, challenges related to the recruitment strategy of pilot trial should be considered in interpreting these data, as they caused the number of

XSL•FO RenderX

simultaneous peers to shift throughout the intervention period. Due to these limitations, this study is limited to a description and was not able to further examine the comments or their potential impacts on intervention effectiveness. The intervention was designed to impact PA behavior, which provides further limitations for this secondary data analysis. Participants' prior experience on social media use was not captured. As the inclusion of wait-list participants, change in PA as a result of social interaction could not be assessed. Therefore, our results are exploratory in nature, and no conclusions on the relationship of social support and PA could be made. Preliminary results from Arigo [38] and Colon-Semenza et al [39] suggest that more virtual social interaction results in more PA, but these studies were among young adults and Parkinson disease patients, respectively. These results are not necessarily generalizable to middle-aged and older adults. Furthermore, this study neither provides a network analysis of the relationship between lurkers, contributors, and superusers nor accounts for the fluctuating number of peers. This clear limitation of this study should be addressed in future trials by ensuring timely recruitment in small cohorts. Our thematic coding of the participants' comments was conducted independently by 2 coders following qualitative analysis guidelines, but an external researcher was not involved in the study to review the themes. This may limit the internal validity of our evaluation. Most of our participants were non-Hispanic white and female, and future research should include a more diverse sample. The strength of this study includes a thorough description of how older adults support their unknown peers using an app and evidence of the

acceptability of anonymous social support in addition to counseling calls from research staff.

Conclusions

Use of wearable activity monitors that have a social networking feature is on the rise both commercially and in research [38,42]. Their features, similar to other SNSs, have the potential to make a widespread impact on PA promotion in the clinical and community settings. However, to our knowledge, use of the social networking features of these devices to provide social support are seldom reported or evaluated [30]. The results of our study suggest that middle-aged and older adults were willing to use social tools in a PA app to communicate with unknown, anonymous peers (total of 3153 likes and 1759 comments over 12 weeks). Social support in our study also happened organically without being required as a part of an intervention. Social support provided in the app followed constructs of social support [37]. The most prevalent type of support was emotional support. Contrary to the 90-9-1 principle, most participants were contributors (71.4%), with only 11.4% superusers and 17.1% lurkers. In combination with the other implemented behavioral change techniques [4], our findings provide further support for the potential usefulness of wearable activity monitors as a promising intervention tool to encourage behavior change. Future research is needed to investigate the potential of these social support features to change PA behavior. Practitioners should be aware that these features exist in many available PA apps and may be used by patients to provide and receive support. However, education needs to be provided regarding information security.

Acknowledgments

This study was internally funded by the Claude D Pepper Older Americans Independence Center (grant number P30AG024832) and Sealy Center on Aging. Additional salary support was provided by the Cancer Prevention Research Institute of Texas (grant number RP140020); the National Institute on Disability, Independent Living, and Rehabilitation Research (grant number 90AR5009); a Mentored Research Scholar Grant in Applied and Clinical Research (grant number MRSG-14-165-01-CPPB) from the American Cancer Society; the American Heart Association (grant number 13BGIA17110021, 16PRE27090012); the National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (National Center for Medical Rehabilitation Research); the National Institute for Neurological Disorders and Stroke; and the National Institute of Biomedical Imaging and Bioengineering (grant number P2CHD065702).

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Keadle SK, McKinnon R, Graubard BI, Troiano RP. Prevalence and trends in physical activity among older adults in the United States: a comparison across three national surveys. Prev Med 2016 Aug;89:37-43 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2016.05.009] [Medline: 27196146]
- Nyman SR, Victor CR. Older people's participation in and engagement with falls prevention interventions in community settings: an augment to the Cochrane systematic review. Age Ageing 2012 Jan;41(1):16-23. [doi: <u>10.1093/ageing/afr103</u>] [Medline: <u>21875865</u>]
- Tate DF, Lyons EJ, Valle CG. High-tech tools for exercise motivation: use and role of technologies such as the internet, mobile applications, social media, and video games. Diabetes Spectr 2015 Jan;28(1):45-54 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/diaspect.28.1.45] [Medline: 25717278]
- Lyons EJ, Lewis ZH, Mayrsohn BG, Rowland JL. Behavior change techniques implemented in electronic lifestyle activity monitors: a systematic content analysis. J Med Internet Res 2014 Aug 15;16(8):e192 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3469] [Medline: 25131661]

RenderX

- 5. Eynon M, Foad J, Downey J, Bowmer Y, Mills H. Assessing the psychosocial factors associated with adherence to exercise referral schemes: a systematic review. Scand J Med Sci Sports 2019 May;29(5):638-650. [doi: 10.1111/sms.13403] [Medline: 30742334]
- Greaves CJ, Sheppard KE, Abraham C, Hardeman W, Roden M, Evans PH, IMAGE Study Group. Systematic review of reviews of intervention components associated with increased effectiveness in dietary and physical activity interventions. BMC Public Health 2011 Feb 18;11:119 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-11-119] [Medline: 21333011]
- 7. Sarason IG, Levine HM, Basham RB, Sarason BR. Assessing social support: the social support questionnaire. J Pers Soc Psychol 1983;44(1):127-139. [doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.44.1.127]
- 8. Ståhl T, Rütten A, Nutbeam D, Bauman A, Kannas L, Abel T, et al. The importance of the social environment for physically active lifestyle--results from an international study. Soc Sci Med 2001 Jan;52(1):1-10. [doi: 10.1016/S0277-9536(00)00116-7] [Medline: 11144909]
- 9. Bors P, Dessauer M, Bell R, Wilkerson R, Lee J, Strunk SL. The Active Living by Design national program: community initiatives and lessons learned. Am J Prev Med 2009 Dec;37(6 Suppl 2):S313-S321. [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2009.09.027] [Medline: 19944930]
- 10. McAuley E, Jerome GJ, Elavsky S, Marquez DX, Ramsey SN. Predicting long-term maintenance of physical activity in older adults. Prev Med 2003 Aug;37(2):110-118. [doi: 10.1016/S0091-7435(03)00089-6] [Medline: 12855210]
- 11. Michie S, Richardson M, Johnston M, Abraham C, Francis J, Hardeman W, et al. The behavior change technique taxonomy (v1) of 93 hierarchically clustered techniques: building an international consensus for the reporting of behavior change interventions. Ann Behav Med 2013 Aug;46(1):81-95. [doi: 10.1007/s12160-013-9486-6] [Medline: 23512568]
- Swartz MC, Lewis ZH, Swartz MD, Martinez E, Lyons EJ. Brief report: active ingredients for adherence to a tracker-based physical activity intervention in older adults. J Appl Gerontol 2019 Jul;38(7):1023-1034. [doi: <u>10.1177/0733464817739350</u>] [Medline: <u>29165029</u>]
- 13. Deci EL, Ryan RM. The 'what' and 'why' of goal pursuits: human needs and the self-determination of behavior. Psychol Inq 2000 Oct;11(4):227-268. [doi: 10.1207/s15327965pli1104_01]
- 14. Vallerand RJ. A hierarchical model of intrinsic and extrinsic motivation for sport and physical activity. In: Hagger MS, Chatzisarantis NL, editors. Intrinsic Motivation and Self-Determination in Exercise and Sport. Champaign, IL, US: Human Kinetics; 2007:356-363.
- George M, Eys MA, Oddson B, Roy-Charland A, Schinke RJ, Bruner MW. The role of self-determination in the relationship between social support and physical activity intentions. J Appl Soc Psychol 2013 Apr 30;43(6):1333-1341. [doi: <u>10.1111/jasp.12142</u>]
- 16. Heaney CA, Israel BA. Social networks and social support. In: Glanz K, Rimer BK, Viswanath K, editors. Health Behavior and Health Education: Theory, Research, and Practice. San Francisco, CA, US: Jossey-Bass; 2008:189-219.
- 17. Gibson AC, Foster C. The role of self-talk in the awareness of physiological state and physical performance. Sports Med 2007;37(12):1029-1044. [doi: 10.2165/00007256-200737120-00003] [Medline: 18027992]
- Cousins SO, Gillis MM. 'Just do it... before you talk yourself out of it': the self-talk of adults thinking about physical activity. Psychol Sport Exerc 2005 May;6(3):313-334. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.psychsport.2004.03.001</u>]
- Cavallo DN, Tate DF, Ries AV, Brown JD, De Vellis RF, Ammerman AS. A social media-based physical activity intervention: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Prev Med 2012 Nov;43(5):527-532 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2012.07.019] [Medline: 23079176]
- 20. de la Peña A, Quintanilla C. Share, like and achieve: the power of Facebook to reach health-related goals. Int J Consum Stud 2015 Aug 24;39(5):495-505. [doi: 10.1111/ijcs.12224]
- 21. McNeill LH, Kreuter MW, Subramanian SV. Social environment and physical activity: a review of concepts and evidence. Soc Sci Med 2006 Aug;63(4):1011-1022. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.socscimed.2006.03.012</u>] [Medline: <u>16650513</u>]
- 22. Woolley P, Peterson M. Efficacy of a health-related Facebook social network site on health-seeking behaviors. Soc Mar Q 2012 May 2;18(1):29-39. [doi: 10.1177/1524500411435481]
- 23. Nielsen J. Nielsen Norman Group. 2006. Participation Inequality: The 90-9-1 Rule for Participation Inequality in Social Media and Online Communities URL: <u>http://www.nngroup.com/articles/participation-inequality/</u> [accessed 2019-05-19]
- 24. van Mierlo T. The 1% rule in four digital health social networks: an observational study. J Med Internet Res 2014 Feb 4;16(2):e33 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2966] [Medline: 24496109]
- 25. Carron-Arthur B, Cunningham JA, Griffiths KM. Describing the distribution of engagement in an internet support group by post frequency: a comparison of the 90-9-1 principle and Zipf's law. Internet Interv 2014 Oct;1(4):165-168 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2014.09.003]
- 26. Ballantine PW, Stephenson RJ. Help me, I'm fat! Social support in online weight loss networks. J Consumer Behav 2011 Dec 23;10(6):332-337. [doi: 10.1002/cb.374]
- 27. Edelmann N. Reviewing the definitions of 'lurkers' and some implications for online research. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2013 Sep;16(9):645-649. [doi: <u>10.1089/cyber.2012.0362</u>] [Medline: <u>23848960</u>]
- Hwang KO, Ning J, Trickey AW, Sciamanna CN. Website usage and weight loss in a free commercial online weight loss program: retrospective cohort study. J Med Internet Res 2013 Jan 15;15(1):e11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2195] [Medline: 23322819]

RenderX

- 29. Schlosser AE. Posting versus lurking: communicating in a multiple audience context. J Consumer Res 2005 Sep 1;32(2):260-265. [doi: 10.1086/432235]
- 30. Balatsoukas P, Kennedy CM, Buchan I, Powell J, Ainsworth J. The role of social network technologies in online health promotion: a narrative review of theoretical and empirical factors influencing intervention effectiveness. J Med Internet Res 2015 Jun 11;17(6):e141 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3662] [Medline: 26068087]
- Kullgren JT, Harkins KA, Bellamy SL, Gonzales A, Tao Y, Zhu J, et al. A mixed-methods randomized controlled trial of financial incentives and peer networks to promote walking among older adults. Health Educ Behav 2014 Oct;41(1 Suppl):43S-50S [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1090198114540464] [Medline: 25274710]
- 32. Immonen M, Sachinopoulou A, Kaartinen J, Konttila A. Using technology for improving the social and physical activity-level of the older adults. In: Wichert R, van Laerhoven K, Gelissen J, editors. Constructing Ambient Intelligence: Aml 2011 Workshops. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer; 2012:201-205.
- 33. Pew Research Center. 2018. Social Media Fact Sheet URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/fact-sheet/social-media/</u> [accessed 2018-05-20]
- 34. Lyons EJ, Swartz MC, Lewis ZH, Martinez E, Jennings K. Feasibility and acceptability of a wearable technology physical activity intervention with telephone counseling for mid-aged and older adults: a randomized controlled pilot trial. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Mar 6;5(3):e28 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.6967] [Medline: 28264796]
- 35. Warburton DE, Bredin SS, Jamnik VK, Gledhill N. Validation of the PAR-Q+ and ePARmed-X+. Health Fitness J Can 2011;4(2):38-46 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.14288/hfjc.v4i2.151]
- 36. Lewis ZH, Ottenbacher KJ, Fisher SR, Jennings K, Brown AF, Swartz MC, et al. Testing activity monitors' effect on health: study protocol for a randomized controlled trial among older primary care patients. JMIR Res Protoc 2016 Apr 29;5(2):e59 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.5454] [Medline: 27129602]
- 37. Hsieh HF, Shannon SE. Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. Qual Health Res 2005 Nov;15(9):1277-1288. [doi: 10.1177/1049732305276687] [Medline: 16204405]
- 38. Arigo D. Promoting physical activity among women using wearable technology and online social connectivity: a feasibility study. Health Psychol Behav Med 2015 Dec 31;3(1):391-409. [doi: 10.1080/21642850.2015.1118350]
- Colón-Semenza C, Latham NK, Quintiliani LM, Ellis TD. Peer coaching through mhealth targeting physical activity in people with Parkinson disease: feasibility study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Feb 15;6(2):e42 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8074] [Medline: 29449201]
- Seeman TE, Berkman LF, Charpentier PA, Blazer DG, Albert MS, Tinetti ME. Behavioral and psychosocial predictors of physical performance: MacArthur studies of successful aging. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 1995 Jul;50(4):M177-M183. [doi: <u>10.1093/gerona/50a.4.m177</u>] [Medline: <u>7614238</u>]
- 41. Sherwood NE, Jeffery RW. The behavioral determinants of exercise: implications for physical activity interventions. Annu Rev Nutr 2000;20:21-44. [doi: 10.1146/annurev.nutr.20.1.21] [Medline: 10940325]
- 42. Lewis ZH, Lyons EJ, Jarvis JM, Baillargeon J. Using an electronic activity monitor system as an intervention modality: a systematic review. BMC Public Health 2015 Jun 24;15:585 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-1947-3] [Medline: 26104189]

Abbreviations

IQR: interquartile range PA: physical activity SDT: self-determination theory SNS: social networking site

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 16.10.18; peer-reviewed by M Ehn, J Hawkins, D López López; comments to author 01.04.19; revised version received 27.05.19; accepted 18.06.19; published 23.08.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Lewis ZH, Swartz MC, Martinez E, Lyons EJ Social Support Patterns of Middle-Aged and Older Adults Within a Physical Activity App: Secondary Mixed Method Analysis JMIR Aging 2019;2(2):e12496 URL: http://aging.jmir.org/2019/2/e12496/ doi:10.2196/12496 PMID:31518281

©Zakkoyya H Lewis, Maria C Swartz, Eloisa Martinez, Elizabeth J Lyons. Originally published in JMIR Aging (http://aging.jmir.org), 23.08.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution

License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

